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Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that Admission will
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AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than to larger
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The New Ordinary Shares will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared on the ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital after their date of
issue and will rank pari passu in all respects with all other Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission. However, the New Ordinary Shares will not be entitled to
receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 announced on 2 March 2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.
A notice convening an Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital to be held at the offices of Slaughter and May, One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY, at
10.30 a.m. on 19 April 2007 is set out at the end of this document. The enclosed Form of Proxy for use at the Extraordinary General Meeting should be completed
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out in this document. HSBC’s responsibilities in its role as Lupus Capital’s nominated adviser under the AIM Rules are owed solely to the London Stock
Exchange and are not owed to Lupus Capital or to any Director or to any other person in respect of his or its decision to acquire shares in Lupus Capital in
reliance on any part of this document. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by HSBC as to any of the contents of this document in
connection with the proposed Placing and Open Offer. HSBC is acting exclusively for Lupus Capital and for no one else in relation to the Acquisition and the
Placing and Open Offer and will not be responsible to anyone other than Lupus Capital for providing the protections afforded to clients of HSBC nor for
giving advice in relation to the Acquisition and the Placing and Open Offer or any other matter referred to in this document.
The Ordinary Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or under the securities laws of any State of the United States. The
relevant clearances have not been, and will not be, obtained from the Securities Commission of any province or territory of Canada. No document in relation
to the Transaction has been, or will be, lodged with, or registered by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission, and no registration has been, or
will be, filed with the Japanese Ministry of Finance in relation to the Transaction, the Existing Ordinary Shares or the New Ordinary Shares. Accordingly, subject
to certain exceptions, the New Ordinary Shares may not be offered, sold or transferred in the United States, Canada, Australia or Japan.
This document does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of any offer to buy the New Ordinary Shares in the United States unless an exemption
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable State securities laws is available. This document does not constitute an offer to sell or
a solicitation of any offer to buy the New Ordinary Shares in Canada, Australia or Japan or any jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible to make an
offer of the New Ordinary Shares.
It is the responsibility of any person receiving a copy of this document outside the United Kingdom to satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws
and regulatory requirements of the relevant territory in connection therewith, including obtaining any governmental or other consents which may be required
or observing any other formalities required to be observed in such territory and paying any other issue, transfer or other taxes due in such other territory.
Persons (including,without limitation, nominees and trustees) receiving this document should not, in connection with the Transaction, distribute or send it into
any jurisdiction when to do so would, or might contravene local securities laws or regulations. Any person who does forward this document into any such
jurisdictions should draw the recipient’s attention to the contents of paragraph 7 of Part 6 of this document.
This document includes “forward-looking statements” which include all statements other than statements of historical facts, including, without limitation, those
regarding Lupus Capital’s financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations and any statements preceded by,
followed by or that include forward-looking terminology such as the words “targets”, “believes”, “estimates”, “expects”, “aims”, “intends”, “can”, “may”, “anticipates”,
“would”, “should”, “could” or similar expressions or the negative thereof. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other important factors beyond Lupus Capital’s control that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Lupus Capital to be materially
different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based
on numerous assumptions regarding Lupus Capital’s present and future business strategies and the environment in which Lupus Capital will operate in the
future. Among the important factors that could cause Lupus Capital’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in forwardlooking statements are those factors in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this document. These forward-looking statements speak only as at
the date of this document. Lupus Capital expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions in relation to any forwardlooking statements contained herein to reflect any change in Lupus Capital’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or
circumstances on which any such statements are based, save as required by FSMA, the Prospectus Rules, the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the AIM
Rules. As a result of these factors, the events described in the forward-looking statements in this document may not occur.
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PART 1
SUMMARY
Any investment decision relating to the Placing and Open Offer should be based on consideration
of this document as a whole. This summary should be read as an introduction to this Prospectus
only. Where a claim relating to the information contained in this document is brought before a
court where English is not the language in which proceedings are conducted, a plaintiff investor
might, under the national legislation of the EEA States, have to bear the costs of translating this
document before legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches to those persons who are
responsible for this summary, including any translation to this summary, but only if this summary
is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this document.

1.

INTRODUCTION

It was announced on 19 March 2007 that Lupus Capital intends to acquire Laird Security Systems
for approximately £242.5 million in cash. Appoximately £230 million of the consideration will be
payable on completion of the Acquisition with a further £12.5 million deferred and payable
12 months after completion. The cash consideration payable in relation to the Acquisition will be
funded through the Placing and Open Offer and the New Debt Facility.
For the year ended 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems had sales of £237.7 million and
generated operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges,
exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £31.6 million.
The Acquisition is conditional, inter alia, on Resolutions being passed by Lupus Capital
Shareholders at the EGM, the waiting period under the US Hart-Scott-Rodino Anti-Trust
Improvements Act having expired or been earlier terminated and approval of the transaction by
the shareholders of The Laird Group PLC.
The Acquisition is categorised as a reverse take-over for Lupus Capital under the AIM Rules for
Companies and as such requires the consent of the Existing Shareholders to be sought under
Resolution 1 (as set out in the Notice of EGM) at the EGM to be held on 19 April 2007 at
10.30 a.m. at the offices of Slaughter and May, One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY.

2.

BACKGROUND TO AND REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

The Directors of Lupus Capital believe that Laird Security Systems is a profitable and highly cash
generative business with an international manufacturing capability that makes good margins and
operates in a sector that the Lupus Capital management team know well. Laird Security Systems
owns a number of brands recognised throughout the industry and the business has good market
shares in its key markets.
Laird Security Systems represents a very strong fit with Lupus Capital’s strategy of acquiring asset
based, positive cash flow companies operating in industrial manufacturing, processes or services.
The acquisition of Laird Security Systems will provide a number of operational benefits which are
expected to create sustainable value for Lupus Capital shareholders:
l

l

The acquisition gives Lupus Capital a good position in the building products sector where
long term trends towards higher standards of manufacture and build, increased emphasis on
personal security, and more stringent thermal efficiency standards are each expected to
underpin secular demand.
Laird Security Systems complements Lupus Capital’s existing Schlegel Building Products
business and offers the potential for selling Laird Security Systems’ products through
Schlegel Building Products’ extensive international distribution network.
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l

l

Laird Security Systems’s Chinese manufacturing subsidiary and developed Far East sourcing
network, allied to Schlegel Building Products’ existing arrangements, will help access
sourcing from cost efficient locations for both Laird Security Systems and Schlegel Building
Products.
Laird Security Systems has demonstrated a consistent track record of sales and cash
generation over the past three years. The business operates in the US and UK markets which
are both profitable and have long term growth characteristics.

Lupus Capital will look to use Laird Security Systems as a platform for growth and will work with
the management of Laird Security Systems to drive operational improvements through the business,
to pursue organic growth opportunities and to make add-on acquisitions where they will add value.

3.

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE ACQUISITION

The Acquisition Agreement is dated 19 March 2007, and is made between The Laird Group PLC,
Laird Overseas Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc., Jasper
Acquisition Holdings Limited (together “the Buyers”) and Lupus Capital plc. The Buyers are wholly
owned subsidiaries of Lupus Capital. The purchase price is approximately £242.5 million in cash
with approximately £230 million of the consideration payable on Completion and a further
£12.5 million deferred and payable 12 months after Completion.
The Acquisition Agreement is conditional upon the satisfaction of the following conditions:
(A)

the readmission to trading of the Enlarged Share Capital of Lupus Capital on AIM following
the cancellation of such listing pursuant to Rule 14 of the AIM Rules for Companies;

(B)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital of any resolution or
resolutions required to approve the acquisition of Laird Security Systems;

(C)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of The Laird Group PLC of any resolution
or resolutions required to approve the disposal of Laird Security Systems (this is because the
disposal of Laird Security Systems is, under the Listing Rules, a Class 1 transaction for The
Laird Group PLC);

(D)

the waiting period under the US Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act having
expired or been earlier terminated;

(E)

The Laird Group PLC having carried out certain pre-completion intra-group transactions such
that Laird Security Systems can be disposed of as agreed between the parties; and

(F)

The Laird Group PLC having given the requisite notice to novate or prepay certain loan
stock issued by Laird Inc.

The Acquisition is expected to complete shortly after the EGM, if all of the above conditions are
met.

4.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE TRANSACTION

The Acquisition will have a transforming impact on the financial position of Lupus Capital. The
Directors believe that, taking into account the impact of the Placing and Open Offer, the
Acquisition would have been earnings enhancing for the Enlarged Group had it occured at the
beginning of the 2006 financial year. This statement should not be interpreted to mean that future
earnings of the Enlarged Group will necessarily match or exceed the Group’s historical published
earnings.
Instead of receiving cash as consideration for the issue of the New Ordinary Shares, at the
conclusion of the Placing and Open Offer Lupus Capital will issue the New Ordinary Shares in
consideration for the transfer to it by HSBC of certain issued ordinary and the entire issued
redeemable preference share capital of Newco which will result in Lupus Capital owning the
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entire issued share capital of Newco whose only assets will be its cash reserves. Lupus Capital will
be able to utilise this amount by redeeming the redeemable preference shares it holds in Newco
and, during any interim period prior to redemption, by procuring that Newco lends the amount
to Lupus Capital. The structure of the Placing and Open Offer is expected to have the effect of
creating distributable reserves equal to the net proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer less the
par value of the New Ordinary Shares issued by Lupus Capital. It should be possible for Lupus
Capital to declare dividends from these reserves in the future, provided that Lupus Capital has
sufficient cash resources to fund such dividends, the distributable reserves have not otherwise
been reduced, and the Directors consider it appropriate to declare such dividends.
The proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer, less expenses, will be deposited in the name of
Lupus Capital into the Deposit Account until such time as the Acquisition does become
unconditional and shall then be applied to the Acquisition. In the event that the Acquisition does
not become unconditional before 30 September 2007, the monies in the Deposit Account shall not
be released from the Deposit Account until (i) Lupus Capital has consulted its shareholders as to
the most appropriate use of such monies and (ii) Lupus Capital has consulted HSBC.
In the event that the Acquisition fails to complete, Lupus Capital will consult with shareholders
and HSBC as to the most appropriate use of the monies raised pursuant to the Placing and Open
Offer.
Part 9 sets out the effects of the Transaction on Lupus Capital’s assets and liabilities as if the
Transaction had occurred at the time of the last balance sheet date.

5.

FINANCING THE ACQUISITION

Lupus Capital announced today that it has conditionally raised approximately £136 million by way
of the Placing subject to clawback in respect of Conditional Placing Shares acquired by Existing
Shareholders pursuant to the Open Offer. Lupus Capital will use the New Debt Facility and the
net funds of the Placing and Open Offer to finance the Acquisition. The Placing and Open Offer
have been underwritten by HSBC.

6.

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE PLACING AND OPEN OFFER

Lupus Capital is proposing to raise up to approximately £136 million in total pursuant to the
Placing and Open Offer at the Issue Price of 18 pence per New Ordinary Share.
The Placing Shares have been conditionally placed at the Issue Price with institutional and certain
other investors pursuant to the Placing. The Conditional Placing Shares have been placed subject
to clawback in respect of Open Offer Shares acquired by Existing Shareholders.
Qualifying Holders are being given the opportunity under the Open Offer to acquire up to
221,269,641 Open Offer Shares in total at the Issue Price pro rata to their holdings of Existing
Ordinary Shares on the basis of 4 Open Offer Share for every 10 Existing Ordinary Shares held as
at the Record Date and so in proportion for any other number of Existing Ordinary Shares then
held. Qualifying Holders may also acquire additional Open Offer Shares under the Excess
Application Facility.
The LESOT, which holds 10.3 per cent. of the Existing Ordinary Shares, has waived its Basic
Entitlement under the Open Offer amounting to 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares. These shares
have been placed by HSBC as part of the Firm Placing of 534,285,915 New Ordinary Shares. This
reduces the number of Open Offer Shares from 246,623,911 to 221,269,641 New Ordinary Shares.
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7.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Investors should read the whole of this document and not rely solely on the summary financial
information below.
7.1

Summary historical financial information on Lupus Capital
2006
£’000

Revenue

62,940
aaaa
9,438
aaaa
7,905
aaaa
132,226
aaaa
(62,245)
aaaa
69,981
aaaa

Operating profit/(loss)
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
7.2

2005
£’000

7,479
aaaa
3,086
aaaa
3,176
aaaa
17,814
aaaa
(1,936)
aaaa
15,878
aaaa

2004
£’000

6,607
aaaa
(5,077)
aaaa
(5,050)
aaaa
16,040
aaaa
(1,372)
aaaa
14,668
aaaa

Summary historical financial information on Laird Security Systems
2006
£m

Revenue

2005
£m

2004
£m

237.7
230.9
202.7
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa

Operating profit before amortisation of acquired
intangible assets, exceptional items, management
charges, write down of investments and dividends
received
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Total assets
Total liabilities
Surplus on invested capital

32.9
aaaa
26.6
aaaa
581.9
aaaa
378.5
aaaa
203.4
aaaa

33.2
aaaa
31.3
aaaa
525.6
aaaa
313.1
aaaa
212.5
aaaa

31.6
aaaa
38.1
aaaa
461.3
aaaa
278.3
aaaa
183.0
aaaa

Operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges
exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets was £31.6 million in 2006
(2005: £31.7 million).

8.

DIVIDENDS

The Placing Shares and the Open Offer Shares will, following allotment and issue, rank pari passu
in all respects with the Existing Ordinary Shares and will rank in full for all dividends and other
distributions declared in respect of the ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital. However, the New
Ordinary Shares will not be entitled to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2006 announced on 2 March 2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.
Lupus Capital has announced its intention to pay a special interim dividend for Existing
Shareholders of 0.15 pence per Ordinary Share to Shareholders on the register the day before the
EGM. This special interim dividend will be paid to Shareholders on 23 April 2007. Lupus Capital
expects, in the absence of unforeseen circumstances, to declare dividends (including the special
interim dividend) for the financial year ending 31 December 2007 totalling 0.54 pence. This is
equivalent to a dividend yield of 3 per cent. at the Issue Price. It is the intention of the Board to
maintain a progressive dividend policy in the future.
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9.

RISK FACTORS

Investors should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties outlined in this document. These
risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Enlarged Group. If any or a combination
of these risks actually occurs, the price of the Ordinary Shares could decline and investors may
lose all or part of their investment.
9.1

Risk Factors Specific to the Enlarged Group
l
The Enlarged Group may face significant competition both actual and potential,
including competition from global competitors which have large capital resources in
the provision of similar goods and services to those which will be provided by the
Enlarged Group.
l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

The overall growth and demand for the Enlarged Group’s products is dependent on
a number of factors including the general economic climate, market conditions and
consumer confidence.
The Enlarged Group is subject to political, economic and regulatory factors in the
various countries in which it operates (particularly in China), any of which could
impact on its operating or financial results.
Intellectual property rights may be difficult to protect and the Enlarged Group may
unknowingly infringe the intellectual property rights of others.
The loss of any major customer may impact on the Enlarged Group’s future
profitability.
The Acquisition is dependent on the waiting period applicable to the Acquisition
under the US Hart-Scott-Rodino Anti-Trust Improvements Act having expired or been
earlier terminated.
Any difficulties in integrating Laird Security Systems into the Lupus Capital Group and
realising the benefits expected from the integration could impact on the Enlarged
Group’s future profitability.
The proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer may not be applied towards the
Acquisition.
The loss of the services of the executive Directors, members of senior management
and other key employees could damage the Enlarged Group’s business.
If the Enlarged Group cannot successfully identify, acquire, integrate and develop
targets for expansion of its business, it could impact its ability to establish itself in
new markets and geographies and/or to expand its product offerings.
Acquisitions by the Enlarged Group may involve the use of significant amounts of
cash, dilutive issues of equity securities and the incurrence of debt, each of which
could materially and adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial
condition and/or the market price of ordinary shares.
Vendors of companies or businesses that Lupus Capital wishes to purchase in the
future may not be prepared to accept shares traded on AIM or may not be prepared
to accept Ordinary Shares at the quoted market price.
The Enlarged Group’s failure to meet any growth or development challenges could
have a material adverse impact on its results of operations.
The Enlarged Group is exposed to increases in the price of commodities and raw
materials and supply chain failure.
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l

l

l

l

9.2

In the event of any environmental incident, the resulting liabilities could have an
adverse impact on the Enlarged Group.
The inability of Lupus Capital’s subsidiaries to pay dividends so that Lupus Capital can
meet its cash requirements could have a material adverse effect on its business and
its ability to pay dividends.
The market price of Ordinary Shares may fluctuate significantly. In addition, any future
share offerings may adversely affect the market price of outstanding Ordinary Shares.

General Risk Factors
l
The value of Ordinary Shares and income therefrom may fluctuate significantly.
l

l

l
l

l

10.

Any change in Lupus Capital’s tax status or in taxation legislation or accounting
practice could affect Lupus Capital’s liability to provide returns to its Shareholders or
alter the post-tax returns of its Shareholders.

Any equity financing for Lupus Capital may be dilutive to Shareholders, and debt
financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and operating activities.
An investment in securities traded on AIM is perceived to have a higher risk than
those listed on the Official List.
The Enlarged Group is exposed to the risk arising from movements in foreign exchange.
The Enlarged Group will be exposed to additional risks related to operating in foreign
countries.
If the Transaction does not proceed, Lupus Capital will have incurred costs which will
need to be paid in any event. In addition, Lupus Capital may not be able to identify
and acquire alternative suitable targets for expansion of its business.

INFORMATION ON LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS

Laird Security Systems is a leader in the design, development, manufacture and distribution of
innovative products and solutions. These aim to improve performance and thermal efficiency and
enhance protection and security, for homes and buildings within the UK and US residential
building and home improvement markets. Its wide range of products includes window and door
hardware, composite doors, conservatories, uPVC products and window seals.
In recent years, the product range has been broadened and the business is being repositioned
towards the higher growth segments of its markets. Laird Security Systems sources an increasing
proportion of its hardware products from its well established supply base in China, both from its
own manufacturing facilities and from its partner suppliers.

11.

INFORMATION ON LUPUS CAPITAL

Lupus Capital is a holding company whose shares are traded on AIM. Lupus Capital has a declared
strategy:
l

l

l

to build shareholder value through the acquisition of industrial assets with the
potential for development;
to apply the executive team’s management skills and systems to improve profitability;
and
to use a variety of funding mechanics and exit strategies to enhance shareholder value.

Lupus Capital owns two operating businesses, Schlegel Building Products, an international
manufacturer of window seals and related building products and Gall Thomson, which is a supplier
of marine and industrial breakaway couplings.
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12.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

12.1 Share capital
Following the Placing and Open Offer, the issued share capital of Lupus Capital will be
£6,860,576.67 divided into 1,372,115,334 Ordinary Shares.
Following Admission the rights attaching to the New Ordinary Shares will be identical to
the rights attaching to the Existing Ordinary Shares. However, the New Ordinary Shares will
not be entitled to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006
announced on 2 March 2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.
12.2 Major Shareholders
As far as is known to Lupus Capital by virtue of the notifications made to it pursuant to
Part VI of FSMA and the FSA’s Disclosure or Transparency Rules (or section 198 of the Act,
which was repealed with effect from 20 January 2006), the only substantial Shareholders
who, directly or indirectly, are interested in three per cent. or more of the Existing Ordinary
Shares as at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable day prior to the publication of this
document) are Greg Hutchings and those Shareholders listed in paragraph 9.1 of Part 12.
The Directors are not aware (i) of any persons who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally,
exercise or could exercise control over Lupus Capital, nor (ii) of any arrangements the
operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of Lupus Capital.
12.3 Working capital statement
Lupus Capital is of the opinion that, having regard to the existing facilities available to the
Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for at
least the next 12 months following the date of this document.
Lupus Capital is of the opinion that, having regard to the existing facilities available to the
Enlarged Group, the Enlarged Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements, that is for at least the next 12 months following the date of this document.
12.4 Significant changes
There have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of the Lupus
Capital Group since 31 December 2006.
There have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of Laird Security
Systems since 31 December 2006.
12.5 Documents on display
Copies of various documents will be available for inspection free of charge at the registered
office of Lupus Capital and the offices of Slaughter and May during usual business hours on
any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) up to and including the date of
Admission.
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PART 2
RISK FACTORS
A.

RISK FACTORS SPECIFIC TO THE ENLARGED GROUP

1.

THE ENLARGED GROUP’S INDUSTRY IS HIGHLY COMPETITIVE

The Enlarged Group may face significant competition, both actual and potential, including
competition from global competitors which have large capital resources, in the provision of similar
goods and services to those which will be provided by the Enlarged Group. Competition in the
industry is based upon: range and quality of services offered, geographical reach, reputation and
client relationships. The Directors believe that, in view of its range of services, geographical spread,
strategic focus and reputation, the Enlarged Group can compete effectively with its competitors,
but there is no assurance that the Enlarged Group will be able to compete successfully in such a
market place.

2.

OVERALL GROWTH AND DEMAND FOR PRODUCTS

The overall growth and demand for products sold into the Enlarged Group’s markets is influenced
by the level of customers’ commercial activity, which in turn is affected by the general economic
climate, market conditions and consumer confidence generally. This demand can be unpredictable
and the Enlarged Group at times has a low visibility of future orders from its customers. Growth
in the demand for such products is dependent on a number of factors including the
macroeconomic environment, the rate of change in the regulatory environment and in industry
consolidation, the adoption of new technologies and customer spending patterns.
During any economic downturn, customers are liable to cancel, reduce or postpone anticipated
orders. Any downturn may also lead customers and competitors to apply pressure to prices and this
pressure can lead to lasting changes in terms of pricing policies, delivery capabilities and market
expectations. Any period of economic downturn could lead to some or all of these consequences
which in turn could have a material adverse impact on the results of operations and business of
the Enlarged Group. Any continued slowdown in the US residential construction market could
adversely affect the demand for the Enlarged Group’s products. While the Enlarged Group does have
certain businesses that are not highly correlated with new residential construction in the US, it is
not certain that the revenue and income from these businesses would mitigate any decline in the
Enlarged Group’s results due to the weakening of residential housing activity in the US.

3.

THE ENLARGED GROUP IS SUBJECT TO POLITICAL, ECONOMIC AND
REGULATORY FACTORS IN THE VARIOUS COUNTRIES IN WHICH IT
OPERATES, ANY OF WHICH COULD IMPACT ON ITS OPERATING OR
FINANCIAL RESULTS

Changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers, price or exchange controls,
composition or changes in taxation or other governmental policies in the countries in which the
Enlarged Group conducts business could limit its operations and make the repatriation of profits
difficult. In addition, the uncertainty of the legal environment in some regions could limit the
Enlarged Group’s ability to enforce its rights.
The Enlarged Group will have sourcing operations in Asia. Laird Security Systems, in particular, has
manufacturing operations in Ningbo, China as well as sourcing operations from third party
suppliers in China. The Enlarged Group expects that sales to emerging markets will be an
increasing portion of total sales as its customers target those markets.
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Having manufacturing operations in China does involve certain risks for the Enlarged Group. The
economy of China differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects,
including:
l

government involvement;

l

level of development;

l

growth rate;

l

control of foreign exchange; and

l

allocation of resources.

While China’s economy has experienced significant growth in the past 20 years, such growth has
been concentrated in certain geographic areas and economic sectors. The People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) government has implemented various measures to encourage economic growth and
to allocate resources. Some of these measures benefit China’s overall economy, but may also have
a negative effect on the Enlarged Group’s presence in China.
The PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry development by
imposing industrial policies. It also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth
through the allocation of resources, controlling payment of foreign currency-denominated
obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or
companies. Any changes in the economic and social conditions in China, in the policies of the PRC
government or in the laws and regulations of China, could affect China’s overall economic growth.
Such developments could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s operations in
China.

4.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS MAY BE DIFFICULT TO PROTECT AND
THE ENLARGED GROUP MAY UNKNOWINGLY INFRINGE THE INTELLECTUAL
PROPERTY RIGHTS OF OTHERS

While the Enlarged Group has been granted a number of patents and other patent applications
are currently pending, there can be no assurance that any of these patents will not be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented, or that any rights granted under these patents will in fact provide
competitive advantages to the Enlarged Group.
The Enlarged Group utilises a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality policies, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements in addition to relying on patent, copyright and
trademark laws to protect its intellectual property rights. However, these measures may not be
adequate to prevent or deter infringement or other misappropriation. Moreover, the Enlarged
Group may not be able to detect unauthorised use or take appropriate and timely steps to
establish and enforce its proprietary rights. Existing laws of some countries in which the
Enlarged Group conducts business may offer only limited protection of the Enlarged Group’s
intellectual property rights, if at all. Failure of the courts and, or administrative agencies in the
PRC to enforce the Enlarged Group’s intellectual property rights effectively may have a material
adverse effect on the Enlarged Group.
Third parties have asserted, and, in the future may assert, claims against the Enlarged Group
alleging that the Enlarged Group infringes their intellectual property rights. Defending such claims
may be expensive, time consuming and divert the efforts of management and/or technical
personnel. As a result of litigation, the Enlarged Group could be required to pay damages and other
compensation, develop non-infringing products or technology or enter into royalty or licensing
agreements. However, the Enlarged Group cannot be certain that any such licences, if available at
all, will be available to the Enlarged Group on commercially reasonable terms.
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5.

LOSS OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The success of the Enlarged Group will, to some extent, be dependent on the continuation of
satisfactory commercial relationships with the major customers of the Enlarged Group. There can
be no guarantee that these relationships will continue satisfactorily in the future.

6.

REGULATORY APPROVAL

The Acquisition is conditional upon all filings having been made and all the waiting periods having
expired or been earlier terminated in relation to the Acquisition pursuant to the US Hart-ScottRodino Anti-Trust Improvement Act, and there can be no assurance that such condition will be
satisfied and completion of the Acquisition will be achieved.

7.

PROCEEDS OF OFFER AND NON-COMPLETION

The proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer, less expenses, will be deposited in the name of
Lupus Capital into the Deposit Account until such time as the Acquisition does become
unconditional and shall then be applied to the Acquisition. In the event that the Acquisition does
not become unconditional before 30 September 2007, the monies in the Deposit Account shall not
be released from the Deposit Account until (i) Lupus Capital has consulted its shareholders as to
the most appropriate use of such monies and (b) Lupus Capital has consulted HSBC. Therefore,
there is a risk that the proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer would not be applied towards the
Acquisition.

8.

INTEGRATION OF LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS INTO THE LUPUS CAPITAL
GROUP

There can be no assurance that Lupus Capital will be able to integrate Laird Security Systems into
the Lupus Capital Group and realise the benefits expected from the Acquisition successfully. The
integration of Laird Security Systems will require the dedication of management resources that may
temporarily distract management’s attention from the day-to-day business of the Enlarged Group.
The difficulties of the integration of Laird Security Systems may also be increased by the
geographical separation of the Laird Security Systems businesses and employees.

9.

DEPENDENCE ON KEY EXECUTIVES AND PERSONNEL

The Enlarged Group’s future success is substantially dependent on the continued services and
performance of its executive Directors and senior management and its ability to continue to attract
and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. Although measures are in place and are under
review to reward and retain key individuals and to protect the Enlarged Group from the impact
of staff turnover, the Directors cannot give assurances that members of the senior management
team and the executive Directors will continue to remain with the Enlarged Group. The loss of
the services of the executive Directors, members of senior management and other key employees
could damage the Enlarged Group’s business.

10.

GROWTH AND EXPANSION RISKS

10.1 Availability of suitable acquisition targets
The Enlarged Group may not be able to identify and acquire suitable targets for expansion
of its business. If the Enlarged Group cannot successfully identify, acquire, integrate and
develop targets for expansion of its business, it could impact the Enlarged Group’s ability to
establish itself in new markets and geographies and/or to expand its product offerings. This
could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business and profitability. In
addition, the Enlarged Group may not be able to make acquisitions on suitable terms, which
may limit the potential for creation of shareholder value.
10.2 Risk of potential future acquisitions
In the future, as part of its growth strategy, the Enlarged Group may acquire other
companies or businesses. Acquisitions by the Enlarged Group may involve the use of
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significant amounts of cash, dilutive issues of equity securities and the incurrence of
debt, each of which could materially and adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and/or the market price of Ordinary Shares. In
addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of
the operations of any acquired business or company, the diversion of management’s
attention from other business concerns and the inheritance of liabilities. While Lupus
Capital has made no other commitments or agreements with respect to any acquisition,
if such an acquisition does occur there can be no assurance that the Enlarged Group’s
business, results of operations or financial condition would not be materially and
adversely affected thereby.
10.3 Acceptability of Ordinary Shares as consideration
Although Lupus Capital may wish to issue Ordinary Shares to satisfy all or part of any
consideration payable on future acquisitions, vendors of suitable companies or businesses
may not be prepared to accept shares traded on AIM or may not be prepared to accept
Ordinary Shares at the quoted market price.
10.4 Management of growth and development
If the Enlarged Group is to meet its strategic goals, it is likely to experience rapid growth.
To manage this growth, the Enlarged Group is likely to have to expand its management and
financial controls, which may strain its management and operational resources. The Enlarged
Group’s expansion of its management and financial controls are likely to result in the
incurring of additional costs, although the precise amount of such costs is not readily
quantifiable at present. The Enlarged Group’s failure to meet any growth or development
challenges could have a material adverse effect on its results of operations.

11.

EXPOSURE TO INCREASES IN THE PRICE OF COMMODITIES AND RAW
MATERIALS AND SUPPLY CHAIN FAILURE

The raw materials used in the Enlarged Group’s businesses include commodities that experience
price volatility (such as oil derivatives, steel, aluminum and zinc) caused by changes in supply and
demand, commodity market fluctuations and changes in governmental attitudes. Competing
manufacturers can be affected differently by these factors. If the Enlarged Group is unable to
implement measures to mitigate increased costs relating to increases in commodity and raw
material prices, or to increase the price of its products to customers, its operating profits might
be materially adversely affected.
The Enlarged Group’s ability to deliver according to market demands depends in large part on
obtaining timely and adequate supplies of components and raw materials on competitive terms.
Failure by any of the Enlarged Group’s suppliers could interrupt its product supply, and would
significantly limit the Enlarged Group’s sales and increase its costs. If the Enlarged Group fails to
anticipate customer demand properly, an over or undersupply of raw materials components and
production capacity could occur. In addition, a particular component may be available only from
a limited number of suppliers.
Suppliers may from time to time extend lead times, limit supplies or increase prices due to
capacity constraints or other factors, which could adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s ability to
deliver its products and solutions on a timely basis. Despite the Enlarged Group’s efforts to select
its suppliers and manage supplier relationships, a component supplier may fail to meet the
Enlarged Group’s supplier requirements, such as, most notably, the Enlarged Group’s and its
customers’ product quality, safety and other corresponding standards. Moreover, a supplier may
experience delays or disruption to its manufacturing, or experience financial difficulties. Any of
these events could delay the successful delivery of products and solutions, which meet the
Enlarged Group’s and its customers’ quality, safety and other corresponding requirements, or
otherwise adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s sales and results of operations. Also, the Enlarged
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Group’s reputation and brand value may be affected due to real or merely alleged failure in its
products and solutions.

12.

TAXATION RISKS

Any change in Lupus Capital’s tax status or in taxation legislation or accounting practice could
affect Lupus Capital’s ability to provide returns to its Shareholders or alter the post-tax returns to
its Shareholders.
Any change in the taxation legislation or accounting practice relating to employee benefit trusts
and employee management incentive schemes could affect the effectiveness of the Share Incentive
Arrangements.
Lupus Capital cannot guarantee that its shares will continue to trade on AIM, rather than on a
“recognised stock exchange” such as the London Stock Exchange, or that it will not in future have
other securities in issue which trade on such an exchange. In addition, a change in taxation
legislation could affect the tax regime that currently applies in respect of shares admitted to
trading on AIM.

13.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Enlarged Group will be subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations, including
those relating to the use of, disposal of, clean up of, and human exposure to, hazardous materials.
The cost of compliance with these and similar future regulations, could be substantial. The
Enlarged Group’s operating businesses use hazardous materials as part of their manufacturing
processes. The risk of accidental contamination or injury from such materials cannot be eliminated.
In the event of such an incident, the resulting liabilities could have an adverse impact on the
Enlarged Group.

14.

DIVIDENDS

Lupus Capital is a holding company and will not conduct business of its own. Dividends from
direct and indirect subsidiaries are expected to be Lupus Capital’s sole source of funds to pay
expenses and dividends, if any. The inability of Lupus Capital’s direct and indirect subsidiaries to
pay dividends in an amount sufficient to enable Lupus Capital to meet its cash requirements at
the holding company level could have a material adverse effect on its business and its ability to
pay dividends.

15.

PLACING AND OPEN OFFER

15.1 Fluctuations in Market Price
Following Admission, the market price of Ordinary Shares could be subject to significant
fluctuations due to a change in sentiment in the stock market regarding the Ordinary Shares
or securities similar to them or in response to various facts and events, including any
regulatory changes affecting the Enlarged Group’s operations, variation in the Enlarged
Group’s half yearly or yearly operating results and business developments of the Enlarged
Group or its competitors. The market price of Ordinary Shares could decline significantly at
any time as a result of any issue of further Ordinary Shares by Lupus Capital, or by any sales
of Ordinary Shares by certain Shareholders, or the expectation or belief that issues or sales
of such shares may occur. Further, the trading price of the Ordinary Shares may be subject
to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, including those referred to in this Part 2,
as well as variations in the operating results of the Enlarged Group, divergence in financial
results from analysts’ expectations, changes in earnings estimates by stock market analysts,
stock market fluctuations and general economic conditions or changes in political sentiment,
each of which may adversely affect the market price of Ordinary Shares, regardless of the
Enlarged Group’s actual performance or conditions in its key markets.
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15.2 Possible future share offerings
Lupus Capital may offer additional shares in the future, which may adversely affect the
market price of the outstanding Ordinary Shares. Lupus Capital has no current plans for a
subsequent offering of its shares or of rights or invitations to subscribe for shares. However,
it is possible that Lupus Capital may decide to offer additional shares in the future. An
additional offering of shares by Lupus Capital, significant sales of shares by major
Shareholders or the public perception that an offering may occur, could have an adverse
effect on the market price of Lupus Capital’s outstanding Ordinary Shares.

B.

GENERAL RISK FACTORS

16.

INVESTMENT RISKS

The price at which investors may realise their holding of Ordinary Shares and the timing of any
disposal of them may be influenced by various factors, some of which are specific to the Enlarged
Group and others of which are extraneous. These factors could include the performance of the
Enlarged Group’s operations, large purchases or sales of shares in the Enlarged Group, liquidity or
absence of liquidity in the Ordinary Shares, legislative or regulatory changes relating to the
businesses of the Enlarged Group and general economic conditions. The value of Ordinary Shares
and income therefrom may fluctuate significantly. There can be no assurance that an investor will
recover the amount originally invested in Lupus Capital.

17.

FUTURE FUNDRAISINGS

Whilst the Directors have no current plans for raising additional capital following Admission and
are of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is, taking into account the
existing facilities available to the Group, sufficient for its present requirements, it is possible that
Lupus Capital may need to raise extra capital in the future in order to develop the Group’s
business following the expiry of the period as set out in paragraph 15 of Part 12. Any additional
equity financing may be dilutive to Shareholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve
restrictions on financing and operating activities. If Lupus Capital is unable to obtain additional
financing as needed, it may be required to reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated
expansion.

18.

SECURITIES TRADED ON AIM

The Ordinary Shares are traded on AIM. An investment in securities traded on AIM is perceived to
involve a higher risk than those listed on the Official List. The market price of the Ordinary Shares
may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, including variations in the
operating results of Lupus Capital, divergence in financial results from analysts’ expectations,
changes in earnings estimates by stock market analysts, general economic conditions, overall
market or sector sentiment, political or regulatory conditions, legislative changes in Lupus Capital’s
sector, and other events and factors outside of Lupus Capital’s control. Stock markets have from
time to time experienced severe price and volume fluctuations, a recurrence of which could
adversely affect the market price of the Ordinary Shares. Prospective investors should be aware
that the value of the Ordinary Shares could go down as well as up, and investors may therefore
not recover their original investment especially as the market in Ordinary Shares may have limited
liquidity. The fact that the Ordinary Shares are admitted to AIM should not be taken as implying
that there will be a liquid market for the Ordinary Shares.

19.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Enlarged Group is exposed to the risk arising from movements in foreign exchange. In
particular movements between the US dollar and the pound and the euro and the pound, could
have a material adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s results. The Enlarged Group operates on
a global basis and is therefore also exposed to translational foreign exchange risk against the
pound. Given the Enlarged Group’s manufacturing operations in Ningbo, China and its sourcing
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operations from third party Chinese suppliers, a part of the Enlarged Group’s revenue and
expenses will inevitably be denominated in Renminbi. The value of the Renminbi against the US
dollar and other currencies fluctuates and is affected by, among other things, changes in China’s
political and economic conditions. Since 1994, the conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies,
including Hong Kong and US dollars, has been based on rates set by the People’s Bank of China.
The exchange rate may become volatile and the Renminbi may be devalued against the US dollar
or other currencies, or the Renminbi may be permitted to enter into a full or limited free float,
which may result in an appreciation in the value of the Renminbi against the US dollar, any of
which could have an uncertain effect on Laird Security Systems’ operations in China.

20.

OVERSEAS ACTIVITIES

The Enlarged Group will be exposed to additional risks related to operating in foreign countries.
These risks may include export controls and/or other regulatory restrictions, the impact of foreign
taxes and other applicable foreign regulation, an inability to repatriate earnings on overseas sales,
difficulty in collecting debts, economic weakness or political instability in foreign economies or
markets and difficulties in managing overseas activities.

21.

RISK IF THE ACQUISITION DOES NOT PROCEED

If the Acquisition does not proceed, Lupus Capital will have incurred costs which will need to be
paid in any event. In addition, Lupus Capital may not be able to identify and acquire alternative
suitable targets for expansion of its business.
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PART 3
EXPECTED TIMETABLE
2007
Record Date for the Open Offer

22 March

Announcement of Placing and Open Offer

26 March

Open Offer Entitlements credited to stock accounts in CREST of
Qualifying CREST Holders

27 March

Recommended latest time for requesting withdrawal of Open Offer
Entitlements from CREST

4.30 p.m. on 11 April

Latest time for depositing Open Offer Entitlements into CREST

3.00 p.m. on 13 April

Latest time and date for splitting of non-CREST Application Forms

3.00 p.m. on 16 April

Latest time and date for receipt of Forms of Proxy

10.30 a.m. on 17 April

Latest time and date for acceptance of the Open Offer and receipt
of completed non-CREST Application Forms or CREST Excess
Application Forms

11.00 a.m. on 18 April

Record date for Special Interim Dividend

18 April

EGM

10.30 a.m. on 19 April

Date of Admission and commencement of dealings on AIM
Payment of Special Interim Dividend

8.00 a.m. on 20 April
23 April

Date of despatch of definitive share certificates of New Ordinary Shares

by 27 April

Notes:
(1) References to times in this document are to London time (unless otherwise stated).
(2)

If any of the above times or dates should change, the revised times and/or dates will be notified by an announcement on
RNS. In particular, pursuant to the Placing Agreement, Lupus Capital and HSBC have agreed that if a supplementary
prospectus is issued by Lupus Capital two Business Days or fewer prior to the date specified in the expected timetable
above as the latest time and date for acceptance of the Open Offer, such date shall be extended to the date which is three
Business Days after the date of issue of the supplementary prospectus.

(3)

The timing of the events in the above timetable following the Extraordinary General Meeting and in the rest of this
document is indicative only and conditional upon the approval of the Resolutions by Shareholders at the Extraordinary
General Meeting.
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ADMISSION STATISTICS
Price per Ordinary Share as at 10 a.m. on 14 March 2007 (1)

19.75 pence

Number of Existing Ordinary Shares

616,559,778

Issue Price

18 pence

Number of New Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant to the Firm Placing

534,285,915

Maximum number of New Ordinary Shares available under the Open Offer
(of which 221,269,641 will be conditionally placed subject to clawback)

246,623,911

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue following the Placing and Open Offer
Percentage of Enlarged Share Capital represented by the New Ordinary Shares
Market capitalisation of Lupus Capital following the Placing and
Open Offer (at the Issue Price)

Note:
(1) Time and date of suspension from trading of the Ordinary Shares.
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1,372,115,334
55.1%

£246,980,760
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PART 5
LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF LUPUS CAPITAL PLC
(incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 02806007)

Directors:
Greg Hutchings
Denis Mulhall
Frederic Hoad
Michael Jackson
Roland Tate

Registered Office:
Lupus Capital plc
Crusader House
145-157 St. John Street
London
EC1V 4RU
26 March 2007

To all Lupus Capital Shareholders
Dear Shareholder,
Proposed acquisition of Laird Security Systems
Proposed Firm Placing and Open Offer of 755,555,556 New Ordinary Shares at
18 pence per New Ordinary Share
Admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM

1.

INTRODUCTION

It was announced on 19 March 2007 that Lupus Capital intends to acquire Laird Security Systems
for approximately £242.5 million in cash. Approximately £230 million of the consideration will be
payable on completion of the Acquisition with a further £12.5 million deferred and payable
12 months after completion.
The cash consideration payable in relation to the Acquisition will be funded through the Placing
and Open Offer and the New Debt Facility. A summary of the terms and conditions of the New
Debt Facility is set out in paragraph 11 of Part 12.
For the year ended 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems had sales of £237.7 million and
generated operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges,
exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £31.6 million.
The Acquisition is categorised as a reverse take-over for Lupus Capital under the AIM Rules for
Companies and as such requires the consent of the Existing Shareholders to be sought under
Resolution 1 (as set out in the Notice of EGM) at the EGM to be held on 19 April 2007 at
10.30 a.m. The Acquisition is conditional, inter alia, on Resolutions 1 to 5 being passed at the
EGM and Admission taking place.
The Placing and Open Offer is not conditional on completion of the Acquisition. Accordingly, Lupus
Capital will apply for New Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM, following shareholder
approval for Resolutions 2 to 5. To complete the Acquisition and implement the Placing and the
Open Offer, it will also be necessary to give the Directors the required powers and authorities to
allot the New Ordinary Shares.
Further to the announcement made by Lupus Capital on 14 March 2007, the Ordinary Shares were
suspended from trading with effect from 10.00 a.m. on 14 March 2007. The Directors believe that
trading in Lupus Capital’s Ordinary Shares will be restored on publication of this document, in
accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies.
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The purpose of this document is, inter alia, to provide you with the details of the Transaction and
to explain why the Board considers the Acquisition to be in the best interests of Lupus Capital
and its Shareholders and why the Board recommends that you vote in favour of the Resolutions
(notice of which is set out at the end of this document). A summary of the principal terms of the
Acquisition is set out in Part 10 of this document.

2.

BACKGROUND TO AND REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

The Directors of Lupus Capital believe that Laird Security Systems is a profitable and highly cash
generative business with an international manufacturing capability that makes good margins and
operates in a sector that the Lupus Capital management team know well. Laird Security Systems
owns a number of brands recognised throughout the industry and the business has good market
shares in its key markets.
Laird Security Systems represents a very strong fit with Lupus Capital’s strategy of acquiring asset
based, positive cash flow companies operating in industrial manufacturing, processes or services.
The acquisition of Laird Security Systems will provide a number of operational benefits which are
expected to create sustainable value for Lupus Capital shareholders:
l

l

l

l

The acquisition gives Lupus Capital a good position in the building products sector where
long term trends towards higher standards of manufacture and build, increased emphasis on
personal security, and more stringent thermal efficiency standards are each expected to
underpin secular demand.
Laird Security Systems complements Lupus Capital’s existing Schlegel Building Products
business and offers the potential for selling Laird Security Systems products through Schlegel
Building Products’ extensive international distribution network.
Laird Security Systems’s Chinese manufacturing subsidiary and developed Far East sourcing
network, allied to Schlegel Building Products’ existing arrangements, will help access
sourcing from cost efficient locations for both Laird Security Systems and Schlegel Building
Products.
Laird Security Systems has demonstrated a consistent track record of sales and cash
generation over the past three years. The business operates in the US and UK markets which
are profitable and have long term growth characteristics.

Lupus Capital will look to use Laird Security Systems as a platform for growth and will work with
the management of Laird Security Systems to drive operational improvements through the
business, to pursue organic growth opportunities and to make add-on acquisitions where they will
add value.

3.

INFORMATION ON LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS

Laird Security Systems is a leader in the design, development, manufacture and distribution of
innovative products and solutions. These aim to improve performance and thermal efficiency and
enhance protection and security, for homes and buildings within the UK and US residential
building and home improvement markets. Its wide range of products includes window and door
hardware, composite doors, conservatories, uPVC products and window seals.
In recent years, the product range has been broadened and the business is being repositioned
towards the higher growth segments of its markets. Laird Security Systems sources an increasing
proportion of its hardware products from its well established supply base in China, both from its
own manufacturing facilities and from its partner suppliers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems had sales of £237.7 million
(2005: £230.9 million) and generated operating profit after divisional management costs and before
management charges, exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets of
£31.6 million (2005: £31.7 million).
Part 7 of this document sets out further information on Laird Security Systems.

4.

INFORMATION ON LUPUS

Lupus Capital is a holding company whose shares are traded on AIM. Lupus Capital has a declared
strategy:
l

to build shareholder value through the acquisition of industrial assets with the potential for
development;

l

to apply the executive team’s management skills and systems to improve profitability; and

l

to use a variety of funding mechanics and exit strategies to enhance shareholder value.

Lupus Capital owns two operating businesses, Schlegel Building Products, an international
manufacturer of window seals and related building products and Gall Thomson, which is a supplier
of marine and industrial breakaway couplings.
In the year ended 31 December 2006 Lupus Capital recorded sales of £62.9 million (2005:
£7.5 million) and operating profit of £9.4 million (2005: £3.1 million). The 2006 results are not
directly comparable to 2005 as they include a major acquisition.
On 2 March 2007, Lupus Capital announced its results for the year ended 31 December 2006
under UK GAAP. The Lupus Capital reconciliation of UK GAAP to International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) is in Section E of Part 8.
Part 8 of this document sets out further information on Lupus Capital.

5.

PRINCIPAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ACQUISITION

The Acquisition Agreement is dated 19 March 2007, and is made between The Laird Group PLC,
Laird Overseas Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc., Jasper
Acquisition Holdings Limited (together “the Buyers”) and Lupus Capital plc. The Buyers are wholly
owned subsidiaries of Lupus Capital. The purchase consideration is approximately £242.5 million
in cash with approximately £230 million of the consideration payable on Completion and a further
£12.5 million deferred and payable 12 months after Completion.
The Acquisition Agreement is conditional upon the satisfaction of the following conditions:
(A)

the readmission to trading of the Enlarged Share Capital on AIM following the cancellation
of their listing pursuant to Rule 14 of the AIM Rules for Companies;

(B)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital of any resolution or
resolutions required to approve the acquisition of Laird Security Systems;

(C)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of The Laird Group PLC of any resolution
or resolutions required to approve the disposal of the Laird Security Systems (this is because
the disposal of Laird Security Systems is, under the Listing Rules, a Class 1 transaction for
The Laird Group PLC);

(D)

the waiting period under the US Hart-Scott-Rodino Anti-Ttrust Improvements Act having
expired or been earlier terminated;
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(E)

The Laird Group PLC having carried out certain pre-completion intra-group transactions such
that Laird Security Systems can be disposed of as agreed between the parties; and

(F)

The Laird Group PLC having given the requisite notice to novate or prepay certain loan
stock issued by Laird Inc.

The Acquisition is expected to complete shortly after the EGM, if all of the above conditions are
met.

6.

DETAILS OF THE PLACING AND OPEN OFFER

Lupus Capital is proposing to raise up to approximately £136 million in total pursuant to the
Placing and Open Offer. The Issue Price is 18 pence per New Ordinary Share.
Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, HSBC has conditionally placed the Placing Shares with
institutional and other certain investors, with the Conditional Placing Shares subject to clawback
in respect of Open Offer Shares acquired by Existing Shareholders at the Issue Price. The Placing
and Open Offer have been underwritten by HSBC. A summary of the principal terms of the Placing
Agreement is set out in paragraph 11 of Part 12 of this document.
The LESOT, which holds 10.3 per cent. of the Existing Ordinary Shares, has waived its Basic
Entitlement under the Open Offer amounting to 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares. These shares
have been placed by HSBC as part of the Firm Placing of 534,285,915 New Ordinary Shares. This
reduces the number of Open Offer Shares from 246,623,911 to 221,269,641 New Ordinary Shares.
The Placing Shares will, following allotment and issue, rank pari passu in all respects with Existing
Ordinary Shares and will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared in respect
of the ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital. However, the New Ordinary Shares will not be
entitled to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 announced on 2 March
2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.
The Open Offer provides Qualifying Holders with the opportunity to apply to acquire any number
of Open Offer Shares at the Issue Price. Qualifying Holders have a guaranteed minimum
entitlement on the following basis:
4 Open Offer Shares for every 10 Existing Ordinary Shares
registered in their names at the close of business on the Record Date and so in proportion for
any greater number of shares so registered. Entitlements to apply to acquire Open Offer Shares
will be rounded down to the nearest whole number. Fractions of New Ordinary Shares will be
disregarded in the calculation of the Qualifying Holder’s Basic Entitlement.
The Excess Application Facility enables Qualifying Holders to apply to acquire any whole number
of Open Offer Shares in excess of their Basic Entitlement which, in the case of Qualifying
Non-CREST Holders, is equal to the number of Open Offer Entitlements as shown on their
Non-CREST Application Form or, in the case of Qualifying CREST Holders, is equal to the number
of Open Offer Entitlements standing to the credit of their stock account in CREST. Qualifying
Holders with holdings of Existing Ordinary Shares in both certificated and uncertificated form will
be treated as having separate holdings for the purpose of calculating their Basic Entitlements under
the Open Offer.
Qualifying Non-CREST Holders who wish to apply to acquire more than their Basic Entitlement
should complete Box 3 on the Non-CREST Application Form. Qualifying CREST Holders who wish
to apply to acquire more than their Basic Entitlement should complete the CREST Excess
Application Form.
Excess applications may be scaled down in such manner as the Directors determine, in their
absolute discretion. It is intended that excess applications will be satisfied pro rata (or as nearly

23

as practicable) to the relevant holder’s Basic Entitlement. The aggregate number of New Ordinary
Shares available for acquisition under the Open Offer will not exceed 221,269,641 New Ordinary
Shares (being the total amount of Existing Shareholders’ Basic Entitlements of 246,623,911 New
Ordinary Shares less the Basic Entitlement of the LESOT of 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares).
Application has been made for the Open Offer Entitlements for Qualifying CREST Holders to be
admitted to CREST. It is expected that the Open Offer Entitlements will be admitted to CREST on
27 March 2007. The Open Offer Entitlements will also be enabled for settlement in CREST on
27 March 2007. Applications through the CREST system will only be made by the Qualifying
Holder originally entitled or by a person entitled by virtue of a bona fide market claim.
Shareholders should note that the Open Offer is not a rights issue. Qualifying CREST Holders
should note that, although the Open Offer Entitlements will be admitted to CREST and be enabled
for settlement, applications in respect of entitlements under the Open Offer may only be made by
the Qualifying Holder originally entitled or by a person entitled by virtue of a bona fide market
claim raised by CRESTCo’s Claims Processing Unit. Qualifying non-CREST Holders should note that
the Non-CREST Application Form is not a negotiable document and cannot be traded. Qualifying
Holders should be aware that in the Open Offer, unlike in a rights issue, any Open Offer Shares
not applied for will not be sold in the market or placed for the benefit of Qualifying Holders who
do not apply under the Open Offer.
For Qualifying non-CREST Holders, completed Non-CREST Application Forms, accompanied
by full payment, should be returned by post or by hand (during normal business hours
only) to Capita Registrars, Corporate Actions, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU so as to arrive as soon as possible and in any event no later
than 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007. For Qualifying CREST Holders, the relevant CREST
instruction must have settled by no later than 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007 and, if they
wish to apply for Excess Shares, Qualifying CREST Holders should return their completed
CREST Excess Application Form by post or hand (during normal business hours only) to
Capita Registrars, Corporate Actions, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent
BR3 4TU by 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007.
The Placing and Open Offer are conditional on the Placing Agreement becoming or being declared
unconditional in all respects and not being terminated before 30 September 2007. Details of the
Placing Agreement are set out in paragraph 11 of Part 12 of this document. The principal
conditions to the Placing Agreement are:
l

the passing of Resolutions 2 to 5; and

l

Admission having become effective by no later than 30 September 2007.

If Resolutions 2 to 5 are not passed, the Existing Ordinary Shares will remain admitted to trading
on AIM, the New Ordinary Shares will not be issued under the Placing or the Open Offer and all
monies received by the receiving agent, Capita Registrars, will be returned to the applicants (at
the applicants’ risk and without interest) as soon as possible thereafter. Any Open Offer
Entitlements admitted to CREST will thereafter be disabled.
The New Ordinary Shares will, following allotment and issue, rank pari passu in all respects with
Existing Ordinary Shares and will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared in
respect of the ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital. However, the New Ordinary Shares will not
be entitled to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 announced on
2 March 2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.

7.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE TRANSACTION ON LUPUS CAPITAL

The Acquisition will have a transforming impact on the financial position of Lupus Capital. The
Directors believe that, taking into account the impact of the Placing and Open Offer, the Acquisition
would have been earnings enhancing for the Enlarged Group had it occured at the beginning of
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the 2006 financial year. This statement should not be interpreted to mean that future earnings for
the Enlarged Group will necessarily match or exceed the Group’s historical published earnings.
In addition to funding the Acquisition, the Placing and Open Offer has been structured in a way
that is expected to have the effect of creating distributable reserves equal to the net proceeds of
the Placing and Open Offer less the par value of the New Ordinary Shares issued by Lupus
Capital. Lupus Capital and HSBC have agreed to subscribe for ordinary shares in Newco. HSBC will
then apply monies that they receive from Placees and Qualifying Shareholders applying to acquire
New Ordinary Shares under the Placing and Open Offer, after deducting commissions, to subscribe
for redeemable preference shares in Newco. Lupus Capital will allot and issue the New Ordinary
Shares to those persons entitled thereto in consideration of HSBC transferring its holding of
redeemable preference shares in Newco and its holding of ordinary shares in Newco to Lupus
Capital. Accordingly, instead of receiving cash as consideration for the issue of the New Ordinary
Shares, at the conclusion of the Placing and Open Offer, Lupus Capital will own the entire issued
share capital of Newco whose only asset will be its cash reserves, which will represent an amount
equivalent to the net proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer. Lupus Capital will be able to utilise
this amount by redeeming the redeemable preference shares it holds in Newco and, during any
interim period prior to redemption, by procuring that Newco lends the amount to Lupus Capital.
The structure of the Placing and Open Offer is expected to have the effect of creating
distributable reserves equal to the proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer less the par value of
the New Ordinary Shares issued by Lupus Capital. It should be possible for Lupus Capital to
declare dividends from the distributable reserves created in the future, provided that Lupus Capital
has sufficient cash resources to fund such dividends, the distributable reserves have not otherwise
been reduced, and the Directors consider it appropriate to declare such dividends.
The proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer, less expenses, will be deposited in the name of
Lupus Capital into the Deposit Account until such time as the Acquisition does become
unconditional and shall then be applied to the Acquisition. In the event that the Acquisition does
not become unconditional before 30 September 2007, the monies in the Deposit Account shall not
be released from the Deposit Account until (i) Lupus Capital has consulted its shareholders as to
the most appropriate use of such monies and (b) Lupus Capital has consulted HSBC.
An unaudited pro forma net assets statement showing the financial effects of the Transaction on
Lupus Capital is set out in Part 9 of this document.

8.

TRENDS IN CURRENT TRADING AND PROSPECTS

Lupus Capital
Gall Thomson’s trading in 2007 to date has been good and the business has a healthy order book.
Gall Thomson expects that there will be good prospects for the offshore oil and gas market over
the coming year. This is being driven by the continuing expansion in the use of sub-sea production
technologies, the move into deep water areas and the exploitation of marginal fields.
KLAW has continued to extend its product range and has increased its marketing efforts to
penetrate the industrial couplings market.
Schlegel Building Products has started 2007 with encouraging order levels across its various
businesses and since the year end has traded in line with the Group’s expectations.

Laird Security Systems
Since 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems has continued to trade in line with expectations.

9.

RISK FACTORS

Shareholders should consider fully the risk factors associated with the Transaction. Your attention
is drawn to the risk factors set out in Part 2 of this document.
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10.

DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND KEY PERSONNEL OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

The average numbers of people employed by Lupus Capital in the financial years ended
31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 were 32, 33 and 688 respectively.
The average number of people employed by Laird Security Systems in the financial years ended
31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 were 2,915, 2,758, and 2,601 respectively.
Following Completion, the senior management of Laird Security Systems under the existing
leadership of Rich Koopmann in the US and Nick Whitwell and Vince Conroy in the UK will
remain with Laird Security Systems.
The existing employment rights, including pension rights, of employees of both Lupus Capital and
Laird Security Systems will be fully safeguarded.
As at 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems operated three defined benefit pension schemes
with an aggregate deficit of £1.4 million on an IAS 19 basis. One of these schemes, the Amesbury
Group, Inc. Retirement Plan for Hourly Rate Employees, is being assumed by Lupus Capital from
Completion. As at 31 December 2006, this scheme had approximately 52 current members and
60 deferred and current pensioners. On an IAS 19 basis this scheme had a deficit of approximately
£0.2 million as at 31 December 2006.
The two other defined benefit pension schemes will remain with The Laird Group PLC. Existing
employees of Laird Security Systems who are current members of these schemes will become
deferred members from Completion.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out in paragraph 5 of Part 12 of this document.

11.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Placing Shares and the Open Offer Shares will, following allotment and issue, rank pari passu
in all respects with Existing Ordinary Shares and will rank in full for all dividends and other
distributions declared in respect of the ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital. However, the New
Ordinary Shares will not be entitled to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2006 announced on 2 March 2007, nor the Special Interim Dividend.
Lupus Capital has announced its intention to pay a special interim dividend for Existing
Shareholders of 0.15 pence per Ordinary Share to Shareholders on the Register the day before the
EGM. This special interim dividend will be paid to Shareholders on 23 April 2007. Lupus Capital
expects, in the absence of unforeseen circumstances, to declare dividends (including the special
interim dividend) for the financial year ending 31 December 2007 totalling 0.54 pence. This is
equivalent to a dividend yield of 3 per cent. at the Issue Price. It is the intention of the Board to
maintain a progressive dividend policy in the future.

12.

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The Notice of EGM convening the Extraordinary General Meeting at 10.30 a.m. on 19 April 2007
is set out at the end of this document. At the EGM the following Resolutions will be proposed
(with Resolutions 1, 3 and 4 being conditional upon Admission):
Resolution 1
To approve the Acquisition pursuant to and upon the terms of a sale and purchase agreement
dated 19 March 2007, entered into between the Purchasing Subsidiaries, Lupus Capital plc and The
Laird Group PLC and Laird Overseas Holdings Limited. This Resolution is conditional on
Resolutions 2, 3, 4 and 5 being passed.
Resolution 2
To increase the authorised share capital of Lupus Capital to 9,000,000, a percentage increase of
118.2 per cent.
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Resolution 3
To authorise the Directors pursuant to section 80 of the Act to allot relevant securities up to an
aggregate amount of 755,555,556 New Ordinary Shares so as to enable allotment of the Placing
Shares, the Open Offer Shares and to allot certain other securities in the future. This Resolution is
conditional on Resolutions 2, 4 and 5 being passed.
Resolution 4
To disapply the pre-emption rights of Shareholders conferred by section 89 of the Act for the
purposes of the Placing and Open Offer of 755,555,556 New Ordinary Shares, and otherwise
generally up to a maximum aggregate amount of 68,605,766 New Ordinary Shares. This Resolution
is conditional on Resolutions 2, 3 and 5 being passed.
Resolution 5
To approve the application by Lupus Capital for the cancellation of the Existing Ordinary Shares
to trading on AIM and the admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM. This
Resolution is conditional on Resolutions 2, 3 and 4 being passed.
In order to be passed, Resolutions 1, 2 and 3 require a simple majority of the Shareholders of
Lupus Capital, voting in person or, on a poll, to vote in favour of the Resolution at the EGM.
In order to be passed, Resolutions 4 and 5 as special resolutions, require a majority of not less
than 75 per cent. of the Shareholders of Lupus Capital voting in person or, on a poll, by proxy in
favour of the Resolution at the EGM.
The authorised share capital of Lupus Capital is being increased to enable allotment of the New
Ordinary Shares and to enable the allotment of further Ordinary Shares in the future.
Following completion of the Placing and Open Offer 427,884,666 Ordinary Shares will remain
authorised but unissued (representing approximately 23.8 per cent. of the authorised share capital
of Lupus Capital). The Directors have no present intention to allot the remaining Ordinary Shares
pursuant to the authority granted to them at the EGM but consider the remaining number of
unissued Ordinary Shares to provide a desirable margin to retain flexibility in the future.

13.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN

Extraordinary General Meeting
A Form of Proxy for use at the EGM accompanies this document. Whether or not
Shareholders intend to be present at the EGM they are requested to complete, sign and
return the Form of Proxy in accordance with the instructions thereon to Capita
Registrars, Proxy Processing Centre, Telford Road, Bicester, OX26 4LD or by hand to The
Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU as soon as possible, but in any
event so as to arrive by no later than 10.30 a.m. on 17 April 2007. Completion and
return of the Form of Proxy does not preclude a Shareholder from attending the EGM
and voting in person if they wish to do so.
If you are a Qualifying non-CREST Holder you will have received a Non-CREST Application Form
which gives details of your Basic Entitlement under the Open Offer (as shown by the number of
the Open Offer Entitlements allocated to you). If you wish to apply for Open Offer Shares under
the Open Offer, you should complete the enclosed Non-CREST Application Form in accordance
with the procedure for application set out in paragraph 3 Part 6 of this document and on the
Non-CREST Application Form itself.
If you are a Qualifying CREST Holder, no Non-CREST Application Form is enclosed and you will
receive a credit to your appropriate stock account in CREST in respect of the Open Offer
Entitlements representing your Basic Entitlement under the Open Offer. You should refer to the
procedure for application set out in paragraph 3 of Part 6 of this document. If you wish to apply
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for Open Offer Shares in excess of your Basic Entitlement you should also complete the CREST
Excess Application Form in accordance with the procedure for application set out in paragraph 3
of Part 6 of this document and on the CREST Excess Application Form itself.
The latest time for applications under the Open Offer to be received is 11.00 a.m. on
18 April 2007. The procedure for application and payment depends on whether, at the
time at which application and payment is made, you have a Non-CREST Application
Form in respect of your entitlement under the Open Offer or have Open Offer
Entitlements credited to your stock account in CREST in respect of such entitlement.
If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you should immediately seek your own
personal financial advice from your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other
professional adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

14.

FURTHER INFORMATION

You should read the whole of this document and not just rely on the information contained in
this letter. In particular, you should consider carefully the risk factors set out in Part 2 of this
document.

15.

INTENTIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND THE LESOT IN
RELATION TO THE OPEN OFFER

Greg Hutchings owns 26,766,666 Existing Ordinary Shares in Lupus Capital, representing
approximately 4.3 per cent. of Existing Ordinary Shares, and intends to apply to acquire his entire
Basic Entitlement amounting to 10,706,666 Open Offer Shares and costing £1,927,199.88 at the
Issue Price.
Mr. Hutchings intends to borrow the money to purchase his entire Basic Entitlement with an
expectation of repaying the loan by disposing of some Ordinary Shares at a later date.
The LESOT owns 63,385,676 Existing Ordinary Shares in Lupus Capital, representing approximately
10.3 per cent. of Existing Ordinary Shares. The LESOT has waived its entitlement to apply for its
Basic Entitlement amounting to 25,354,270 Open Offer Shares and has authorised HSBC to place
all such shares as HSBC may determine. The LESOT has reserved its rights to apply for Excess
Shares pursuant to the Excess Application Facility. The purchase of any such Shares will be funded
by borrowing.
Denis Mulhall owns 4,750,000 Existing Ordinary Shares in Lupus Capital and intends to apply to
acquire his entire Basic Entitlement amounting to 1,900,000 Open Offer Shares and costing
£342,000 at the Issue Price.
Mr Mulhall may borrow some or all of the money to purchase his entire Basic Entitlement and
may repay any such loan by disposing of some Ordinary Shares at a later date.

16.

LOCK-IN ARRANGEMENTS

Each of Greg Hutchings and Denis Mulhall have undertaken to HSBC that he will not dispose of
Existing Ordinary Shares or New Ordinary Shares except in certain circumstances noted below, for
a period of 6 months from the date of this document. The LESOT has given substantially identical,
separate, undertakings.
Disposals will be permitted under the lock-in arrangements in the following circumstances:
l

in acceptance of a general offer for the share capital of Lupus Capital made in accordance
with the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “City Code”) or in response to a request
from an offeror, the provision of an irrevocable undertaking to accept such offer or a sale
of shares to an offeror during an offer period (within the meaning of the City Code);
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l
l

pursuant to any compromise of arrangement under section 425 of the Companies Act 1985;
pursuant to any scheme of reconstruction under section 110 of the Insolvency Act 1986 in
relation to Lupus Capital;

l

with the prior written consent of HSBC;

l

as otherwise permitted by Rule 7 of the AIM Rules; or

l

l

17.

in the case of Greg Hutchings and Denis Mulhall only, disposals will be permitted to repay
the borrowings incurred to acquire their respective Basic Entitlements.
in the case of LESOT only, disposals will be permitted to repay any borrowings incurred to
acquire Excess Shares.

RECOMMENDATION

The Board, which has been so advised by HSBC, consider that the Transaction is in the
best interests of Lupus Capital’s Shareholders. In providing this advice, HSBC has taken
into account the Directors’ commercial assessment of the Transaction. Accordingly, the
Board recommends that you vote in favour of Resolutions to be proposed at the EGM
as the Directors intend to do in respect of their own beneficial shareholdings,
amounting to 33,505,145 Ordinary Shares representing approximately 5.4 per cent. of
the issued share capital of Lupus Capital. In addition, the trustees of the LESOT have
indicated that they intend to vote in favour of the Resolutions in respect of their
holding of 63,385,676 Ordinary Shares representing approximately 10.3 per cent. of the
issued share capital of Lupus Capital.
Yours sincerely

Greg Hutchings
Chairman
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PART 6
LETTER FROM HSBC BANK PLC RELATING TO THE OPEN OFFER
HSBC Bank plc
8 Canada Square
London E14 5HQ
26 March 2007
To: Qualifying Holders
Dear Shareholder,
Open Offer of up to 221,269,641 Open Offer Shares at 18 pence per Ordinary Share

1.

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, HSBC has conditionally placed firm the Firm Placing Shares on
the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Placing Agreement. In order to give
Qualifying Holders the opportunity to acquire Open Offer Shares at the Issue Price, HSBC, on
behalf of Lupus Capital, is by way of this letter, and the Application Form which accompanies this
document, making the Open Offer of up to 246,623,911 Open Offer Shares, of which 221,269,641
have also been conditionally placed subject to clawback to meet demand under the Open Offer.
The LESOT, which holds 10.3 per cent. of the Existing Ordinary Shares, has waived its Basic
Entitlement under the Open Offer amounting to 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares. These shares
have been placed by HSBC as part of the Firm Placing of 534,285,915 New Ordinary Shares. This
reduces the number of Open Offer Shares from 246,623,911 to 221,269,641 New Ordinary Shares.
A summary of the main terms of the Placing Agreement is set out in paragraph 11 of Part 12 of
this document. The Placing and Open Offer has been underwritten by HSBC.
The number of Open Offer Shares available for acquisition by Qualifying Holders under the Open
Offer has been limited to 32.6 per cent. of the New Ordinary Shares in view of the Directors’
continuing desire to attract new institutional and other investors to Lupus Capital.
In addition to funding the Acquisition, the Placing and Open Offer have been structured in a way
that is expected to have the effect of creating distributable reserves equal to the net proceeds of
the Placing and Open Offer less the par value of the New Ordinary Shares issued by Lupus
Capital. Lupus Capital and HSBC have agreed to subscribe for ordinary shares in Newco. HSBC will
then apply monies that they receive from the Placees and Qualifying Shareholders acquiring New
Ordinary Shares under the Placing and Open Offer, after deducting commissions, to subscribe for
redeemable preference shares in Newco. Lupus Capital will allot and issue the New Ordinary
Shares to those persons entitled thereto in consideration of HSBC transferring its holding of
redeemable preference shares in Newco and its holding of ordinary shares in Newco to Lupus
Capital. Accordingly, instead of receiving cash as consideration for the issue of the New Ordinary
Shares, at the conclusion of the Placing and Open Offer, Lupus Capital will own the entire issued
share capital of Newco whose only asset will be its cash reserves, which will represent an amount
equivalent to the net proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer. Lupus Capital will be able to utilise
this amount by redeeming the redeemable preference shares it holds in Newco and, during any
interim period prior to redemption, by procuring that Newco lends the amount to Lupus Capital.
The structure of the Placing and Open Offer is expected to have the effect of creating
distributable reserves equal to the proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer less the par value of
the New Ordinary Shares issued by Lupus Capital. It should be possible for Lupus Capital to
declare dividends from the distributable reserves created in the future, provided that Lupus Capital
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has sufficient cash resources to fund such dividends, the distributable reserves have not otherwise
been reduced, and the Directors consider it appropriate to declare such dividends.
The proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer, less expenses, will be deposited in the name of Lupus
Capital into the Deposit Account until such time as the Acquisition does become unconditional and
shall then be applied to the Acquisition. In the event that the Acquisition does not become
unconditional before 30 September 2007, the monies in the Deposit Account shall not be released
from the Deposit Account until (i) Lupus Capital has consulted its shareholders as to the most
appropriate use of such monies and (ii) Lupus Capital has consulted HSBC.

2.

THE OPEN OFFER

As agent for and on behalf of Lupus Capital, HSBC hereby invites Qualifying Holders, on the terms
and subject to the conditions set out in this letter and, where relevant, in the accompanying
Application Form, to apply to acquire up to 221,269,641 Open Offer Shares in aggregate at
18 pence per share (payable in full in cash on application and free of all expenses). Each
Qualifying Holder may apply to acquire any number of Open Offer Shares up to their pro rata
entitlement which shall be calculated on the following basis:
4 Open Offer Shares for every 10 Existing Ordinary Shares
registered in their name at the close of business on the Record Date and so in proportion for any
greater or lesser number of Existing Ordinary Shares then held. Entitlements will be rounded down
to the nearest whole number and any fractional entitlements to Open Offer Shares will be
disregarded in calculating Qualifying Holders’ pro rata entitlements and will be aggregated and
made available to Qualifying Holders under the Excess Application Facility. Qualifying Holders may
apply to acquire less than their Basic Entitlement should they so wish. In addition, Qualifying
Holders may also apply to acquire Excess Shares using the Excess Application Facility.
Qualifying Holders with holdings of Existing Ordinary Shares in both certificated and uncertificated
form, or with holdings under different designations, will be treated as having separate holdings for
the purpose of calculating pro rata entitlements under the Open Offer.
The action to be taken in relation to the Open Offer depends on whether, at the time at which
the application and payment is made, Qualifying Holders have a Non-CREST Application Form in
respect of their entitlement under the Open Offer or have Open Offer Entitlements credited to
their stock account in CREST in respect of such entitlement. Qualifying non-CREST Holders should
refer to paragraphs 3.1(A) to (E) of this Part 6. Qualifying CREST Holders should refer to
paragraphs 3.2(A) to (K) of this Part 6 and also to the CREST Manual for further information on
the CREST procedures referred to below.
The Placing Shares have been conditionally placed by HSBC as broker to Lupus Capital with
institutional and other investors at the Issue Price but the Conditional Placing Shares are subject
to recall to satisfy valid applications under the Open Offer.
Qualifying Holders should be aware that the Open Offer is not a rights issue. Qualifying
CREST Holders should note that although the Open Offer Entitlements will be admitted to CREST
and be enabled for settlement, applications in respect of entitlements under the Open Offer may
only be made by the Qualifying Holder originally entitled or by a person entitled by virtue of a
bona fide market claim raised by CRESTCo’s claims processing unit. Qualifying non-CREST Holders
should note that the Non-CREST Application Form is not a negotiable document and cannot be
traded. Open Offer Shares not applied for under the Open Offer will not be tradeable or sold in
the market for the benefit of Qualifying Holders who do not apply under the Open Offer. Any Open
Offer Shares which are not applied for under the Open Offer will be taken up by institutional
investors with whom they have been conditionally placed pursuant to the Placing.
The Placing and the Open Offer are subject to, inter alia, the satisfaction of the following
conditions on 30 September 2007:
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(i)

the passing of Resolutions 2 to 5;

(ii)

Admission having become effective by no later than 8.00 a.m. on 30 September 2007.

Application will be made for the New Ordinary Shares (including the Open Offer Shares) to be
admitted to trading on AIM. Admission is expected to occur on 20 April 2007, when dealings in the
New Ordinary Shares (including the Open Offer Shares) are expected to begin. Lupus Capital is
obliged to use all reasonable endeavours to procure Admission by 8.00 a.m. on 20 April 2007, or such
later time and/or date, being no later than 30 September 2007, as Lupus Capital and HSBC may agree.
Overseas Holders are referred to the section entitled “Overseas Holders” set out in paragraph 7 below.
The Existing Ordinary Shares are in registered form and are admitted to trading on AIM and are not
trading on any other exchange. The Open Offer Shares will also be in registered form, will be issued
credited as fully paid and will rank pari passu in all respects with the Existing Ordinary Shares,
including the entitlement to receive dividends. However, the Open Offer Shares will not be entitled
to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 announced on 2 March 2007, nor
the Special Interim Dividend. The Open Offer Shares will be issued only pursuant to the Placing and
Open Offer and will not otherwise be marketed or made available in whole or in part to the public.
Based on the Issue Price and after taking account of the expenses of the Placing and Open Offer,
the net proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer will amount to approximately £131.8 million.
If the Placing and the Open Offer do not become unconditional, the Existing Ordinary Shares will
remain admitted to trading on AIM, no Open Offer Shares or Placing Shares will be issued, and all
monies received by the Receiving Agent will be returned to applicants, without interest, as soon
as practicable.

3.

PROCEDURE FOR APPLICATION AND PAYMENT

The action to be taken by Qualifying Holders in relation to the Open Offer depends on whether,
at the relevant time, a Qualifying Holder has a Non-CREST Application Form in respect of their
entitlement under the Open Offer or is a Qualifying CREST Holder.
CREST sponsored members should refer to their CREST sponsor, as only their CREST sponsor will
be able to take the necessary action specified below to apply under the Open Offer in respect of
the Open Offer Entitlements of such members held in CREST. CREST members who wish to apply
under the Open Offer in respect of their Open Offer Entitlements in CREST should refer to the
CREST Manual for further information on the CREST procedures referred to below.
Subject to the provisions of paragraph 9 of this letter entitled “Settlement and dealings”, Qualifying
Holders who hold their Existing Ordinary Shares in certificated form will be allotted Open Offer
Shares in certificated form to the extent that their entitlement to the Open Offer Shares arises as
a result of holding Existing Ordinary Shares in certificated form. Qualifying Holders who hold part
of their Existing Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form will be allotted Open Offer Shares in
uncertificated form to the extent that their entitlement to the Open Offer Shares arises as a result
of holding Existing Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form.
If for any reason it becomes necessary to adjust the expected timetable as set out in this
document, Lupus Capital will make an appropriate announcement to a regulatory information
service giving details of the revised dates.
If you do not wish to apply to acquire Open Offer Shares, you should not complete and return
either Application Form. You are, however, encouraged to vote at the EGM by completing and
returning the Form of Proxy.
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3.1

If you have a Non-CREST Application Form in respect of your entitlement under
the Open Offer
(A)

General
Qualifying non-CREST Holders will have received a Non-CREST Application Form
enclosed with this document. The Non-CREST Application Form shows the number of
Existing Ordinary Shares registered in their name at the close of business on the
Record Date. It also shows the maximum number of Open Offer Shares for which
they are entitled to apply under the Open Offer, as shown by the total number of
Open Offer Entitlements allocated to them. Qualifying non-CREST Holders may apply
for less than their maximum entitlement should you wish to do so. Qualifying
non-CREST Holders may also apply for Excess Shares under the Excess Application
Facility. Qualifying non-CREST Holders may also hold such a Non-CREST Application
Form by virtue of a bona fide market claim.
The instructions and other terms set out in the Non-CREST Application Form form
part of the terms of the Open Offer.

(B)

Market claims
Applications to acquire Open Offer Shares may only be made on the Non-CREST
Application Form and may only be made by the Qualifying non-CREST Holder named
in it or by a person entitled by virtue of a bona fide market claim in relation to a
purchase of Existing Ordinary Shares through the market prior to the date upon
which the Existing Ordinary Shares were marked “ex” the entitlement to participate
in the Open Offer. Non-CREST Application Forms may be split, but only to satisfy
bona fide market claims, up to 3.00 p.m. on 16 April 2007. The Non-CREST
Application Form is not a negotiable document and cannot be separately traded. A
Qualifying non-CREST Holder who has sold or otherwise transferred all or part of his
holding of Existing Ordinary Shares prior to the date upon which the Existing
Ordinary Shares were marked “ex” the entitlement to participate in the Open Offer,
should consult his broker or other professional adviser as soon as possible, as the
invitation to acquire Open Offer Shares under the Open Offer may be a benefit which
may be claimed by the transferee from his counterparty. Qualifying non-CREST
Holders who have sold all or part of their registered holdings should, if the market
claim is to be settled outside CREST, complete Box 10 on the Non-CREST Application
Form and immediately send it to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom
the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee. The
Non-CREST Application Form should not, however, subject to certain exceptions, be
forwarded to or transmitted in or into the United States, Australia, Canada or Japan.
If the market claim is to be settled outside CREST, the beneficiary of the claim should
follow the procedures set out in the accompanying Non-CREST Application Form. If
the market claim is to be settled in CREST, the beneficiary of the claim should follow
the procedures set out in paragraph 3.2(F) below.

(C)

Excess Applications
Qualifying Holders may apply to acquire Excess Shares using the Excess Application
Facility, should they wish. Qualifying non-CREST Holders wishing to apply for Excess
Shares may do so by completing Box 3 of the Non-CREST Application Form. The total
number of Open Offer Shares will not be increased in response to such excess
applications. Excess applications will therefore only be satisfied to the extent that
other Qualifying Holders do not apply for their Basic Entitlements in full or where
fractional entitlements have been aggregated and made available under the Excess
Application Facility. Excess Shares will be allocated in response to excess applications
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in the absolute discretion of Lupus Capital. To the extent that applications from
Qualifying Holders exceed 221,269,641 Ordinary Shares (being the total amount of
Existing Shareholders’ Basic Entitlements of 246,623,911 New Ordinary Shares less the
Basic Entitlement of the LESOT of 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares), all applications
under the Excess Application Facility shall be scaled back in such manner as Lupus
Capital shall in its absolute discretion determine. It is intended that excess applications
will be satisfied pro rata (or as nearly as practicable) to the relevant Qualifying
Holder’s Basic Entitlement. Excess monies in respect of scaled down applications will
be returned to the applicant (at the applicant’s risk) without interest within 14 days
following 18 April 2007 by way of cheque or CREST payment, as appropriate.
(D)

Application procedures
Qualifying non-CREST Holders wishing to apply to acquire all or any of the Open
Offer Shares to which they are entitled should complete the Non-CREST Application
Form in accordance with the instructions printed on it. Completed Non-CREST
Application Forms should be posted in the accompanying reply paid envelope or
delivered by hand (during normal business hours only) to Capita Registrars, Corporate
Actions, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU, with a cheque
or banker’s draft drawn in sterling on a bank or building society in the UK which is
either a member of the Cheque and Credit Clearing Company Limited or the CHAPS
Clearing Company Limited or which has arranged for its cheques or banker’s drafts
to be cleared through the facilities provided for members of any of those companies.
Such cheques or banker’s drafts must bear the appropriate sort code in the top righthand corner and must be for the full amount payable on application. Applications
must be received by Capita Registrars (at the address detailed above) no later than
11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007, after which time Non-CREST Application Forms will not
be valid. Once submitted, applications are irrevocable. If a Non-CREST Application
Form is being sent by post in the UK, Qualifying Holders are recommended to allow
at least four working days for delivery. Cheques should be made payable to “Capita
IRG Plc re: Lupus Capital PLC Open Offer” and crossed “A/C Payee Only”. It is a
condition of application that cheques will be honoured on first presentation and
Lupus Capital may in its absolute discretion elect not to treat as valid any application
in respect of which a cheque is not so honoured. HSBC and Lupus Capital may, in
their sole discretion but shall not be obliged to, treat a Non-CREST Application Form
as valid and binding on the person by whom or on whose behalf it is lodged, even
if not completed in accordance with the relevant instructions or not accompanied by
a valid power of attorney where required, or if it otherwise does not strictly comply
with the terms and conditions of the Open Offer. HSBC and Lupus Capital further
reserve the right (but shall not be obliged) to accept either Application Forms
received after 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007 but not later than 8.00 a.m. on 20 April
2007 with the envelope bearing a legible postmark not later than 11.00 a.m. on
18 April 2007 or applications in respect of which remittances are received before
8.00 a.m. on 20 April 2007 from authorised persons (as defined in the FSMA)
specifying the Open Offer Shares applied for and undertaking to lodge the Non-CREST
Application Form in due course but, in any event, within two business days. Multiple
applications will not be accepted.
Cheques and banker’s drafts are liable to be presented for payment upon receipt. If
they are presented before the conditions of the Open Offer are fulfilled, the
application monies will be kept in a separate bank account until the conditions are
fully met. If the conditions of the Open Offer are not fulfilled on or before 8.00 a.m.
on 20 April 2007, or such later date as Lupus Capital and HSBC may agree (being no
later than 8.00 a.m. on 4 May 2007), the Open Offer will lapse and all application
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monies will be returned without interest by crossed cheque in favour of the first
named applicant through the post at the risk of the applicant(s) as soon as is
practicable after that date. Interest earned on monies held in the separate bank
account will be retained for the benefit of HSBC.
Cheques, which must be drawn on the personal account where you have sole or joint
title to the funds, should be made payable to Capital IRG Plc re: Lupus Capital PLC.
Third party cheques, other than building society cheques or bankers’ drafts, where the
building society or bank has confirmed that you have title to the underlying funds,
will not be accepted. Payments must be made by cheque or bankers’ draft in pounds
sterling drawn on a branch in the United Kingdom of a bank or building society
which is either a settlement member of the Cheque and Credit Clearing Company
Limited or the CHAPS Clearing Company Limited or which has arranged for its
cheques to be cleared through the facilities provided for the members of any of those
companies and must bear the appropriate sort code in the top right-hand corner.
Cheques may be cashed immediately upon receipt. Post-dated cheques will not be
accepted.
(E)

Effect of application
All documents and remittances sent by post by or to an applicant (or as the applicant
may direct) will be sent at the applicant’s own risk. By completing and delivering a
Non-CREST Application Form the applicant:
(i)

agrees that all applications and contracts resulting there from, under the Open
Offer shall be governed by and construed in accordance with, the laws of
England;

(ii)

confirms that in making the application the applicant is not relying on any
information or representation other than that contained in this document, and
the applicant accordingly agrees that no person responsible solely or jointly for
this document or any part thereof shall have any liability for any such
information or representation not so contained; and

(iii)

represents and warrants that if the applicant received some or all of their Open
Offer Entitlements from a person other than Lupus Capital, the applicant is
entitled to apply under the Open Offer in relation to such Open Offer
Entitlements by virtue of a bona fide market claim.

All enquiries in connection with the procedure for application and completion of the
Non-CREST Application Form should be addressed to Capita Registrars, Corporate
Actions at The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU (Telephone
0870 162 3121, or if calling from overseas +44 20 8639 2157). Please note Capita
Registrars cannot provide financial advice on the merits of the Open Offer or as to
whether applicants should take up their entitlement.
Qualifying Holders who do not wish to apply for the Open Offer Shares under the Open
Offer, should take no action and should not complete or return the Non-CREST
Application Form. Qualifying Holders are, however, encouraged to vote at the
Extraordinary General Meeting by completing and returning the enclosed Form of Proxy.
3.2

If you have Open Offer Entitlements credited to your stock account in CREST in
respect of your entitlement under the Open Offer
(A)
General
Subject as provided in paragraph 7 of this Part 6 in relation to certain Overseas
Holders, each Qualifying CREST Holder will receive a credit to his stock account in
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CREST of his Open Offer Entitlements equal to the maximum number of Open Offer
Shares for which he is entitled to apply to acquire under the Open Offer.
The CREST stock account to be credited will be an account under the participant ID
and member account ID that apply to the Existing Ordinary Shares held on the
Record Date by the Qualifying CREST Holder in respect of which the Open Offer
Entitlements have been allocated. If for any reason the Open Offer Entitlements
cannot be admitted to CREST by, or the stock accounts for Qualifying CREST Holders
cannot be credited by, 3.00 p.m. or such later time as Lupus Capital may decide on
27 March 2007, a Non-CREST Application Form will be sent to each Qualifying CREST
Holder in substitution for the Open Offer Entitlements credited to his stock account
in CREST. In these circumstances the expected timetable as set out in this document
will be adjusted as appropriate and the provisions of this document applicable to
Qualifying non-CREST Holders with Non-CREST Application Forms will apply to
Qualifying CREST Holders who receive Non-CREST Application Forms.
CREST members who wish to apply to acquire some or all of their entitlements to
Open Offer Shares should refer to the CREST Manual for further information on the
CREST procedures referred to below. Should you need advice with regard to these
procedures, please contact Capita Registrars on telephone number 0870 162 3121, or,
if calling from overseas, +44 20 8639 2157. If you are a CREST sponsored member
you should consult your CREST sponsor if you wish to apply for Open Offer Shares
as only your CREST sponsor will be able to take the necessary action to make this
application in CREST.
(B)

Market claims
The Open Offer Entitlements will constitute a separate security for the purposes of
CREST. Although Open Offer Entitlements will be admitted to CREST and be enabled for
settlement, applications in respect of Open Offer Entitlements may only be made by the
Qualifying Holder originally entitled or by a person entitled by virtue of a bona fide
market claim transaction. Transactions identified by the CREST Claims Processing Unit as
“cum” the Open Offer entitlement will generate an appropriate market claim transaction
and the relevant Open Offer Entitlement(s) will thereafter be transferred accordingly.

(C)

Excess Applications
Qualifying Holders may apply to acquire Excess Shares using the Excess Application
Facility, should they wish. Qualifying CREST Holders wishing to apply to acquire
Excess Shares may do so by completing the CREST Excess Application Form. The total
number of Open Offer Shares will not be increased in response to such excess
applications. Excess applications will therefore only be satisfied to the extent that
other Qualifying Holders do not apply for their Basic Entitlements in full or where
fractional entitlements have been aggregated and made available under the Excess
Application Facility. Excess Shares will be allocated in response to excess applications
in the absolute discretion of Lupus Capital. To the extent that applications from
Qualifying Holders exceed 221,269,641 Ordinary Shares (being the total amount of
Existing Shareholders’ Basic Entitlements of 246,623,911 New Ordinary Shares less the
Basic Entitlement of the LESOT of 25,354,270 New Ordinary Shares), all applications
under the Excess Application Facility will be scaled back in such manner as Lupus
Capital shall in its absolute discretion determine. It is intended that excess
applications will be satisfied pro rata (or as nearly as practicable) to the relevant
Qualifying Holder’s Basic Entitlement. Excess monies in respect of scaled down
applications will be returned to the applicant (at the applicant’s risk) without interest
within 14 days following 18 April 2007 by way of cheque or CREST payment, as
appropriate.
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Completed CREST Excess Application Forms should be posted in the accompanying
reply paid envelope or delivered by hand (during normal business hours only) to
Capita Registrars, Corporate Actions, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham,
Kent BR3 4TU, with a cheque or banker’s draft drawn in sterling on a bank or
building society in the UK which is either a member of the Cheque and Credit
Clearing Company Limited or the CHAPS Clearing Company Limited or which has
arranged for its cheques or banker’s drafts to be cleared through the facilities
provided for members of any of those companies. Such cheques or banker’s drafts
must bear the appropriate sort code in the top right-hand corner and must be for the
full amount payable on application. Applications must be received by Capita Registrars
(at the address detailed above) no later than 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007, after which
time CREST Excess Application Forms will not be valid.
All enquiries in connection with the procedure for application and completion of the
CREST Excess Application Form should be addressed to Capita Registrars, Corporate
Actions, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU (Telephone
0870 162 3121, or if calling from overseas +44 20 8639 2157). Please note Capita
Registrars cannot provide financial advice on the merits of the Open Offer or as to
whether applicants should take up their entitlement.
(D)

(E)

USE Instructions
CREST members who wish to apply for Open Offer Shares in respect of all or some
of their Open Offer Entitlements in CREST must send (or, if they are CREST
sponsored members, procure that their CREST sponsor sends) an Unmatched Stock
Event (“USE”) instruction to CRESTCo which, on its settlement, will have the
following effect:
(i)

the crediting of a stock account of Capita Registrars under the participant ID
and member account ID specified below, with a number of Open Offer
Entitlements corresponding to the number of Open Offer Shares applied for;
and

(ii)

the creation of a CREST payment, in accordance with the CREST payment
arrangements in favour of the payment bank of Capita Registrars in respect of
the amount specified in the USE instruction which must be the full amount
payable on application for the number of Open Offer Shares referred to in (i)
above.

Content of USE instruction
The USE instruction must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s
specifications and must contain, in addition to the other information that is required
for settlement in CREST, the following details:
(i)

the number of Open Offer Shares for which application is being made (and
hence the number of the Open Offer Entitlement(s) being delivered to Capita
Registrars);

(ii)

the ISIN of the Open Offer Entitlement. This is GB00B1VNT851;

(iii)

the participant ID of the accepting CREST member;

(iv)

the member account ID of the accepting CREST member from which the Open
Offer Entitlements are to be debited;

(v)

the participant ID of Capita Registrars in its capacity as a CREST receiving
agent. This is 7RA33;
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(vi)

the member account ID of Capita Registrars in its capacity as a CREST
receiving agent. This is LUPUSCAP;

(vii)

the amount payable by means of a CREST payment on settlement of the USE
instruction. This must be the full amount payable on application for the number
of Open Offer Shares referred to in (i) above;

(viii) the intended settlement date. This must be on or before 11.00 a.m. on 18 April
2007; and
(ix)

the Corporate Action Number for the Open Offer. This will be available by
viewing the relevant corporate action details in CREST,

In order for an application under the Open Offer to be valid, the USE instruction
must comply with the requirements as to authentication and contents set out above
and must settle on or before 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007.
In order to assist prompt settlement of the USE instruction, CREST members (or their
sponsors, where applicable) may consider adding the following non-mandatory fields
to the USE instruction: (i) a contact name and telephone number (in the free format
shared note field); and (ii) a priority of at least 80.
CREST members and, in the case of CREST sponsored members, their CREST
sponsors, should note that the last time at which a USE instruction may settle on
18 April 2007 in order to be valid is 11.00 a.m. on that day.
In the event that the Placing and Open Offer do not become unconditional by
8.00 a.m. on 20 April 2007 or such later time and date as Lupus Capital and HSBC
shall agree (being no later than 8.00 a.m. on 4 May 2007), the Placing and Open Offer
will lapse, the Open Offer Entitlements admitted to CREST will be disabled and Capita
Registrars will refund the amount paid by a Qualifying CREST Holder by way of a
CREST payment, without interest, within 14 days thereafter. The interest earned on
such monies will be retained for the benefit of HSBC.
(F)

Deposit of Open Offer Entitlements into, and withdrawal from, CREST
A Qualifying non-CREST Holder’s entitlement under the Open Offer as shown by the
number of Open Offer Entitlements set out in his Non-CREST Application Form may
be deposited into CREST (either into the account of the Qualifying Holder named in
the Non-CREST Application Form or into filename of a person entitled by virtue of a
bona fide market claim). Similarly, Open Offer Entitlements held in CREST may be
withdrawn from CREST so that the entitlement under the Open Offer is reflected in
a Non-CREST Application Form. Normal CREST procedures (including timings) apply
in relation to any such deposit or withdrawal, subject (in the case of a deposit into
CREST) as set out in the Non-CREST Application Form.
A holder of a Non-CREST Application Form who is proposing to deposit the
entitlement set out in such form into CREST is recommended to ensure that the
deposit procedures are implemented in sufficient time to enable the person holding
or acquiring the Open Offer Entitlements following their deposit into CREST to take
all necessary steps in connection with taking up the entitlement prior to 11.00 a.m.
on 18 April 2007.
In particular, having regard to normal processing times in CREST and on the part of
Capita Registrars, the recommended latest time for depositing a Non-CREST
Application Form with the CREST Courier and Sorting Service, where the person
entitled wishes to hold the entitlement under the Open Offer set out in such
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Non-CREST Application Form as Open Offer Entitlements in CREST, is 3.00 p.m. on
13 April 2007, and the recommended latest time for receipt by CRESTCo of a
dematerialised instruction requesting withdrawal of Open Offer Entitlements from
CREST is 4.30 p.m. on 11 April 2007, in either case so as to enable the person
acquiring or (as appropriate) holding the Open Offer Entitlements following the
deposit or withdrawal (whether as shown in a Non-CREST Application Form or held
in CREST) to take all necessary steps in connection with applying in respect of the
Open Offer Entitlements prior to 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007.
Delivery of a Non-CREST Application Form with the CREST deposit form duly
completed whether in respect of a deposit into the account of the Qualifying Holder
named in the Non-CREST Application Form or into the name of another person, shall
constitute a representation and warranty to Lupus Capital and Capita Registrars by the
relevant CREST member(s) that it/they is/are not in breach of the provisions of the
notes under the paragraph headed “Instructions for depositing entitlements under the
Open Offer into CREST” on page 3 of the Non-CREST Application Form, and a
declaration to Lupus Capital and Capita Registrars from the relevant CREST member(s)
that it/they is/are not citizen(s) or resident(s) of the United States, Australia, Canada
or Japan and, where such deposit is made by a beneficiary of a market claim, a
representation and warranty that the relevant CREST member(s) is/are entitled to
apply under the Open Offer by virtue of a bona fide market claim.
(G)

Validity of application
A USE instruction complying with the requirements as to authentication and contents
set out above which settles by no later than 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007 will
constitute a valid application under the Open Offer.

(H)

CREST procedures and timings
CREST members and (where applicable) their CREST sponsors should note that
CRESTCo does not make available special procedures, in CREST, for any particular
corporate action. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation
to the input of a USE instruction and its settlement in connection with the Open
Offer. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST
member is a CREST sponsored member, to procure that his CREST sponsor takes) such
action as shall be necessary to ensure that a valid application is made as stated above
by 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007. In this connection CREST members and (where
applicable) their CREST sponsors are referred in particular to those sections of the
CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

(I)

Incorrect or incomplete applications
If a USE instruction includes a CREST payment for an incorrect sum, Lupus Capital
through Capita Registrars reserves the right:
(i)

to reject the application in full and refund the payment to the CREST member
in question;

(ii)

in the case that an insufficient sum is paid, to treat the application as a valid
application for such lesser whole number of Open Offer Shares as would be
able to be applied for with that payment at the Issue Price, refunding any
unutilised sum to the CREST member in question; and

(iii)

in the case that an excess sum is paid, to treat the application as a valid
application for all the Open Offer Shares referred to in the USE instruction,
refunding any unutilised sum to the CREST member in question.
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(J)

(K)

Effect of valid application
A CREST member who makes or is treated as making a valid application in
accordance with the above procedures will thereby:
(i)

pay the amount payable on application in accordance with the above
procedures by means of a CREST payment in accordance with the CREST
payment arrangements (it being acknowledged that the payment to Capita
Registrars’ payment bank in accordance with the CREST payment arrangements
shall, to the extent of the payment, discharge in full the obligation of the
CREST member to pay to Lupus Capital the amount payable on application);

(ii)

request that the Open Offer Shares to which he will become entitled be issued
to him on the terms set out in this document and subject to the memorandum
and articles of association of Lupus Capital;

(iii)

agree that all applications and contracts resulting therefrom under the Open Offer
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of England;

(iv)

represent and warrant that he is not applying on behalf of any Shareholder, who
is a citizen or resident or which is a corporation, partnership or other entity
created or organised in or under any laws of the United States, Australia, Canada
or Japan and he is not applying with a view to reoffering, reselling, transferring or
delivering any of the Open Offer Shares which are the subject of this application
to, or for the benefit of, a Shareholder who is a citizen or resident or which is a
corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised in or under any laws
of the United States, Australia, Canada or Japan except where proof satisfactory to
Lupus Capital has been provided to Lupus Capital that he is able to accept the
invitation by Lupus Capital free of any requirement which it (in its absolute
discretion) regards as unduly burdensome, nor acting on behalf of any such person
on a non-discretionary basis nor (a) person(s) otherwise prevented by legal or
regulatory restrictions from applying for Open Offer Shares under the Open Offer;

(v)

represent and warrant that he is not and nor is he applying as nominee or
agent for, a person who is or may be liable to notify and account for tax under
the Stamp Duty Reserve Tax Regulations 1986 at any of the increased rates
referred to in Section 93 (depository receipts) or Section 96 (clearance
services) of the Finance Act 1986;

(vi)

confirm that in making such application he is not relying on any information
in relation to Lupus Capital other than that contained in this document and
agrees that no person responsible solely or jointly for this document or any
part thereof or involved in the preparation thereof, shall have any liability for
any such other information and further agree that having had the opportunity
to read this document, he will be deemed to have had notice of all the
information concerning Lupus Capital contained therein; and

(vii)

represent and warrant that he is the Qualifying Holder originally entitled to the
Open Offer Entitlements or that he has received such Open Offer Entitlements
by virtue of a bona fide market claim.

Company’s discretion as to the rejection and validity of applications
Lupus Capital may in its sole discretion:
(i)

treat as valid (and binding on the CREST member concerned) an application
which does not comply in all respects with the requirements as to validity set
out or referred to in this Part 6;
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(ii)

accept an alternative properly authenticated dematerialised instruction from a
CREST member or (where applicable) a CREST sponsor as constituting a valid
application in substitution for or in addition to a USE instruction and subject
to such further terms and conditions as Lupus Capital may determine;

(iii)

treat a properly authenticated dematerialised instruction (in this sub-paragraph
the “first instruction”) as not constituting a valid application if, at the time at
which Capita Registrars receives a properly authenticated dematerialised
instruction giving details of the first instruction or thereafter, either Lupus
Capital or Capita Registrars have received actual notice from CRESTCo of any
of the matters specified in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the CREST Regulations in
relation to the first instruction. These matters include notice that any
information contained in the first instruction was incorrect or notice of lack of
authority to send the first instruction; and

(iv)

accept an alternative instruction or notification from a CREST member or CREST
sponsored member or (where applicable) a CREST sponsor, or extend the time for
settlement of a USE instruction or any alternative instruction or notification, in the
event that, for reasons or due to circumstances outside the control of any CREST
member or CREST sponsored member or (where applicable) CREST sponsor, the
CREST member or CREST sponsored member is unable validly to apply for Open
Offer Shares by means of the above procedures. In normal circumstances, this
discretion is only likely to be exercised in the event of any interruption, failure or
breakdown of CREST (or any part of CREST) or on the part of the facilities and/or
systems operated by Capita Registrars in connection with CREST

4.

MONEY LAUNDERING REGULATIONS

4.1

Holders of Application Forms
If the value of the Open Offer Shares applied for by a Qualifying Holder is £10,000 or more
(or is one of a series of linked applications, the aggregate value of which exceeds that
amount), the Money Laundering Regulations 2003 will apply. Lupus Capital, HSBC or Capita
Registrars on their behalf, may in their absolute discretion require verification of identity from
persons lodging the Application Forms and making payment by way of cheque or banker’s
draft drawn on an account in the name of a person or persons other than the applicant, to
ensure compliance with all applicable money laundering regulations. For UK applicants,
verification of identity may be sought from your bankers or from another reputable
institution or professional adviser. Failure to provide the necessary evidence of identity may
result in applications being treated as invalid or in delaying acceptance of an application. If
by 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007, Lupus Capital or Capita Registrars have not received evidence
satisfactory to them, Lupus Capital may, in its absolute discretion, reject the application, in
which event application monies will be returned without interest and at the applicant’s risk
to the account of the drawee bank from which such monies were originally debited.
Cheques, which must be drawn on the personal account where you have sole or joint title to
the funds, should be made payable to “Capita IRG Plc re: Lupus Capital PLC Open Offer”. Third
party cheques, other than building society cheques or bankers’ drafts, where the building
society or bank has confirmed that you have title to the underlying funds, will not be
accepted. Payments must be made by cheque or bankers’ draft in pounds sterling drawn on a
branch in the United Kingdom of a bank or building society which is cither a settlement
member of the Cheque and Credit Clearing Company Limited or the CHAPS Clearing
Company Limited or which has arranged for its cheques to be cleared through the facilities
provided for the members of any of those companies and must bear the appropriate sort code
in the top right-hand corner. Cheques may be cashed immediately upon receipt. Post-dated
cheques will not be accepted.
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If applicants are making an application as agent for one or more persons and are not a UK
or EC regulated person or institution, then, irrespective of the value of the application,
Capita Registrars is obliged to take reasonable measures to establish the identity of the
person or persons on whose behalf the application is being made.
By lodging an Application Form, each Qualifying Holder undertakes to provide such
evidence of its identity at the time of lodging the Application Form or, at the absolute
discretion of Lupus Capital and HSBC, at such specified time thereafter as may be requested
to ensure compliance with the Money Laundering Regulations 2003.
Capita Registrars is entitled, in its absolute discretion, to determine whether verification of
identity requirements apply to any applicant and whether such requirements have been
satisfied. Neither Capita Registrars nor Lupus Capital nor HSBC shall be responsible or liable
to any person for any loss or damage suffered as a result of the exercise of their discretion
hereunder.
4.2

Open Offer Entitlements in CREST
If you hold your Open Offer Entitlements in CREST and apply for Open Offer Shares in
respect of all or some of your Open Offer Entitlements as agent for one or more persons
and you are not a UK or EU regulated person or institution (e.g. a UK financial institution),
then, irrespective of the value of the application, Capita Registrars is obliged to take
reasonable measures to establish the identity of the person or persons on whose behalf you
are making the application. You must therefore contact Capita Registrars before sending any
USE or other instruction so that appropriate measures may be taken.
Submission of a USE instruction which on its settlement constitutes a valid application as
described above constitutes a warranty and undertaking by the applicant to provide
promptly to Capita Registrars such information as may be specified by Capita Registrars as
being required for the purposes of the Money Laundering Regulations 2003. Pending the
provision of evidence satisfactory to Capita Registrars as to identity, Capita Registrars may
in its absolute discretion take, or omit to take, such action as it may determine to prevent
or delay issue of the Open Offer Shares concerned. If satisfactory evidence of identity has
not been provided within a reasonable time, then the application for the Open Offer Shares
represented by the USE instruction will not be valid. This is without prejudice to the right
of Lupus Capital to take proceedings to recover any loss suffered by it as a result of failure
to provide satisfactory evidence.
If you have any doubt as to the procedure for acceptance and payment, you should contact
Capita Registrars on telephone number 0870 162 3121. This helpline will not provide any
investment advice concerning the merits of the Open Offer or whether or not you should
make an application under the Open Offer. If you are in any doubt as to whether or not
you should apply for any Open Offer Shares you should consult your independent financial
adviser immediately.

5.

NO PUBLIC OFFERING OUTSIDE THE UNITED KINGDOM

Neither Lupus Capital nor HSBC has taken or will take any action in any jurisdiction that would
permit a public offering of New Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction where action for the purpose
is required, other than in the United Kingdom.

6.

WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS

Persons wishing to exercise statutory withdrawal rights after the issue by Lupus Capital of a
prospectus supplementing the Prospectus must do so by lodging a written notice of withdrawal
(which shall include a notice sent by facsimile but not any other form of electronic
communication) which must include the full name and address of the person wishing to exercise
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statutory withdrawal rights and, if such person is a CREST member, the participant ID and the
member account ID of such CREST member, with Capita Registrars, Corporate Actions, The
Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU or by facsimile to 020 8639 2142 so as
to be received no later than two Business Days after the date on which the supplementary
prospectus is published. Notice of withdrawal given by any other means or which is deposited
with Capita Registrars after expiry of such period will not constitute a valid withdrawal, provided
that Lupus Capital will not permit the exercise of withdrawal rights after payment by the relevant
Shareholder for the Open Offer Shares applied for in full and the allotment of New Ordinary
Shares to such Shareholder becoming unconditional. In such event, Shareholders are advised to
seek independent legal advice.
A written notice of withdrawal sent by facsimile shall only constitute a valid withdrawal if (i) the
facsimile is received by Capita Registrars by 6.00 p.m. on the date that is two Business Days after
the date on which the supplementary prospectus is published and (ii) the person wishing to lodge
such written notice of withdrawal by facsimile has telephoned Capita Registrars on 0870 162 3121
(if dialling from UK) or +44 20 8639 2107 (if dialling from overseas) immediately after sending the
facsimile to alert Capita Registrars that a written notice of withdrawal has been sent by facsimile.

7.

OVERSEAS HOLDERS

7.1

General
The making of the Open Offer to Qualifying Holders who are resident in, or citizens of, or
which are corporations, partnerships or other entities created or organised under the laws
of, countries other than the United Kingdom may be affected by the laws or regulatory
requirements of the relevant jurisdictions. Such Overseas Holders should consult their
professional advisers as to whether they require any governmental or other consents or
need to observe any other formalities to enable them to accept the Open Offer and/or apply
for Open Offer Shares.
As a result of restrictions applicable to any holder of Existing Ordinary Shares with
registered or mailing addresses in the United States, Canada, Australia or Japan, their
territories or possessions, Application Forms are not being sent to any such holders of
Existing Ordinary Shares.
No person receiving a copy of this document and/or an Application Form and/or a credit
of Open Offer Entitlements to a stock account in CREST in any territory other than the
United Kingdom, may treat the same as constituting an invitation or offer to him to
subscribe, nor should he in any event use such Application Form or credit of Open Offer
Entitlements to a stock account in CREST, unless, in the relevant territory, such an invitation
or offer could lawfully be made to him or the Application Forms or credit of Open Offer
Entitlements to a stock account in CREST could lawfully be used without contravention of
any registration or regulation or other legal requirements. No Open Offer Entitlements may
be credited to the stock account in CREST of certain Overseas Holders unless they can
prove to the satisfaction of Lupus Capital that such action would not result in contravention
of any applicable legal requirements. Receipt of this document and/or an Application Form
or the crediting of Open Offer Entitlements to a stock account in CREST will not constitute
an offer in those territories in which it would be unlawful to make such an offer and, in
such circumstances, this document and/or the Application Form will be treated as
confidential, sent for information purposes only and for the purpose of giving notice of the
EGM and should not be copied or distributed.
It is the responsibility of any Overseas Holder receiving a copy of this document and/or
either of the Application Forms and/or receiving a credit of Open Offer Entitlements to a
stock account in CREST and wishing to take up the Open Offer to satisfy himself as to the
full observance of the laws and regulatory requirements of the relevant territory in
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connection therewith, including obtaining all governmental or other consents which may be
required, observing all other requisite formalities that need to be observed in such territory,
and paying all issue, transfer or other taxes payable in such territory. If you are in any doubt
as to your position you should consult your independent professional advisers.
Persons (including, without limitation, nominees and trustees) receiving Application Forms
and/or receiving a credit of Open Offer Entitlements to a stock account in CREST should
not, in connection with the Open Offer, distribute or send the Application Form or transfer
the Open Offer Entitlements into any jurisdiction where to do so would or might
contravene local securities laws or regulations. If Application Forms and/or credit of Open
Offer Entitlements to a stock account in CREST is received by a person in any such
jurisdiction or by the agent or nominee of such a person, he must not seek to apply for
Open Offer Shares except pursuant to an express agreement with Lupus Capital. Any person
who does forward Application Forms or transfer the Open Offer Entitlements into any such
jurisdiction, whether pursuant to a contractual or legal obligation or otherwise, should draw
the attention of the recipient to the contents of this paragraph 7.
Lupus Capital and HSBC reserve the right (but shall not be obliged) to reject a purported
application for Open Offer Shares under the Open Offer in a particular case if they believe
doing so may violate applicable legal or regulatory requirements. The provisions of this
paragraph 7 and/or any other terms of the Open Offer relating to Overseas Holders may be
waived, varied or modified as regards (a) specific holders of Existing Ordinary Shares or (b)
on a general basis by Lupus Capital and HSBC in their absolute discretion (and on such
terms and conditions as they may think fit). All payments under the Open Offer must be
made in pounds sterling.
7.2

United States
For the purposes of this document a “US person” means a citizen or resident of the United
States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised in or under the laws of
the United States and an estate or trust the income of which is subject to United States federal
income taxation regardless of its source; provided, however, that the term “US person” does not
include a branch or agency of a US bank or insurance company that is operating outside the
United States for valid business reasons as a locally regulated branch or agency engaged in the
banking or insurance business and not solely for the purpose of investing in securities not
registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 as amended (“the US Securities Act”).
The Open Offer Shares and the Application Forms have not been, and will not be, registered
under the US Securities Act or under the securities laws of any jurisdiction or state of the
United States. Accordingly, except in a transaction which is exempt under the legislation, the
Open Offer Shares and the Application Forms and/or Open Offer Entitlements may not be
directly or indirectly offered, sold, renounced, transferred, taken up or delivered, directly or
indirectly, in or into the United States or to or for the benefit of US persons (as defined
under Regulation S of the US Securities Act). This document shall not constitute an offer to
sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Open Offer Shares in the United States.
Envelopes containing either Application Form should not be postmarked in the United States
or otherwise despatched from the United States. Persons will be deemed to have made an
invalid application if they submit an Application Form in an envelope postmarked in the
United States or have provided an address in the United States for registration, or do not
make the representation and warranty set out in the Application Form to the effect that
such person is not in the United States, is not a US person and is not acting for the account
or benefit of a US person. The Open Offer is not therefore being made in the United States
or to or for the account or benefit of a US person and holders of Existing Ordinary Shares
at the Record Date with registered addresses in the United States will not be Qualifying
Holders and Application Forms will not be sent to such persons.
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7.3

Canada
No exemptions in connection with the Open Offer have been or will be obtained from any
securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada. Accordingly, the Open Offer
Shares are not being offered, nor may they be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in
Canada, its territories and possessions and any areas subject to its jurisdiction (“Canada”) or
to persons resident in Canada.
No prospectus in relation to the Open Offer Shares will be filed with and no relief from
applicable securities law requirements will be obtained from the applicable regulatory
authority of any province or territory of Canada.
Holders of Existing Ordinary Shares with registered addresses in Canada will not be
Qualifying Holders and no Application Forms will be sent to such persons, nor will Open
Offer Entitlements be credited to the stock accounts of such persons.
Persons (including without limitation, nominees and trustees) receiving an Application Form
and/or Open Offer Entitlements should not distribute, send or transfer it or them to persons
resident in Canada. Lupus Capital reserves the right to reject an Application Form from
persons whom it believes are residents of Canada or persons who are acquiring Open Offer
Shares for resale into Canada.

7.4

Australia
No Application Form, advertisement or other offering material in relation to the Open Offer or
the Open Offer Shares has been or will be distributed, directly or indirectly, in or into the
Commonwealth of Australia, its states, territories or possessions (“Australia”), nor will Open Offer
Entitlements be credited to the stock accounts of such persons. No prospectus in relation to
the Open Offer Shares has been or will be lodged with or registered by the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission. The Open Offer is not being made in Australia. The Open Offer
Shares will not be available for subscription or purchase by any resident of Australia (including
corporations and other entities organised under the laws of Australia, but not including a
permanent establishment of any such corporation or entity located outside Australia).
Holders of Existing Ordinary Shares with registered addresses in Australia will not be
Qualifying Holders and no Application Forms will be sent to, nor will Open Offer
Entitlements be credited to the stock accounts of, such persons.

7.5

Japan
The relevant clearances have not been, and will not be, obtained from the Ministry of
Finance of Japan and no circular in relation to the New Ordinary Shares has been or will
be lodged with or registered by the Ministry of Finance of Japan. The New Ordinary Shares
may not therefore, subject to certain exceptions, be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in
or into Japan. Accordingly, Non-CREST Application Forms are not being sent to, and no Open
Offer Entitlements will be credited to a stock account in CREST of, any Shareholder with a
registered address in Japan.

8.

TAXATION

General information relating to UK taxation with regard to Admission and the Placing and Open
Offer is summarised in Part 11 of this document. A Shareholder who is in any doubt as to his or
her tax position, or is subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than in the UK, should consult a
professional tax adviser.

9.

SETTLEMENT AND DEALINGS

The result of the Open Offer is expected to be announced on 18 April 2007. Application has been
made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital (including the Open Offer
Shares) to be admitted to trading on AIM. Subject to the Placing and Open Offer becoming
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unconditional in all respects (save only as to Admission), it is expected that Admission will become
effective and that dealings in the Open Offer Shares will commence on 20 April 2007. The earliest
date for settlement of such dealings will be 29 April 2007. Lupus Capital Existing Ordinary Shares
are already admitted to CREST. Accordingly, no further application for admission to CREST is
required for the New Ordinary Shares, all of which, when issued and fully paid, may be held and
transferred by means of CREST.
Application has been made for the Open Offer Entitlements to be admitted to CREST. The
conditions to such admission having already been met, the Open Offer Entitlements are expected
to be admitted to CREST with effect from 26 March 2007. Open Offer Entitlements held in CREST
are expected to be disabled in all respects after 11.00 a.m. on 18 April 2007 (the latest date for
applications under the Open Offer). If the conditions to the Open Offer described above are
satisfied, Open Offer Shares will be issued in uncertificated form to those persons who submitted
a valid application for Open Offer Shares by utilising the CREST application procedures and whose
applications have been accepted by Lupus Capital on the day on which such conditions are
satisfied (expected to be 20 April 2007). Capita Registrars will instruct CRESTCo to credit the
appropriate stock accounts of such persons with such persons’ entitlements to Open Offer Shares
with effect from Admission (expected to be 20 April 2007). The stock accounts to be credited will
be accounts under the same participant IDs and member account IDs in respect of which the USE
instruction was given.
Subject to the conditions of the Open Offer being satisfied or waived, all Open Offer Shares to be
issued in uncertificated form are expected to be credited to the appropriate CREST stock account
by 20 April 2007. Notwithstanding any other provision of this document, Lupus Capital reserves
the right to send Qualifying CREST Holders a Non-CREST Application Form instead of crediting the
relevant stock account with Open Offer Entitlements, and/or to issue any Open Offer Shares in
certificated form. In normal circumstances this right is only likely to be exercised in the event of
any interruption, failure or breakdown of CREST or any part of CREST, or on the part of the
facilities and/or systems operated by Capita Registrars in connection with CREST. This right may
also be exercised if the correct details (such as participant ID and member account ID details) are
not provided as requested on the Non-CREST Application Form.
For Qualifying non-CREST Holders who have applied by using a Non-CREST Application Form,
share certificates for the Open Offer Shares validly applied for are expected to be despatched by
post by 27 April 2007. No temporary documents of title will be issued. Pending despatch of
definitive share certificates, transfers of the Open Offer Shares by Qualifying non-CREST Holders
will be certified against the register. All documents or remittances sent by or to an applicant (or
his agent as appropriate) will (in the latter case) be sent through the post and will (in both cases)
be at the risk of the applicant. Qualifying Holders whose Ordinary Shares are held in CREST
should note that they will be sent no confirmation of the credit of the Open Offer Shares to their
CREST stock account nor any other written communication by Lupus Capital in respect of the
issue of the Open Offer Shares.

10.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to Part 2, Part 5 and Parts 7 to 12 of this document containing information
relating to the Placing and Open Offer and the Enlarged Group.
Yours faithfully

Nick Donald
For and on behalf of
HSBC Bank plc
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PART 7
INFORMATION ON LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS
A.

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS

1.
HISTORY
Laird Security Systems is the security systems division of The Laird Group PLC. Laird Security
Systems was established in the mid 1980s and rapidly expanded to supply a comprehensive range
of security hardware products for the residential building and home improvement markets in the
USA and the United Kingdom.
In the US Laird Security Systems’ operations are known as the Amesbury Group. Laird acquired
Amesbury Industries, Inc., a manufacturer of window seals, in 1981 and since then has grown the
business organically and through acquisition. Amesbury now offers a wide range of fenestration
products including door and window hardware, window seals, window balance systems and
extruded products. The Amesbury Group has thirteen sites located throughout the USA. In 1993,
Amesbury Industries became known as the Amesbury Group.
In the United Kingdom, Laird Security Systems’ operations comprise a number of different
businesses operating in a variety of segments of the building products market. Laird Security
Systems’ hardware and components businesses include Laird Security Hardware, ERA Products,
Laird Lifestyle Products, Linear, EWS Manufacturing and Ventrolla. These businesses have been
grown through a mixture of organic growth and acquisitions. In recent years Laird Security
Hardware has moved away from being a manufacturer of security hardware to sourcing
substantially all of its product from the Far East. Laird Security Systems’ Lifestyle Products was
created through the acquisitions of Home Doors (GB) and Houseproud and upon integrating these
businesses, Laird Security Systems became a UK market leader in the supply of doors, windows
and affordable conservatories to the DIY retail market.
The Composite Doors division has been grown through the acquisition, and subsequent
integration, of Intron, Lindman and Securidor. These acquisitions enabled Laird Security Systems to
bring a fully integrated solution to the market and to achieve synergistic benefits through the use
of Laird Security Systems’ door hardware products.
Laird Security Systems’ product sales are balanced between the UK and US markets as well as
between new housing and replacement markets.
2.
PRODUCTS AND DIVISIONS
Laird Security Systems is a leader in the design, development, manufacture and distribution of
innovative products and solutions. These aim to improve performance and thermal efficiency, and
enhance protection and security, for homes and buildings within the UK and USA residential
building and home improvement markets. Its wide range of products include window and door
hardware, composite doors, conservatories, uPVC products and window seals.
In recent years the product range has been broadened and the business is being repositioned
towards the higher growth segments of its markets. Laird Security Systems sources an increasing
proportion of its hardware products from its well established supply base in China, both from its
own manufacturing facilities and from its partner suppliers.
Within the UK, Laird Security Systems is a leading provider of window and door hardware as well
as composite doors, primarily to the social housing market. Other products include conservatories
and steel reinforcement products.
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Laird Security Systems is a leading supplier of window balances in the US. Within the US, it also
supplies seal and uPVC profiles, and is expanding its range of door hardware products along with
its geographical presence.
Laird Security Systems has manufacturing and distribution operations in the UK and the US, along
with manufacturing facilities in China, which together with partner suppliers are used as a base to
produce components at low cost for supply to the UK and US. Sales, albeit at low levels, of Chinese
manufactured products to the Continental European and Asian markets have also commenced.
For the year ended 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems had sales of £237.7 million and
generated operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges,
exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £31.6 million.
Laird Security Systems’ products are produced by various subsidiaries based in the UK, North
America and China. These products are marketed under different brand names and supplied to
customers in the UK, Continental Europe, the US and Asia.
2.1

United States
Laird Security Systems operates in the United States as the Amesbury Group, headquartered
in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Amesbury is itself divided into various divisions according to
the type of products produced. A large proportion of the plants of the Amesbury Group are
ISO14001, ISO9001 and OHSAS18001 certified. The divisions of the Amesbury Group are:
2.1.1 Window and Door Hardware
BSI Balance Systems
BSI-Balance Systems are manufacturers of a range of block and tackle, constant force
and spiral balances for single and double hung wood, uPVC or aluminium windows
for either new or replacement applications. Engineering features incorporate tilt/take
out system and smooth mechanisms allowing superior sash operation. Additional
products include in situ multi-adjustable hinges for french doors.
BSI-Balance Systems has grown organically through the opening of new plants in
Statesville, North Carolina and Reno, Nevada. It is headquartered in Sioux Falls, South
Dakota. In addition it has grown through the acquisition of Omega Constant Force
Balance and the March 2006 acquisition of Balance UK, a spiral balance manufacturer
based in in Martock, Somerset in the United Kingdom.
Door Hardware
Door Hardware are suppliers of painted zinc, plated zinc and solid brass door pull
handles, together with single and double point lock mechanisms for sliding patio
doors. The range of grip and base plate designs combined with the variety of finishes
offers extensive customisation options for patio door manufacturers. In 2006 Door
Hardware commenced production of an adjustable multi-point lock to fit known patio
door profiles and aims to exceed industry strength requirements. Door Hardware is
based in Sioux Falls, South Dakota.
Fastek Products
Fastek Products are suppliers to the window industry of custom, plastic injectionmoulded and zinc die-cast components, as well as complete assemblies. Fastek can
provide prototypes, pre-production test quantities and full production runs using stateof-the-art powder paint and automated assembly. Fastek’s customer base includes other
Amesbury Group companies as well as external customers. Fastek Products is based
in Canton, South Dakota.
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2.1.2 Extrusions and Seals
Plastic Profiles-PPI
Plastic Profiles-PPI are designers and extruders of a wide range of customised and
standard profiles, primarily for window and door applications. In addition Plastic
Profiles-PPI is a supplier of fully assembled floating or fixed jambliners with or
without balances. A wide range of extrusion equipment is coupled to a die making
capability enabling fast response to customer enquiries. The ability to process a wide
variety of engineering and structural polymers gives PPI the ability to provide costeffective profile solutions. Plastic Profiles is based in Cannon Falls, Minnesota.
Bandlock Products
Bandlock Products are manufacturers of profile extrusions and industrial vacuum
couplers. Based in Ontario, California, this business was acquired in March 2006 and
offers additional capacity for Plastic Profiles-PPI as well as an expanded product offering.
Foam-Tite®
Foam-Tite® are producers of a range of standard and customised sealing profiles,
primarily for use in windows and doors. The products are based on a patent
protected close cell foam which does not absorb water. Added to this are a number
of different combinations of base, attachment devices and subsidiary sealing fins. This
process is ideal for the design and manufacture of application-specific products for
enhanced performance. Foam-Tite® is based in Amesbury, Massachusetts.
Textile Products
Textile Products are producers of window seals which are produced in a complete
range of sizes to suit wood, metal and aluminium fabrications. Product specifications,
construction and performance are varied to the needs of customers located in North
America. Textile Products also manufacture pile fabrications for industrial applications.
Textile Products is based in Statesville, North Carolina.
2.2

United Kingdom
2.2.1 Window and Door Components
ERA Products
ERA Products are manufacturers of ERA home security locking mechanisms for
doors and windows. The products include British Standard 5-lever door locks, which
are recommended by home insurance companies and crime prevention agencies,
night latches and multi-point door locks. ERA Products are also suppliers of a wide
range of Crompton hardware: butt hinges, builders hardware and ironmongery, as
well as being specialists in architectural door hinges. ERA Products is based in
Willenhall.
Laird Security Hardware
Laird Security Hardware is a supplier of a wide range of leading brand window and
door hardware to the UK fabricator market. Laird Security Hardware provides
complete solutions for the needs of each fabricator. Major hardware brands include
Aubi, Hoppe, G-U, Securistyle and ERA. Own branded products are designed and
manufactured in-house and combine high security with efficient installation and
aesthetic qualities. The Saracen Secure scheme offers registered fabricators an
insurance scheme for their customers when the full range of Saracen products are
incorporated into the fabricator’s doors or windows. Laird Security Hardware is based
in Tipton.
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Linear
Linear is a producer of window seals. These are produced in an extensive range of
sizes to suit wood, metal and aluminium fabrications. Products seal out dust, smoke,
pressure, water, noise and light. Customers are able to vary the product specifications,
construction and performance according to their needs. Linear is a previous Winner
of the Queen’s Award for Export Achievement. Linear is based in Newton Aycliffe,
County Durham.
Ventrolla
Ventrolla is able to restore, repair and upgrade the performance of sliding sash
windows resulting in the reduction of air leakage and noise penetration. Ventrolla’s
expertise is particularly valuable where regulations restrict the replacement of such
old, poorly performing windows. Ventrolla franchisees make use of Linear products in
effecting sash window repairs. Ventrolla is headquartered in Harrogate, Yorkshire
although its franchise network covers the majority of the United Kingdom.
EWS
EWS (Manufacturing) Limited is a manufacturer of steel reinforcement products, both
in standard sections and custom designed primarily for use in uPVC window and door
profiles. Profiles are mainly manufactured from galvanised mild steel and can be cut
to length, pre-formed, routed and can incorporate customised features where
appropriate. Aluminium spacer tube is produced in all required sizes to suit market
demand, utilising precision machinery to ensure required accuracy, with laser welded
joints for added strength. EWS is based in Wolverhampton.
2.2.2 Composite Door Division
The Composite Door Division specialises in the volume manufacturing of high
specification composite doors. The design, material choice and construction methods
ensure that the finished product has both aesthetic appeal and eliminates the high
maintenance costs of traditional entrance doors. The doors are available in a wide
range of styles, in various colour options, a choice of glazed units and a variety of
door furniture and locking systems. In addition, the Composite Door Division was one
of the first door suppliers to meet the PAS 23 and PAS 24 door standards along with
the police “Secured by Design” status.
In 2006 the Composite Door Division started to consolidate operations into two key
sites in Newent, Gloucestershire and Bromyard, Hereford and has invested in the
manufacturing process, particularly in the manufacture of Glass Reinforced Polymer
(GRP) doors. GRP doors are moulded, non-painted and through coloured, and have a
proven track record in providing substantial benefits to both landlord and tenant.
Composite Doors are sold under the brand names Homesafe-Lindman, Securidor and
Fibreplas.
2.2.3 Laird Lifestyle Products
Laird Lifestyle Products produces an extensive range of low maintenance PVCu
windows, PVCu, Composite and GRP entrance doors, patio and French doors and
conservatories. The products are marketed through leading DIY retailers, garden
centres and builder’s merchants throughout the UK. Laird Lifestyle is a market leader
in the UK conservatory market, designing and manufacturing complete conservatories,
which are guaranteed for 10 years. The design of Laird Lifestyle conservatories means
they are easy to install and provides a solution for consumers looking for affordable
living space. Laird Lifestyle Products is based in Peterlee, County Durham.
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3.

CHINA

Laird Security Systems owns a manufacturing facility located in the Chinese seaport of Ningbo, which
is approximately 200 miles from Shanghai. The Ningbo facility produces a range of window and door
hardware products, for export to the US and UK. Exported products are distributed by other Laird
Security Systems companies, who design the product for their market and determine the specification
and quality required.
Laird Security Systems employees based in Ningbo also coordinate the sourcing of third party
products.
The majority of product manufactured by the Ningbo facility is for use by Laird Security Hardware.
Other Group businesses that make use of Ningbo manufactured products include ERA Products in
the UK and the Door and Window Hardware divisions in the US.

4.

STRATEGY

Laird Security Systems obtains a competitive edge through its customer service allied to a low cost
manufacturing base, currently in the Far East and with the potential to be further developed. Laird
Security Systems’ focus on specialist markets provides opportunities for growth. Its international
reach provides advantages compared to many of its more regionally-focussed competitors. Laird
Security Systems’ product sales are balanced between the UK and US markets as well as between
new housing and replacement markets.
Laird Security Systems seeks to leverage its international experience of manufacturing product for
different markets. For example, Laird Security Systems has for many years manufactured a multi
point locking system (or MPL) for the UK market. Amesbury identified a potential gap in the US
housing market for a quality MPL product and, working in close conjunction with Laird Security
Systems UK, have developed an MPL for sale in the US.
United Kingdom
Laird Security Systems aims to be a full range supplier within the markets in which it operates.
The UK businesses comprise a number of focused businesses that aim to benefit from the
corporate culture and leverage of Laird Security Systems offering an integrated value stream with
the following characteristics:
l

l

l
l

Strong customer interface characterised by strong application engineering support and high
involvement in customer new product process.
Local manufacturing to ensure high responsiveness, characterised by industry leading service
levels and lead times
Low cost manufacturing in the Far East for standard products and components
All elements of the integrated value stream being underpinned by a comprehensive world
class manufacturing programme.

United States
In the US, Laird Security Systems aims to be the leading supplier in all of the sectors of the
fenestration market in which it chooses to operate. The business is focussed on being a low cost
supplier that can deliver innovative and high margin complete business solutions to its customer
base. Amesbury will attempt to achieve these aims through a mixture of organic growth and
strategic acquisition underpinned by appropriate capital investment.
Laird Security Systems sees particular opportunities in working with its Far Eastern partner
suppliers to supply products specified by its customer base. Laird Security Systems’ significant
experience of Far Eastern sourcing, shipping and supply chain management is regarded as a key
selling point to customers who wish to access low cost sources of supply but who may lack the
relevant experience.
Laird Security Systems is continuing to explore the potential for sourcing more product from low
cost countries other than China.
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B.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS

The financial information in this Operating and Financial Review has been extracted without
material adjustment from the historical financial information on Laird Security Systems as set out
in Section C of this Part 7. The financial information in this Operating and Financial Review has
been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Investors should read the whole of this prospectus and
should not just rely on the summary information contained in this Operating and Financial Review.
Overview
Laird Security Systems is one of two segments within The Laird Group PLC, which is a leading
global electronics and security systems group with operations in North America, Europe and across
Asia. Laird is focused on two core divisions, Laird Technologies and Laird Security Systems.
Laird Security Systems is a leader in the design, development, manufacture and distribution of
innovative products and solutions. In the US, Laird Security Systems currently has facilities in South
Dakota, North Carolina, Massachusetts, Nevada, Minnesota and California. These aim to improve
performance and thermal efficiency and enhance protection and security, for homes and buildings
within the UK and US residential building and home improvement markets. Its wide range of
products includes window and door hardware, composite doors, conservatories, uPVC products
and window seals.
In recent years Laird Security Systems has developed and grown its business through both
investment and acquisitions. In 2004 Laird Security Systems expanded its North American
operations by opening a new branch on the West Coast and by completing an expansion at one
of its US seals facilities. In addition, it acquired Advanced Metal Technologies, a supplier critical to
its US window balances business, allowing the business to benefit from vertical integration of its
supply chain.
In the UK Laird Security Systems identified composite doors as an attractive market sector and
entered this sector via the acquisitions of Intron in late 2003, and Lindman in July 2004 making
it the leading supplier to this market. In September 2004 Laird Security Systems acquired the
business and assets of Home Doors (GB) and Houseproud, which it renamed Laird Lifestyle
Products. This acquisition brought a range of door, window and conservatory products aimed
predominantly at the DIY retail and builders merchant markets.
In May 2005, Laird Security Systems consolidated its position as the largest UK provider of
composite doors to the growing social housing and Housing Association market with the
acquisition of Securidor. In September 2005, the acquisition of Builders Hardware in California
provided an expanded presence in the growing West Coast market and complemented Laird
Security Systems’ existing door hardware product range in the US.
The disposal of Permacell Finesse in the UK, an extruder of rigid uPVC window profiles and
cellular uPVC products, was completed in September 2005. Laird Security Systems had a relatively
small market share in this business segment, which was also under significant price pressure as a
result of high oil and resin prices. The business was facing increasingly difficult trading conditions,
and recorded an operating loss in 2005 of £0.2 million through to the point of sale.
The acquisition of Builders Hardware was followed by the acquisition of Bandlock Corporation in
March 2006. Bandlock Corporation is a California based seals and extrusion business, which
provides Laird Security Systems not only with the benefits of a broader product offering close to
customers on the US West Coast, but also complements its existing US seals and extrusions
businesses. Balance UK, acquired on 1 March 2006, supplies a range of heavy duty window
balances.
During 2006 Laird Security Systems integrated two of its UK composite door businesses, Intron
and Lindman, onto Intron’s site with resultant savings in overheads and improved productivity. The
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combined business will benefit from a full year effect of these improvements in 2007. The nonrecurring costs of this closure and integration were matched by the profit on sale of the closed
facility.
In addition to its operations in UK and US, Laird Security Systems has a manufacturing facility in
Ningbo, China. The China facility produces a range of window and door hardware products for
export to the US and UK. Exported products are distributed by other Laird Security Systems
companies, who design the product for their market and determine the specification and quality
required.
Customers
In 2006, approximately 54 per cent. of revenues were from the UK window and door market and
46 per cent. were from the US window and patio door market. This compares to 2005, when 57
per cent. of revenues were from the UK and 43 per cent. were from the US. Major customers
within the UK include B&Q, Staybrite, Wickes and Zenith and, within the US include Andersen
Corporation, Marvin Doors and Windows and Pella Corporation.
Competition
Laird Security Systems is a leader in the UK window and door hardware market, facing
competition from Heywood Williams, Assa Abloy and MASCO. Within the US, the window and door
market is particularly fragmented, with a number of smaller localised manufacturers. FKI and
Newell Rubbermaid are the two competitors of any significant size within this market.
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Selected Financial Information
Income Statement

Continuing operations
Revenue
Operating profit before amortisation of acquired
intangible assets, exceptional items, management charges,
write down of investments and dividends received
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets
Exceptional items
Management charges

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

237.7
555

230.9
555

202.7
555

32.9
(1.0)
–
(11.2)
555

33.2
(0.2)
(8.4)
(9.0)
555

31.6
–
–
(7.6)
555

Operating profit
20.7
Finance and other items:
Finance revenue
28.0
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain in loan from combined subsidiaries (15.1)
Financial instruments – fair value adjustment
12.6
Finance costs
(19.6)
Pension scheme disposal gain
–
Write down of investments in non combined subsidiaries
–
Dividend received from non combined subsidiary
–
555
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Taxation
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations
Profit for the year

26.6
(10.7)
555
15.9
(0.9)
555

15.6

24.0

24.6
14.6
(8.3)
(13.7)
4.8
(6.3)
555–

6.8
555

31.3
(10.9)
555

38.1
(11.8)
555

20.4
(5.5)
555

11.2
–
–
(3.9)
–

26.3
0.2
555

15.0

14.9

26.5

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

Balance sheet

Total assets
Total liabilities

581.9
(378.5)
555

525.6
(313.1)
555

461.3
(278.3)
555

Surplus on invested capital

203.4
aaa

212.5
aaa

183.0
aaa

Operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges, exceptional
items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets was £31.6 million in 2006 (2005:
£31.7 million).
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Financial performance
2006
In the first half of the year the UK market for replacement windows and conservatories was
similar to the levels experienced during 2005. However, in the second half of the year this market
sector showed signs of growth.
The UK social housing market continued to grow although there was a distinct switch in customer
preference from PVC faced to GRP faced composite doors.
In the US the housing market in 2006 started strongly with good demand across all product lines.
During the second quarter of the year the level of new house construction started to fall and for
the second half of the year the number of residential housing units which started construction
was 22 per cent. lower than the same period in 2005.
New construction in the US is estimated to provide just under half of the demand for residential
windows and patio doors. It is believed that the housing renovation sector in the US has not
experienced the recent level of decline seen in the new construction sector.
Sales revenue for the year was £237.7 millon, an increase of 2.9 per cent. over 2005. Organic
revenue growth was slightly negative for Laird Security Systems as a whole, with a year-on-year
organic decline of 4 per cent. in the UK and 3 per cent. in the USA.
Operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges, exceptional
items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets in 2006 was £31.6 million compared to
£31.7 million in 2005. Commodity prices continued to trend upwards during the year and wherever
possible Laird Security Systems passed these through in an increase in selling prices. The net impact
of commodity price and selling price increases was broadly neutral over the year as a whole.
2005
Laird Security Systems’ markets were mixed in 2005. In the UK the overall housing market slowed,
as did the renovation market, while the markets for replacement windows and conservatories were
particularly hard hit. In contrast, the UK social housing market, where Laird Security Systems is a
major supplier of composite doors, remained buoyant.
In the US, the market overall continued to be favourable across all of Laird Security Systems’
product lines. In particular the renovation market remained relatively buoyant, as geographically did
the Southern US and West Coast markets overall.
Laird Security Systems delivered a solid performance in 2005, with continuing revenue up 14 per
cent. to £230.9 million in the year, compared with £202.7 million in 2004. Organic revenue growth
was flat overall for Laird Security Systems as a whole, with a decline of 10 per cent. in the UK
being offset by positive organic growth of 15 per cent. in the US.
UK revenue from continuing businesses in 2005 was £130.6 million. Of this, 29 per cent.
represented window hardware, 27 per cent. doors, 22 per cent. door hardware, and 12 per cent.
windows and conservatories.
US revenue in 2005 was £100.2 million. Of this, 60 per cent. represented window hardware, 18 per
cent. seals, 12 per cent. door hardware and 10 per cent. uPVC extrusions.
Operating profit after divisional management costs and before management charges, exceptional
items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets in 2005 was £31.7 million compared to
£30.8 million in 2004.
Commodity prices remained volatile overall. Through carefully managing the relationship between
input and output pricing, Laird Security Systems was able to contain the adverse effect of higher
commodity prices in the year to some £1.0 million.
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New Business and Developments
In the US work commenced on a larger, replacement facility for window hardware on the East
Coast. This area has been the source of much of the window hardware growth over previous years
and this expansion will enable that growth to continue. The project was completed on schedule
and the business relocated during early 2007.
The integration of the recent acquisitions with Laird Security Systems’ existing businesses
continued through 2006 with one joint purchasing initiative delivering an immediate cost
reduction. Further synergy benefits from product range rationalisation and technology transfer are
anticipated to be realised from 2007 onwards.
Laird Security Systems commenced work on several new and innovative product development and
manufacturing processes both in the UK and in the US. In the UK the development has centred
on the composite door business and will result in a product with improved aesthetics and
distinctive selling features but at lower manufacturing cost. In the US a new range of window
hardware is being developed in conjunction with an existing customer. This range of products will
enable Laird Security Systems to compete in a sector of the market in which it currently has
negligible presence. These projects are forecast to start delivering benefits during 2007.
Current trading conditions
In the first two months of 2007 UK and US order intakes and revenues have been in line with
expectations.
Capital resources
Funding
In addition to shareholders equity, Laird Security Systems is able to generate cash flow surpluses
from its operating activities, as shown below.

Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Interest received
Acquisition of businesses (net of cash acquired)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Inflow from sale of businesses
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Repayment of borrowings
Increase/(decrease) in amounts owed to Laird PLC
and subsidaries
Dividends paid to shareholders

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

13.8
555

14.5
555

18.2
555

28.0
(14.5)
(5.7)
(4.2)
2.9
555

24.6
(9.5)
(5.5)
7.4
555–

11.2
(11.3)
(7.0)
20.6
0.3
555

6.5

17.0

13.8

(19.6)
(3.3)

(13.7)
(3.1)

(4.0)
(18.2)

5.9
(0.2)

(13.3)
–

(6.4)
(5.0)

555
Net cash flows from financing activities

(17.2)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates

(0.2)
555

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for
the year
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2.9

555
(30.1)

555–
1.4

555
(33.6)
0.1
555
(1.5)

Trading cash flow and borrowings
In the year ended 31 December 2006, Laird Security Systems generated a trading cash flow surplus
(before dividends, spend on acquisitions and exceptional items) of £13.8 million.
Dividends amounting to £0.2 million, spend on acquisitions of £14.5 million and exceptional cash
costs of £0.5 million were all funded during the period from the trading cash flow. This is analysed
further in the historic financial information on Laird Security Systems, included in Section C of this
Part 7 of this prospectus.
At the end of December 2006, Laird Security Systems had total borrowings of £323.1 million. These
borrowings were arranged and funded via Laird Security Systems’ parent company, The Laird Group
PLC, with the exception of US$50 million of private placement notes which were issued by Laird
Inc, which is part of the Laird Security Systems division.
Loan facilities
The majority of Laird Security Systems’ funding requirements are met by its parent company, The
Laird Group PLC. The Laird Group PLC managed this through inter-company arrangements.
The Laird Security Systems’ US holding company, Laird Inc, has in issue £25.6 million (US$ 50 million)
of private placement notes, which are repayable between 2008 and 2014.
In addition there are uncommitted facilities such as overdrafts and money market lines.
Laird Security Systems treasury policy
Laird Security Systems is dependant on its parent company, The Laird Group PLC for treasury
services. The Laird Group PLC has a centralised treasury function whose primary role is to manage
funding, liquidity and financial risks for the entire Laird Group.
Currency
Laird Security Systems’ revenues and profits are affected by currency movements on translating
overseas revenue and profits into sterling for reporting purposes. Transactional exchange gains and
losses, arising from the sale or purchase of goods and services not denominated in the Laird
Security Systems entities’ local currencies, largely impact upon the UK business which imports
components, sub-assemblies and finished products from Asia.
Loan covenants
All loan covenants calculations are based on the consolidated results of the The Laird Group PLC,
which include Laird Security Systems and other businesses which are not the subject of this
transaction.
Restrictions on the transfer of funds
Laird Security Systems’ Chinese entity is not permitted to make loans to other entities outside
China, but distributions are permitted from reserves other than current year reserves from audited
accounts.
Pensions
Laird Security Systems has three defined benefit schemes, which have a deficit of £1.4 million,
measured on an IAS19 basis at 31 December 2006.
Capitalisation and indebtedness for Laird Security Systems
The financial information in the following tables has been extracted without material adjustment
from the historical financial information on Laird Security Systems set out in Section C of this Part 7.
The following table shows the capitalisation and indebtedness of Laird Security Systems as at
31 December 2006:
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As at
31 December 2006
£m

Total current debt
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed/unsecured
Finance lease obligations

–
–
(0.6)
(0.2)

5555
(0.8)
5555
Total non-current debt
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed/unsecured
Finance lease obligations

(25.6)
–
–
(0.1)

5555
(25.7)
5555
Net indebtedness
Cash and cash equivalents
Trading securities

7.5
–

5555
7.5
5555
Current financial liability
Current bank debt
Current portion of bonds issued
Other current financial debt

(0.6)
–
(0.2)

5555
(0.8)
5555

Current financial debt
Net current financial indebtedness
Non-current bank loans
Bonds issued
Other non-current loans

–
(25.6)
(0.1)

5555
(25.7)
5555
5555
(19.0)
5555

Non-current financial indebtedness
Net financial indebtedness
Laird Security Systems currently has no indirect or contingent indebtedness.
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C.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS

Combined income statement
for the years ended 31 December
Note

Continuing operations
Revenue

3

Operating profit before amortisation of acquired
intangible assets, exceptional items, management
charges, write down of investments and
dividends received
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets
Exceptional items
Management charges

6
7

Operating profit
5
Finance and other items:
Finance revenue
9
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain in loan from
non combined subsidiaries
Financial instruments – fair value adjustment
Finance costs
9
Pension scheme disposal gain
33
Write down of investments in non combined subsidiaries 14
Dividend received from non combined subsidiary
3

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

237.7
555

230.9
555

202.7
555

32.9
(1.0)
–
(11.2)

10

Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations

11

31.6
–
–
(7.6)

555

555

555

20.7

15.6

24.0

28.0

24.6

11.2

(15.1)
12.6
(19.6)
–
–
–

14.6
(8.3)
(13.7)
4.8
(6.3)
–

–
–
(3.9)
–
–
6.8

555
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Taxation

33.2
(0.2)
(8.4)
(9.0)

26.6
(10.7)

555
31.3
(10.9)

555
38.1
(11.8)

555

555

555

15.9

20.4

26.3

(0.9)

(5.5)

0.2

555
15.0
aaa

555
14.9
aaa

555
26.5
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

15.0

14.9

26.5

33

(0.1)

(4.5)

(2.3)

27

(23.5)
(0.3)

16.6
–

(8.3)
–

Profit for the year
Statement of recognised income and expense
for the years ended 31 December
Note

Profit for the year
Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations
Exchange differences on retranslation of overseas
net investments
Financial instruments – fair value adjustments
Total income and expense recognised directly
in the surplus on invested capital
Total income and expense recognised during
the year
Restatement for the effects of IAS 32 and 39
Total income and expense recognised for the year
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555

555

555

(23.9)
555

12.1
555

(10.6)
555

(8.9)
–

27.0
2.5

15.9
–

555
(8.9)
aaa

555
29.5
aaa

555
15.9
aaa

Combined balance sheet
for the years ended 31 December
Note

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

13
14
15
24

27.4
1.3
57.0
2.7

30.5
1.3
48.5
3.7

34.1
1.6
39.6
–

22

411.5
0.7

369.8
0.5

307.1
0.6

555
500.6
555

555
454.3
555

555
383.0
555

38.4
33.1
2.3
7.5

35.3
30.8
–
5.2

38.4
35.2
–
4.7

555
81.3
555

555
71.3
555

555
78.3
555

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Amounts owed by The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Income tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

17
18
19

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

20
21

(0.8)
(29.8)

(4.4)
(33.7)

(4.6)
(35.9)

22

(138.4)
(9.2)
(0.7)

(77.1)
(6.9)
(1.0)

(49.5)
(2.4)
(0.7)

555
(178.9)
555
(97.6)
555

555
(123.1)
555
(51.8)
555

555
(93.1)
555
(14.8)
555

20

(25.7)
(0.3)

(29.4)
–

(29.4)
–

22
24
33
26
25

(158.2)
(7.9)
(1.4)
(0.2)
(5.9)

(146.4)
(7.5)
(1.4)
(0.1)
(5.2)

(146.0)
(2.4)
(6.1)
(0.2)
(1.1)

555
(199.6)
555
203.4
aaa

555
(190.0)
555
212.5
aaa

555
(185.2)
555
183.0
aaa

25

Net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Other non-current liabilities
Provisions

Surplus on invested capital

29
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the years ended 31 December
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Tax paid

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

19.9
(6.1)

17.6
(3.1)

27.6
(9.4)

30

555
13.8
555

Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Interest received
Acquisition of businesses (net of cash acquired)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Inflow from sale of businesses
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment

28.0
(14.5)
(5.7)
(4.2)
2.9

555
6.5
555

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Repayment of borrowings
Increase/(decrease) in amounts owed to Laird PLC
and subsidiaries
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash flows from financing activities
Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents for the year

555
14.5
555
24.6
(9.5)
(5.5)
7.4
–

555
17.0
555

555
18.2
555
11.2
(11.3)
(7.0)
20.6
0.3

555
13.8
555

(19.6)
(3.3)

(13.7)
(3.1)

(4.0)
(18.2)

5.9
(0.2)

(13.3)
–

(6.4)
(5.0)

555
(17.2)
555
(0.2)
555

555
(30.1)
555
555–

555
(33.6)
555
0.1
555

2.9

1.4

(1.5)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

30

4.6
555

3.2
555

4.7
555

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

30

7.5
aaa

4.6
aaa

3.2
aaa
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Laird Security Systems forms one of two divisions within The Laird Group PLC, the other
being Laird Technologies. The principal businesses within Laird Security Systems, all of which
are 100 per cent. owned, are:
Legal entities

Note

Trading companies
Laird Security Hardware Limited
Laird Security Systems (Ningbo) Limited
ERA Products Limited
EWS (Manufacturing) Limited
Linear Limited
Ventrolla Limited
Intron Limited
Laird Lifestyle Products Limited
Securidor Limited
Balance UK Limited
Amesbury Door Hardware, Inc. (California)
Amesbury Door Hardware, Inc. (Delaware)
Amesbury Group, Inc.
Amesbury Group - Plastic Profiles, Inc.
Bandlock Corporation
Fastek Products, Inc.
Builders Hardware, Inc.
Holding companies
Laird Security Systems UK Limited
Laird Inc
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

1
5
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
3
4

Year of
acquisition

2004
2005
2006

2006
2005

Nature of business

Window and door hardware
Window and door hardware
Window and door hardware
Window components
Building seals
Weather seal installation
Composite doors
Conservatories and doors
Composite doors
Window components
Window components
Window components
Building seals
Window components
Custom extrusions
Window and door hardware
Window and door hardware
Holding company
Holding company

Legal entities incorporated in the UK, with an immediate parent of Laird Security Systems UK Limited as at
31 December 2006.
Legal entities incorporated in the USA, with an immediate parent of Laird Inc. as at 31 December 2006.
Incorporated in the UK
Incorporated in the USA. Laird Inc is also the holding company of various companies that are not part of
Laird Security Systems. These companies will be retained by The Laird Group PLC after the proposed disposal
of Laird Security Systems
Incorporated in China

The Laird Security Systems companies have not previously constituted a legal group and hence
consolidated historical financial information does not exist. Accordingly, the financial information,
which has been prepared specifically for the purpose of the prospectus, is prepared on a basis
that combines the results and assets and liabilities of the above companies as extracted from
applicable individual financial returns prepared for consolidation purposes within The Laird
Group PLC. Adjustments have been made to eliminate all significant transactions and balances
between companies within Laird Security Systems and to reflect items previously recorded at a
Laird Group level.
The combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the PD regulation including the implementing regulation as regards issuers with complex
financial histories, the Listing Rules, the AIM rules and in accordance with this basis of
preparation. The basis of preparation describes how the financial information has been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), except as described below.
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IFRSs as adopted by the EU do not provide for the preparation of combined financial
information and accordingly in preparing the combined financial information certain
accounting conventions commonly used for the preparation of historical financial
information for inclusion in investment circulars as described in the Annexure to SIR 2000
(Investment Reporting Standard applicable to public reporting engagements on historical
financial information) issued by the UK Auditing Practices Board have been applied. The
application of these conventions results in the following depatures from IFRSs as adopted
by the EU. In all other respects IFRSs as adopted by the EU have been applied.
l

l

l

l

The combined financial information does not comply with IAS 27 – Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements – because, as explained above, the Laird Security
Systems companies have not previously constituted a legal group and do not have a
common parent company. Consequently, Laird Security Systems is not permitted by
IAS 27 to present consolidated financial information. The financial information has
therefore been prepared on a combined basis by applying the principles underlying
the consolidation procedures of IAS 27.
The combined financial information does not comply with IAS 27 – Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements – because, as detailed in note 14, certain subsidiaries of
Laird Inc as at 31 December 2006 will be retained by Laird PLC after the proposed
disposal of Laird Security Systems. The results and balance sheets of these subsidiaries
have not been included in the combined financial information. Inter-company balances
and transactions between these subsidiaries and the Laird Security Systems companies
are separately identified in the combined financial information.
As the historical financial information has been prepared on a combined basis Laird
Security Systems is unable to measure earnings per share. Accordingly, the requirement
of IAS 33 – Earnings per Share – to disclose earnings per share has not been
complied with.
The combined financial information does not constitute a set of general purpose
financial statements under paragraph 3 of IAS 1 and, consequently, Laird Security
Systems does not make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS
as contemplated by paragraph 14 of IAS 1. A company is only permitted to apply the
first-time adoption rules of IFRS 1 – First-time adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards – in its first set of financial statements where such an unreserved
statement of compliance has been made. Although such a statement has not been
made here the combined financial information has been prepared as if the date of
transition to IFRS is 1 January 2004, the beginning of the first period presented, and
the requirements of IFRS 1 have been applied as of that date.

The accounting policies used in preparing the combined financial information for the years
ended 31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 are set out below. These accounting policies have
been consistently applied to all the periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The combined financial information for the Laird Security Systems companies (“the Group”)
has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain classes of property, plant and
equipment for which their re-valued cost as at 1 January 2004 has been taken as deemed
cost as part of the First-Time Adoption of IFRS at that date. In addition, derivatives and
financial instruments have been measured at fair value as at 1 January 2005.
The combined financial information is presented in pounds sterling (£) and all monetary
amounts are rounded to the nearest tenth of £1 million except when otherwise indicated.
The Group’s deemed transition date to IFRS is 1 January 2004. The rules for first-time adoption
of IFRS are set out in IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.
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IFRS 1 allows certain exemptions in the application of particular Standards to prior periods
in order to assist companies with the transition process. The Group has applied the
following exemptions: i) The revalued amounts for property, plant and equipment under
previous GAAP have been deemed as cost ii) The Group has deemed cumulative translation
differences for foreign operations to be zero at the date of transition; any gains and losses
on subsequent disposals of foreign operations will therefore not include translation
differences arising prior to the transition date, and iii) IFRS 3 is applied as from 1 January
2004 and not retrospectively to past business combinations.
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in IFRS 1 and has not restated its results
for the year ended 31 December 2004 for the effects of IAS 32 and 39.
Basis of combination
The combined financial information sets out the Group’s financial position as of
31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 and operations and cash flows for the three years then
ended.
Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Group regardless of the amount of
shares owned by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries are combined from the date on which control
transferred to the Group and cease to be combined from the date on which control is
transferred out of the Group.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting periods using
consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions, including
unrealised profits arising from intra-Group transactions, have been eliminated on
combination. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except
that they are only eliminated to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
It is not meaningful to show share capital or an analysis of reserves for the Group. The net
assets are represented by the cumulative investment of the Laird Group which is shown as
“surplus on invested capital”.
The surplus on invested capital comprises share capital and reserves of Laird Security
Systems companies after eliminating investments in Laird Security Systems companies and
adjusting for certain balances previously recorded at a Laird Group level.
The combined financial information reflects overheads (including management charges),
interest receipts and payments (including those on funding balances with other companies
in the Laird Group), and tax charges actually incurred in the year by the companies within
Laird Security Systems. Accordingly:
l

l

As the combined financial information has not been adjusted for any differences
which may exist between amounts charged to Laird Security Systems companies for
services provided by other Laird Group companies and the costs which would have
been incurred by Laird Security Systems had it not been part of the Laird Group, the
overheads reflected in the combined financial information may not be representative
of future results;
Interest payable and receivable shown in the combined financial information
interest payable and receivable on that part of Laird’s investment in Laird
Systems that has historically taken the form of intra-group funding balances,
future net interest costs will depend on the new capital structure of Laird
Systems;
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includes
Security
whereas
Security

l

The tax charge included in the combined financial information reflects the aggregate
of the tax charges actually incurred by those companies making up Laird Security
Systems. These tax charges reflect benefits, reliefs or charges which arose as a result of
membership of Laird Group tax group. Also, tax liabilities which may arise from the
separation of Laird Security Systems from Laird Group tax groups have not been
reflected in the combined financial information. The tax position shown by the
combined financial information is therefore not necessarily representative of the tax
position of Laird Security Systems under separate ownership.

Principal accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires the directors to make judgements and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the
financial statements and the reported income and expense during the reporting periods.
Although these judgements and assumptions are based on the directors’ best knowledge of
the amount, events or actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
the measurement and impairment of goodwill and the measurement of defined benefits
pension obligations. The measurement of intangible assets other than goodwill on a business
combination involves estimation of the future cash flows and the selection of a suitable
discount rate. The group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis and
this requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the
intangible assets are allocated. This involves estimation of future cash flows and choosing a
suitable discount rate (see note 15). Measurement of defined benefit pension obligations
requires estimation of the future changes in salaries and inflation, as well as mortality rates,
the expected return on assets and the selection of a suitable discount rate (see note 33).
The accounting policies set out below have been used to prepare the combined financial
information.
Currency translation
The financial statements for each of the Group’s subsidiaries are prepared using its
functional currency. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which an entity operates. The presentation currency of the Group is sterling.
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate ruling on the date of
transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
In the Group accounts the results and cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
sterling using weighted average rates of exchange for the period. Net investments in
overseas subsidiaries are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from retranslating opening net investments
and the retained profits for the period of overseas subsidiaries, less exchange differences on
foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against overseas investments, are shown
as movements in the surplus on interest capital. All other exchange differences are dealt
with in the Income Statement for the period.
Exchange differences arising from 1 January 2004 are recognised as a separate component
of the surplus on invested capital. On disposal of a foreign operation, any cumulative
exchange differences held in the surplus on invested capital that relate to the disposed
operation are transferred to the Income Statement.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received and excludes intra-group
sales and value-added taxes and represents net invoice value.
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to a third party, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, and it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.
Retirement benefit obligations
Under IAS 19 the assets and liabilities of defined benefit pension plans are recognised at fair
value in the balance sheet and the operating and financing costs of defined benefit pension
plans are recognised in the Income Statement as operating costs and interest costs
respectively. Variations from expected costs, arising from the experience of the plans or
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in the Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense (SORIE).
The Group’s accounting policy for pensions applies the option allowed under IAS 19 to take
actuarial gains and losses directly to the surplus on invested capital through the SORIE in
the period in which they occur.
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for
each plan using the projected unit credit method, which attributes entitlement to benefits to
the current period (to determine current service cost) and to the current and prior periods
(to determine the present value of defined benefit obligation) and is based on actuarial
advice. The assets of defined benefit plans are recognised at fair value in the balance sheet
and the liabilities are recognised at present value using a high quality corporate bond rate.
Contributions to defined contribution schemes are recognised in the Income Statement in
the period in which they become payable.
Share based payments
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 2, the expense recognised in the
Income Statement relates to equity settled grants made after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested on 1 January 2005.
The fair value of Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) shares awarded is estimated at the date
of award, using a Monte Carlo simulation technique, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the LTIP shares were awarded including market based performance
conditions. The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of grant using a
binomial lattice method of calculation, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which share options were granted. Non-market company performance conditions are not
taken into account when estimating the fair value.
No expense is recognised for grants that do not ultimately vest and charges previously made
are reversed except that an expense is recognised for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition and these are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market condition is satisfied, provided all the other performance conditions are satisfied.
At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the
achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated
as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date is recognised in the Income Statement, with a corresponding entry in
the surplus on invested capital.
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Where the terms for an equity settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is
recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for
any modification, which increases the total fair value of the share based payment, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
In circumstances where the equity settled grant is cancelled or settled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation or settlement, and any expense not yet recognised
for the grant is recognised immediately.
Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets, including patents, trade secrets, brand names and customer
relationships, are recognised separately from goodwill and capitalised at fair value and
amortised over their estimated useful economic lives. Amortisation is charged to the Income
Statement on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful life of an intangible asset ranges
between 5 and 17 years depending on its nature.
Research and development
Research and development expenditure is expensed as it is incurred, except for certain
development costs, which are capitalised as intangible assets when it is probable that the
development project will be commercially viable, and certain criteria, including commercial
and technological feasibility have been met. Intangible assets arising in this manner are
amortised over their useful economic lives, from the product launch date, which is typically
less than two years. Intangible assets relating to products in the development phase, both
internally generated and externally acquired, are subject to an impairment review at each
balance sheet date, or earlier should indication of impairment arise. Any impairment losses
are written off immediately to income.
Goodwill
On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the net assets acquired.
Goodwill arises where the fair value of the consideration given for a business exceeds the
fair value of such net assets.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised and subject to impairment review, both
annually and when there are indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 1 January 2004 has been retained at the previous
UK GAAP amounts, subject to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill set off to
reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in
determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.
Income taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with
the following exceptions:
l

l

where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination that at the time
of the transaction effects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
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controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and
l

deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based
on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Income tax is charged or credited directly to the surplus on invested capital if it relates to
items that are credited or charged to the surplus on invested capital. Otherwise income tax
is recognised in the Income Statement.
Dividends
Dividends paid are charged to the surplus on invested capital on the earlier of the date of
payment or the date on which they become a legal liability of the Group.
Interest
Interest is recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises the purchase price and directly attributable
costs, for example, initial delivery and handling costs and installation and assembly costs.
Freehold land and assets under construction are not depreciated. For all other property,
plant, and equipment depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate cost less
residual values of the assets over their useful lives as follows:
Freehold buildings
Leasehold land and buildings
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles
Other plant and machinery

50 years or less
50 years or the lease term if less
5 years or less
4 years
13 years or less

A proportion of one year’s depreciation is charged in the year the asset comes into service
or is sold.
Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an
asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing
operations are recognised in the Income Statement in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.
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Leases
Where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset subject
to a lease, the lease is treated as a finance lease. All other leases are treated as operating
leases, and are expensed to the Income Statement as incurred.
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and included in tangible fixed assets at fair
value. Each asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the
asset. The obligations relating to finance leases, net of finance charges in respect of future
periods, are included as appropriate under current, or non-current, trade and other payables.
The interest element of the rental obligation is allocated to accounting periods during the
lease term to reflect a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligation
for each accounting period.
Segment reporting
The Group’s primary reporting format is geographical segments. A geographical segment is
a component of the Group that operates within a particular economic environment and is
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other
economic environments.
Exceptional items
These items are presented within the relevant Income Statement category. The separate
reporting of exceptional items helps provide a better indication of the Group’s underlying
business performance. Events which may give rise to the classification of items as
exceptional include the restructuring of businesses, the integration of new businesses, gains
or losses on the disposal of businesses, and asset impairments.
Financial assets
Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, inter-company loans and receivables,
investments and trade receivables. Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the lower of
their original invoiced value and recoverable amount. Where the time value of money is
material, receivables are carried at amortised cost. Provision is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances in full. Balances are written off
when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote. The Group assesses at each
balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Gains and
losses are recognised in income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired.
Inter-company loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, do not qualify as trading
assets and have not been designated as either fair value through profit and loss or available
for sale. Such assets are carried at amortised cost. Gains and losses are recognised in income
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced, with the amount of the loss
recognised in the Income Statement.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in the Income Statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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Derivative financial assets are classified as held for trading, unless they are designated as
hedging instruments. These assets are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with gains
or losses in value being recognised in the Income Statement.
Held to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the
amortisation process.
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised where:
l
l

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. Measurement after initial
recognition is at amortised cost, with the changes in the carrying amount being taken
through the Income Statement.
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising on the
repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in
finance income and finance expense.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.
Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group may use derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and
interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate
fluctuations. From 1 January 2005, such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the Income
Statement. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate
swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.
For those contracts designated as hedges the hedging relationship is documented at its
inception. This documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or
transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how effectiveness will be measured
throughout its duration. Such hedges are tested, both at inception to ensure they are
expected to be effective and periodically throughout their duration to assess continuing
effectiveness.
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Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. When the
hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.
If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in
equity are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is
revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast
transaction occurs and are transferred to the income statement or to the initial carrying
amount of a non-financial asset or liability as above. If the related transaction is not expected
to occur, the amount is taken to profit or loss.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and
short-term deposits with an original maturity in three months or less.
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. For finished goods and
work in progress, cost includes directly attributable costs and certain overhead expenses
(principally administration costs) are excluded. Net realisable value is determined as
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling, and distribution.
Provisions
These comprise liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions for restructuring are recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and
formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either commenced or has been publicly
announced on or before the balance sheet date. Provisions are discounted where the time
value of money is material.
New Standards and Interpretations not applied
The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an
effective date after the date of these financial statements:
International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRS)

Effective date

IFRS 7
IFRS 8
IAS 1

1 January 2007
1 January 2009

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Operating Segments
Amendment – Presentation of Financial Statements:
Capital Disclosures
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1 January 2007

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

Effective date

IFRIC 7

1
1
1
1
1
1

March 2006
May 2006
June 2006
November 2006
March 2007
January 2008

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.
Upon adoption of IFRS 7, the Group will have to disclose additional information about its
financial instruments, their significance and the nature and extent of risks that they give rise
to. More specifically the Group will need to disclose the fair value of its financial
instruments and its risk exposure in greater detail. There will be no effect on reported
income or net assets.
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2.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Primary reporting format – geographical segments
The Group manages its business on a global basis. The operations are based in three main
geographical areas. The segment revenue analysis in the below table is based on the location
of the customer. Segment assets and additions are based on location of production.

Continuing operations
Revenue(ii)

2006
£m

UK
2005
£m

2004
£m

2006
£m

129.3
555

130.6
555

118.3
555

108.2
555

100.2
555

84.3
555

16.1

16.6

11.0

16.7

16.5

20.5

(0.3)
–
(7.2)

(0.2)
(8.4)
(5.7)

–
–
(4.7)

(0.7)
–
(4.0)

–
–
(3.3)

–
–
(2.9)

Segment result before:
Amortisation of acquired
intangible assets
Exceptional items
Management charges
Operating profit

555
8.6
555

555
2.3
555

555
6.3
555

555
12.0
555

North America
2005
£m

555
13.2
555

2004
£m

555
17.6
555

Finance revenue
Finance costs
Other(i)
Profit before tax
Taxation
Profit for the year
from continuing
operations
Discontinued operations
Revenue

–
(0.2)
–
8.4
(1.0)

0.1
(0.1)
4.8
7.1
–

0.1
–
–
6.4
(2.8)

28.0
(19.4)
(2.5)
18.1
(9.7)

24.5
(13.5)
–
24.2
(10.9)

11.1
(3.8)
6.8
31.7
(9.0)

7.4

7.1

3.6

8.4

13.3

22.7

555–

18.4
555

30.6
555

555–

555–

555–

Segment result
(Loss)/profit on disposal

–
(0.3)

555
(Loss)/profit before tax
Taxation

(0.3)
0.1

555
(Loss)/profit for the year
from discontinued
operations
Profit for the year
Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
Acquisition of assets
Total additions
Depreciation
Amortisation of
intangible assets

(0.2)

(0.2)
(7.6)

555
(7.8)
2.3

555
(5.5)

1.4
(1.0)

555
0.4
(0.2)

555
0.2

555
3.8
555
100.0
555
555

–
(1.8)

555
(1.8)
1.1

555
(0.7)

555
7.7
555
479.9
555
555

–
(0.6)

555
(0.6)
0.6

555

–
–

555
–
–

555

–

–

555
13.3
555
435.6
555
555

555
22.7
555
358.1
555
555

555
7.2
555
96.0
555
555

555
1.6
555
83.1
555
555

29.7
555

33.8

36.8

345.4

278.0

240.2

555

555

555

555

555

2.5
3.7

3.9
5.9

2.6
2.9

3.1
10.8

1.6
3.6

3.5
8.4

555
6.2
555
1.8
555

555
9.8
555
1.6
555

555
5.5
555
1.3
555

555
13.9
555
3.4
555

555
5.2
555
4.1
555

555
11.9
555
4.4
555

0.3
555

0.2
555

555–

0.7
555

555–

555–

(i) Includes foreign exchange losses and gains, fair value adjustments for financial instruments, gain on the disposal
of pension scheme, write down of investments in non combined subsidiaries and dividend received from non
combined subsidiary.
(ii) Inter-segment sales from China of £9.8 million in 2006 (2005: £6.2 million; 2004: £4.1 million).
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Continuing operations
Revenue(ii)

2006
£m

China
2005
£m

2004
£m

2006
£m

Total
2005
£m

2004
£m

0.2
555

0.1
555

0.1
555

237.7
555

230.9
555

202.7
555

0.1

0.1

0.1

32.9

33.2

31.6

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

(1.0)
–
(11.2)

(0.2)
(8.4)
(9.0)

–
–
(7.6)

555
0.1
555

555
0.1
555

555
0.1
555

Segment result before:
Amortisation of acquired
intangible assets
Exceptional items
Management charges
Operating profit
Finance revenue
Finance costs
Other(i)

–
–
–

Profit before tax

555
0.1
555

555
555–

555
555–

–

–

–

Taxation
Profit for the year
from continuing
operations

–
(0.1)
–

–
(0.1)
–

555
20.7
555
28.0
(19.6)
(2.5)

555
26.6
555
(10.7)

555
15.6
555
24.6
(13.7)
4.8

555
31.3
555
(10.9)

555
24.0
555
11.2
(3.9)
6.8

555
38.1
555
(11.8)

0.1

–

–

15.9

20.4

26.3

555

555

555

555

555

555

555–

555–

555–

555–

18.4
555

30.6
555

–
–

–
–

–
–

555

555

555

–
–

–
–

–
–

555

555

555

555

555

555

555–
Profit for the year
0.1
555
Total segment assets
6.0
555
Total segment liabilities
3.4
555

555–
555–
6.9
555
1.3
555

555–
555–
3.2
555
1.3
555

(0.9)
555
15.0
555
581.9
555
378.5
555

(5.5)
555
14.9
555
525.6
555
313.1
555

0.2
555
26.5
555
461.3
555
278.3
555

0.1
–

–
–

0.4
–

5.7
14.5

5.5
9.5

6.5
11.3

555
0.1
555
0.1
555

555
555–
555–

555
0.4
555
0.1
555

555
20.2
555
5.3
555

555
15.0
555
5.7
555

555
17.8
555
5.8
555

0.2
555

555–

Discontinued operations
Revenue
Segment result
(Loss)/profit on disposal
(Loss)/profit before tax
Taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year
from discontinued
operations

Other segment items
Capital expenditure
Acquisition of assets
Total additions
Depreciation
Amortisation of
intangible assets
(i)

–
(2.1)

555
(2.1)
1.2

–

–

–

1.0

555

555

555

555

(0.2)
(8.2)

555
(8.4)
2.9

1.4
(1.0)

555
0.4
(0.2)

Includes foreign exchange losses and gains, fair value adjustments for financial instruments, gain on the disposal
of pension scheme, write down of investments in non combined subsidiaries and dividend received from non
combined subsidiary.

(ii) Inter-segment sales from China of £9.8 million in 2006 (2005: £6.2 Million; 2004: £4.1 million).

Secondary reporting format – business segment
The Laird Security Systems group operates in the thermal efficiency and home security
residential building market, being one segment.
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3.

REVENUE
Revenue disclosed in the Income Statement is analysed as follows:

Sale of goods
Total
Less: from discontinued operations
Revenue
Finance revenue
Dividend revenue
Total revenue

4.

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

237.7
–

249.3
(18.4)

233.3
(30.6)

555

555

555

237.7
28.0
–

230.9
24.6
–

202.7
11.2
6.8

555
265.7
aaa

555
255.5
aaa

555
220.7
aaa

EXCHANGE RATES
The results and cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into sterling using
weighted average rates of exchange for the year. The principal rates used were as follows:

US Dollars
Renminbi

5.

2006

Average
2005

2004

2006

1.85
14.70

1.82
14.90

1.83
15.18

1.96
15.28

Closing
2005

1.72
13.85

2004

1.92
15.89

OPERATING PROFIT

Revenue
Cost of sales

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

237.7
(178.8)

230.9
(174.6)

202.7
(145.3)

555
Gross profit
Administration expenses

58.9
(38.2)

Operating profit before finance costs and tax

555
20.7
aaa

555
56.3
(40.7)

555
15.6
aaa

555
57.4
(33.4)

555
24.0
aaa

Included in administration expenses are £nil (2005 £8.4 million, 2004 £nil) of exceptional
items as described in note 6 to the combined financial statements and £1.0 million (2005
£0.2 million, 2004 £nil) of amortisation relating to acquired intangible assets.
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2006
Continuing
operations
£m

2005
2005
Continuing
operations Discontinued
£m
£m

2004
2004
Continuing
operations Discontinued
£m
£m

Profit for the year is stated
after charging the following
items:
Staff costs

50.3

67.1

3.6

46.5

5.4

140.2

129.7

11.1

41.6

88.5

1.2
(0.2)

1.3
–

0.1
–

1.3
–

0.2
–

Depreciation and amortisation
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets

5.3
1.0

4.9
0.2

0.8
–

4.6
–

1.2
–

Operating lease rentals
Hire of plant and
machinery
Other

1.1
3.0

1.2
2.7

0.2
0.3

0.8
1.8

0.3
0.3

0.2
0.1

0.1
0.1

–
–

0.1
0.1

–
–

0.1
–
0.1

0.1
0.1
–

–
–
–

0.1
–
–

–
–
–

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

Cost of inventories
recognised as an expense
(included in cost of sales)
Research and development
expenditure
Incurred
Capitalised

Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees
– financial statements
– local statutory audits
Tax fees
– Compliance services
– Planning services
Other services

6.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Laird Division Security Systems (UK)
Plant closure and restructuring costs
Future rental costs for onerous lease
Gain on disposal of business

–
–
–

4.8
4.0
(0.4)

–
–
–

555

555

555

–

8.4

aaa

aaa

aaa–

Note
(a) Laird Security Systems incurred restructuring costs of £4.8 million in 2005 largely relating to the closure of
plants in the UK and the transfer of production to China.
(b) Following the sale of the business of Permacell Finesse in 2005, an onerous lease provision of £4.0 million
was made for the site that the business occupied and which the Group retained.
(c) The total cash outlay for exceptional costs in 2006 was £0.5 million (2005, £4.7 million; 2004, £nil)
(d) The tax effect on exceptional items is £nil (2005, £3.6 million; 2004, £nil)
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7.

MANAGEMENT CHARGES
Management charges represent net intra group charges for services provided by Laird Group
PLC to Laird Security Systems. These charges include costs relating to Laird Security Systems
divisional management of £1.8 million (2005, £2.0 million; 2004, £1.8 million).
Additional management costs have been incurred by Laird Inc. The net operating loss of
Laird Inc (which is included within operating profit before management charges) was £0.5
million (2005, £0.5 million; 2004, £1.0 million).

8.

EMPLOYEES

Average number of Group employees
Continuing
Discontinued

2006
Number

2005
Number

2004
Number

2,601
–

2,641
117

2,246
669

555
2,601
aaa

555
2,758
aaa

555
2,915
aaa

The total number of Group employees at 31 December 2006 was 2,403, at 31 December
2005 was 2,595 and at 31 December 2004 was 2,498.

Continuing
Employee costs
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share based payments

Discontinued
Employee costs
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share based payments

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

45.1
4.0
1.2
–

61.1
4.1
1.5
0.4

41.1
3.4
1.7
0.3

555
50.3
aaa

555
67.1
aaa

555
46.5
aaa

–
–
–
–

3.0
0.3
0.3
–

4.7
0.4
0.3
–

555
aaa–

555
3.6
aaa

555
5.4
aaa

Compensation of key management personnel (excluding directors)
Key management personnel comprise members of the management team for the group as
defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”.
2006
£m

Short term employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share based payment

1.4
–
–
(0.1)

555
1.3
aaa
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2005
£m

2004
£m

1.9
–
–
0.3

1.5
–
–
0.2

555
2.2
aaa

555
1.7
aaa

9.

FINANCE REVENUES AND COSTS

Interest income
Interest receivable from subsidiaries
Other interest income
Finance revenue
Interest expense
Interest payable to parent company
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts
Interest payable on other loans
Finance costs

10.

TAXATION

(a)

Analysis of the tax charge/(credit) for the year

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

27.9
0.1

24.5
0.1

10.9
0.3

555
28.0
aaa

555
24.6
aaa

555
11.2
aaa

(17.4)
–
(2.2)

(11.1)
(0.1)
(2.5)

(0.8)
(0.4)
(2.7)

555
(19.6)
aaa

555
(13.7)
aaa

555
(3.9)
aaa

2006
£m

Current tax
UK corporation tax – continuing operations
UK corporation tax – discontinued operations
Overseas tax – continuing operations
Overseas tax – discontinued operations
Adjustments in respect of prior years
– continuing operations
– discontinued operations

0.8
(0.2)
7.4
–
–
–

555
8.0
555

Total current tax charge
Deferred tax
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Adjustments in respect of prior years
– continuing operations
– discontinued operations

Tax charge in the income statement
The tax charge in the income statement is disclosed
as follows:
Tax charge on continuing operations
Tax (credit)/charge on discontinued operations

1.6
–
6.8
–

3.3
0.2
5.3
–

(0.9)
(0.6)

(0.6)
–

555
6.9
555

555
8.2
555

5.1
(2.3)

3.8
–

–
(0.2)

(1.7)
–

–
–

10.7
(1.2)

555
9.5
555
(b)

2004
£m

2.5
(0.8)

555
1.5
555
9.5
555

Total deferred tax charge

2005
£m

555
1.1
555
8.0
555
10.9
(2.9)

555
8.0
555

555
3.8
555
12.0
555
11.8
0.2

555
12.0
555

There is no tax included in the statement of recognised income and expense in any of the
three years ended 31 December.
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(c)

Reconciliation of the total tax charge/(credit) for the year
The tax charge/(credit) in the income statement for the year is different from the standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30 per cent. (2005, 30 per cent.; 2004, 30 per cent.).
The differences are reconciled below:

Profit before tax from continuing operations
(Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations
Profit before tax
Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate
of corporation tax in the UK of 30%
(2005, 30%; 2004, 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Overseas tax rate differences
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Non taxable pension scheme disposal gain
Non taxable write down of investment in
non combined subsidiaries
Unrelieved tax losses
Total tax expense reported in the income statement

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

26.6
(2.1)

31.3
(8.4)

38.1
0.4

555
24.5
555

555
22.9
555

555
38.5
555

7.4

6.9

11.6

0.7
1.6
(0.2)
–

1.3
1.7
(3.2)
(1.4)

0.3
0.7
(0.6)
–

–
–

1.9
0.8

–
–

555
9.5
555

555
8.0
555

555
12.0
555

(d)

Factors that may affect future tax charges
Since the Group operates internationally, it is subject to income taxes in different tax
jurisdictions. The Group’s average expected tax rate is a weighted average of the tax rates
in the tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates and may vary depending upon results
in each jurisdiction.

11.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Results from discontinued operations:
Revenue
Operating (loss)/profit
Taxation

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

555–

18.4
555

30.6
555

–
–

555
(Loss)/profit after tax from discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit on disposal of businesses:
(Loss)/profit on current year disposals
Loss on prior year disposals
Taxation
(Loss)/profit after tax on disposals
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations
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–

(0.2)
–

555

1.4
(0.2)

555

(0.2)

1.2

–
(2.1)
1.2

(7.6)
(0.6)
2.9

(1.0)
–
–

555
(0.9)
555
(0.9)
aaa

555
(5.3)
555
(5.5)
aaa

555
(1.0)
555
0.2
aaa

12.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid to the parent company, Laird PLC, are recorded in the financial statements
in the period in which they are declared, and approved as shown in the table below:

Dividends paid to Laird PLC

13.

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

0.2
555

555–

5.0
555

Land and
buildings
£m

Plant and
machinery
£m

Total
£m

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
At 1 January 2004
Additions
New businesses
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

7.8
1.5
1.7
–
(0.5)

555
At 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005
Additions
New businesses
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

10.5
1.9
–
(0.1)
0.7

555
At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Additions
New businesses
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

13.0
0.2
0.4
(2.0)
(0.9)

555
10.7
555

At 31 December 2006
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2004
Charge for year
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

1.3
0.4
–
(0.1)

555
At 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005
Charge for year
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

1.6
0.4
(0.1)
0.1

555
At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Charge for year
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

2.0
0.5
(0.2)
–

555
2.3
555
8.4
555
11.0
555
8.9
555

At 31 December 2006
Net book value at 31 December 2006
Net book value at 31 December 2005
Net book value at 31 December 2004
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65.0
5.0
5.0
(5.0)
(1.2)

555
68.8
3.6
0.8
(24.6)
2.1

555
50.7
5.5
0.3
(2.0)
(2.8)

555
51.7
555
43.9
5.4
(4.8)
(0.9)

555
43.6
5.3
(18.7)
1.0

555
31.2
4.8
(1.6)
(1.7)

555
32.7
555
19.0
555
19.5
555
25.2
555

72.8
6.5
6.7
(5.0)
(1.7)

555
79.3
5.5
0.8
(24.7)
2.8

555
63.7
5.7
0.7
(4.0)
(3.7)

555
62.4
555
45.2
5.8
(4.8)
(1.0)

555
45.2
5.7
(18.8)
1.1

555
33.2
5.3
(1.8)
(1.7)

555
35.0
555
27.4
555
30.5
555
34.1
555

14.

INVESTMENT IN NON COMBINED SUBSIDIARIES
2006
£m

Shares in subsidiaries at cost
Less provisions for diminution in value

7.6
(6.3)

555
1.3
aaa

2005
£m

7.6
(6.3)

555
1.3
aaa

2004
£m

1.6
–

555
1.6
aaa

The movement in the net book value of shares in subsidiaries during the year was as
follows:
2006
£m

At 1 January
Additions
Provision for diminution in value

1.3
–
–

555
1.3
aaa

At 31 December

2005
£m

1.6
6.0
(6.3)

555
1.3
aaa

2004
£m

–
1.6
–

555
1.6
aaa

The investment in non combined subsidiaries at 31 December comprises an investment by
Laird Inc in:
Legal entities

Note

Country*

Nature of business

1
1
3

Sweden

Holding company
Holding company
Holding company

1

USA

AMC Centurion AB

4

Sweden

AMC Centurion (Beijing) Co. Limited

4

China

Centurion Wireless Technologies Inc

2

USA

Centurion Electronics (Shanghai) Limited

4

China

Centurion Wireless Components (M)
SDN. BHD
Laird Technologies (SEA) PTE Limited
Laird Technologies S.A.S
Receptec Corp
R&F Products Inc
Steward, Inc
Thermagon Inc
Melcor Corporation
Dormant company
Drico LLC

4

Malaysia

2
2
2
2
2
1
2

Singapore
France
USA
USA
USA
USA
USA

1

USA

Holding companies
Laird (No. 1) Limited
Laird Technologies Inc
Laird Technologies (Holdings) AB
Trading companies
Anetenex Inc

*Country of incorporation or registration
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Direct subsidiary of Laird Inc at 31 December 2006
Immediate parent company is Laird Technologies Inc
Direct subsidiary of Centurion Wireless Technologies Inc
Subsidiary of Laird Technologies (Holdings) AB
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Antennae and power
products
Antennae and power
products
Antennae and power
products
Antennae and power
products
Antennae and power
products
Antennae and power
products
EMI and thermal shielding
EMI and thermal shielding
Antennae products
EMI and thermal shielding
Signal integrity products
Thermal shielding
Thermal shielding
Dormant company

15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other acquired
intangible
Goodwill
assets
£m
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2004
Acquisition of businesses
Adjustments in respect of prior year acquisitions
Disposal of businesses
Foreign currency adjustment

40.2
4.8
0.8
–
(1.7)

555
At 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005
Acquisition of businesses
Adjustments in respect of prior year acquisitions
Disposal of businesses
Foreign currency adjustment

44.1
4.2
–
(0.7)
2.6

555
At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Acquisition of businesses in the year
Adjustments in respect of prior year acquisitions
Foreign currency adjustment

50.2
5.2
0.2
(3.1)

555
52.5
555

At 31 December 2006
Amortisation
At 1 January 2004
Foreign currency adjustment

4.8
(0.3)

555
At 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005
Charge for the year
Disposal of businesses
Foreign currency adjustment

4.5
–
(0.7)
1.2

555
At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Charge for the year
Foreign currency adjustment

5.0
–
(0.5)

555
4.5
555
48.0
555
45.2
555
39.6
555

At 31 December 2006
Net book value at 31 December 2006
Net book value at 31 December 2005
Net book value at 31 December 2004

–
–
–
–
–

555
–
3.4
–
–
0.1

555
3.5
7.2
–
(0.5)

555
10.2
555
–
–

555
–
0.2
–
–

555
0.2
1.0
–

555
1.2
555
9.0
555
3.3
555
555–

Total
£m

40.2
4.8
0.8
–
(1.7)

555
44.1
7.6
–
(0.7)
2.7

555
53.7
12.4
0.2
(3.6)

555
62.7
555
4.8
(0.3)

555
4.5
0.2
(0.7)
1.2

555
5.2
1.0
(0.5)

555
5.7
555
57.0
555
48.5
555
39.6
555

Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortised, but is reviewed annually for indications of impairment in
accordance with IAS36. No indications of impairment to goodwill were identified.
Only the US Hardware cash generating unit and the UK Composite Door business cash
generating unit have significant carrying values of goodwill in comparison with the Group’s
total carrying value of goodwill.
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Goodwill

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

Cash Generating Unit
US Hardware
UK Composite Doors
Others

24.0
19.6
4.4

23.3
19.3
2.6

20.7
16.0
2.9

555
48.0
aaa

555
45.2
aaa

555
39.6
aaa

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for goodwill impairment testing
purposes were:
l

l

l

Projected cash flows for two years plus 3 per cent. each year for the next four years,
plus a terminal value.
The parent company’s equity market risk premium of 4.0 per cent. for each of the
three years with confirmation from external advisors that it is a reasonable assumption.
The parent Company’s beta of 1.1 in 2006, and 1.3 in 2005 and 2004 with
confirmation from external advisors that it is a reasonable assumption.

The projected cash flows were based on estimates approved internally for the 2007, 2006
and 2005 budgets respectively. The cash flows were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate
for the US Hardware cash generating units of 13.7 per cent. in 2006, 11.3 per cent. in 2005
and 10.5 per cent. in 2004. For the UK Composite Door cash generating units the discount
rate was 12.5 per cent. in 2006 and 11.9 per cent. in 2005 and 2004.
Other acquired intangible assets
Assets in this class are amortised over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis.
All amortisation charges for the year have been charged against operating profits.
The following useful lives have been determined for acquired intangible assets:
Brand names
Trade secrets
Trade marks and names
Patents
Customer relationships

–
–
–
–
–

5 years
8 to 15 years
5 to 15 years
the remaining duration of the 17 year legal right
10 years

The expected life assigned to acquired customer relationships is an estimate and is not
secured by any legal obligation on the customer to continue business with the Group for
any finite period. Other than goodwill, the Group does not hold any intangible assets with
an indefinite life.

16.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of businesses
The Group purchased two businesses during 2006 (2005: 2, 2004: 3) for a total consideration
of £13.7 million (2005: £11.2 million, 2004: £15.4 million) and both of these purchases have
been accounted for as acquisitions. All intangible assets were recognised at their respective
fair values. The residual excess over the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the
financial statements.
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Book and fair values of the net assets of businesses acquired in 2006, stated at rates of
exchange at the date of acquisition were as follows:
Acquired in year ended 31 December 2006
Book
values
£m

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Income tax payable
Deferred tax liabilities

0.8
–
0.9
1.6
(0.7)
(0.2)
–

5555
2.4
5555

Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Provisional fair
values to
the Group
£m

0.7
7.2
0.6
1.6
(0.7)
(0.1)
(0.4)

5555
8.9
4.8
5555
13.7
5555

Consideration
Consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration (including transaction costs)
Deferred cash consideration
Net cash acquired

(13.6)
(0.1)
0.2

5555
(13.5)
(0.2)

Borrowings acquired

5555
(13.7)
aaaa
As permitted under IFRS 3, the fair values assigned to acquisitions made in the year are
provisional and may change during 2007.
In March 2006, Balance UK, a UK based supplier of window balances for vertically sliding
windows, was acquired for a cash consideration of £3.3 million and Bandlock Corporation,
a US based supplier of custom PVC extrusions mainly for fenestration and door markets, was
acquired for a cash consideration of £10.4 million. A 100 per cent. interest was acquired in
both. Profit before tax for the acquired entities in 2006 totalled £1.8 million since
acquisition. If the acquisitions had been held for the full year in 2006, revenues from
continuing operations would have been £1.8 million higher, at £239.5 million and profit
before tax from continuing operations would have been £0.6 million higher, at
£27.2 million.

84

Book and fair values of the net assets of businesses acquired in 2005, stated at rates of
exchange at the date of acquisition were as follows:
Acquired in year ended 31 December 2005
Book
values
£m

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Income tax payable
Deferred tax liabilities

0.9
–
3.3
1.7
(1.7)
(0.4)
–

5555
3.8
5555

Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Provisional fair
values to
the Group
£m

0.8
3.3
3.3
1.7
(1.7)
(0.4)
–

5555
7.0
4.2
5555
11.2
5555

Consideration
Consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration (including transaction costs)
Deferred cash consideration
Net cash acquired

(10.0)
(1.4)
0.5

5555
(10.9)
(0.3)

Borrowings acquired

5555
(11.2)
aaaa
Securidor Limited, a UK based manufacturer of composite doors, was acquired for a cash
consideration of £4.3 million in May 2005 and in September 2005, Builders Hardware Inc.,
a US based supplier of window and door hardware, was acquired for a cash consideration
of £6.9 million. A 100 per cent. interest was acquired in both. Profit before tax for the
acquired entities in 2005 totalled £0.6 million since acquisition. If the acquisitions had been
held for the full year in 2005, revenues from continuing operations would have been
£8.2 million higher, at £239.1 million and profit before tax from continuing operations
would have been £0.9 million higher, at £32.2 million.
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Book and fair values of the net assets of businesses acquired in 2004, stated at rates of
exchange at the date of acquisition were as follows:
Acquired in year ended 31 December 2004
Book
values
£m

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

6.7
–
3.5
2.9
(2.5)

5555
10.6
5555

Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Provisional fair
values to
the Group
£m

6.7
–
3.5
2.9
(2.5)

5555
10.6
4.8
5555

Consideration

15.4

5555
Consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration (including transaction costs)
Deferred cash consideration

(11.4)
(1.7)

5555
(13.1)
(2.3)

Borrowings acquired

5555
(15.4)
aaaa
Lindman Group Limited, a UK based manufacturer of composite doors, was acquired for a
cash consideration of £5.0 million, including £1.7 million of borrowings acquired in July
2004 and in August 2004, Advance Metals Technologies Inc., a US based supplier of specialist
coil extension springs used in vertically sliding windows, was acquired for cash
consideration of £3.5 million. A 100 per cent. interest was acquired in both. In September
2004, certain assets of Home Doors (GB) Limited and Houseproud were acquired for a cash
consideration of £6.9 million, including £0.6 million of borrowings acquired. The loss before
tax for the acquired entities in 2004 totalled £0.1 million since acquisition. Home Doors and
Houseproud had revenues of £9.4 million from the date of acquisition in 2004 but only
certain assets were acquired. If the other acquired businesses had been held for the full year
in 2004, revenues from continuing operations would have been £2.5 million higher, at
£205.2 million and profit before tax from continuing operations would have been £0.6
million higher, at £38.7 million.
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17.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

17.6
2.4
18.4

15.1
2.1
18.1

15.6
2.9
19.9

555
38.4
aaa

555
35.3
aaa

555
38.4
aaa

Expenses relating to inventories written down during the period totalled £0.3 million
(2005: £nil, 2004: £nil) of which none have been expensed through exceptional costs.

18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

19.

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

29.5
2.9
0.7

28.4
1.7
0.7

32.5
1.8
0.9

555
33.1
aaa

555
30.8
aaa

555
35.2
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

7.5
555

5.2
555

4.7
555

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand

For the purpose of the combined cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following at 31 December:
2006
£m

Cash at bank and in hand
Bank overdrafts

7.5
–

555
7.5
aaa
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2005
£m

5.2
(0.6)

555
4.6
aaa

2004
£m

4.7
(1.5)

555
3.2
aaa

20.

BORROWINGS

Current:
Bank overdrafts
Short term borrowings
US Private Placement loans 2005/2006
Finance lease obligations
Non-current:
US Private Placement loans 2005/2006
US Private Placement loans 2008/2014
Finance lease obligations

Total borrowings
Borrowings are repayable as follows:
Within one year
Bank
Other
Finance leases
Between one and two years
Bank
Other
Finance leases
Between two and five years
Bank
Other
Finance leases
In five years or more
Bank
Other
Total borrowings

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

–
0.6
–
0.2

0.6
0.4
3.2
0.2

1.5
–
2.9
0.2

555

555

555

0.8

4.4

4.6

–
25.6
0.1

–
29.1
0.3

2.9
26.0
0.5

555
25.7
555
26.5
aaa

555
29.4
555
33.8
aaa

555
29.4
555
34.0
aaa

–
0.6
0.2

0.6
3.6
0.2

1.5
2.9
0.2

–
6.4
0.1

–
–
0.2

–
2.9
0.2

–
–
–

–
7.3
0.1

–
–
0.3

–
19.2

–
21.8

–
26.0

555
26.5
aaa

555
33.8
aaa

555
34.0
aaa

Note
(a) US Private Placement loans, arising from private placements of debt with US insurance companies, comprise
US$50 million repayable between 2008 and 2014 at an average fixed rate of interest of 7.42 per cent and US$
nil (2005, US$ 5.5 million; 2004, US$11 million) at a fixed rate of interest of 9.55 per cent.
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21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Social security costs
Other payables
Accruals and deferred income

22.

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

23.1
0.8
3.7
2.2

20.3
0.9
9.3
3.2

27.3
1.1
4.7
2.8

555
29.8
aaa

555
33.7
aaa

555
35.9
aaa

AMOUNTS OWED TO AND FROM THE LAIRD GROUP PLC AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Assets
Non-current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiaries of The Laird Group PLC
Cross currency swap asset owed by The Laird
Group PLC
Total amounts owed by subsidiaries of
The Laird Group PLC
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
Cross currency swap liability owed to The Laird
Group PLC
Amounts owed to subsidiaries of The Laird Group PLC
Total amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries
Non-current liabilities
Amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
Amounts owed to subsidiaries of The Laird Group PLC
Total amounts owed to The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries
Net amounts owed by The Laird Group PLC
and its subsidiaries

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

399.9

369.8

307.1

11.6
555

555–

555–

411.5
555

369.8
555

307.1
555

(102.1)

(53.3)

(30.1)

–
(36.3)

(0.3)
(23.5)

–
(19.4)

555

555

555

(138.4)
555

(77.1)
555

(49.5)
555

(34.7)
(123.5)

(22.9)
(123.5)

(22.5)
(123.5)

555

555

555

(158.2)
555

(146.4)
555

(146.0)
555

114.9
555

146.3
555

111.6
555

No related party sales or purchases occurred during the three years ended 31 December
2006, 2005 or 2004.
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23.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS – MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS
2006
Land and
buildings
£m

Commitments under
non-cancellable
operating leases
expiring:
Within one year
Later than one year
and less than
five years
After five years

24.

Other
£m

2005
Land and
buildings
£m

Other
£m

2004
Land and
buildings
£m

Other
£m

3.7

0.7

2.6

0.7

1.7

0.5

10.7
11.9

0.7
–

6.9
11.1

0.7
–

6.3
3.5

0.7
–

555
26.3
aaa

555
1.4
aaa

555
20.6
aaa

555
1.4
aaa

555
11.5
aaa

555
1.2
aaa

DEFERRED TAXES
2006
£m

Accelerated capital allowances
Tax losses carried forward
Other temporary differences

4.8
(2.7)
3.1

555
5.2
aaa
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

(2.7)
7.9

555
5.2
aaa

2005
£m

4.3
(3.1)
2.6

555
3.8
aaa
(3.7)
7.5

555
3.8
aaa

2004
£m

3.4
–
(1.0)

555
2.4
aaa
–
2.4

555
2.4
aaa

Deferred tax assets of £2.7 million (2005: £3.7 million; 2004, £nil) have been recognised in
relation to tax losses and other temporary differences, based on expected future taxable
profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been established on pension deficits of £1.4 million
(2005: £1.4 million; 2004: £6.2 million), or trading losses of £2.8 million (2005: £2.8 million;
2004: £nil).
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25.

PROVISIONS

At 1 January 2004
Current
Non-current

Onerous
lease
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

–
–

0.3
1.7

0.3
1.7

555

555

555

–
–
–
–

Provided
Utilised/released
Foreign currency adjustment
At 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005
Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

Provided
Utilised/released
Foreign currency adjustment

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

Provided
Utilised/released
Foreign currency adjustment

555
1.8
aaa

555
1.8
aaa

–
–

0.7
1.1

0.7
1.1

555
555–

555
1.8
555

555
1.8
555

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

0.9
(0.6)
0.1

4.9
(0.6)
0.1

555
4.0
aaa

555
2.2
aaa

555
6.2
aaa

0.3
3.7

0.7
1.5

1.0
5.2

555
4.0
555

555
2.2
555

555
6.2
555

–
(0.3)
–

At 31 December 2006

2.0
0.3
(0.4)
(0.1)

555
aaa–

4.0
–
–

At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006

2.0
0.3
(0.4)
(0.1)

1.8
(0.9)
(0.2)

1.8
(1.2)
(0.2)

555
3.7
aaa

555
2.9
aaa

555
6.6
aaa

0.3
3.4

0.4
2.5

0.7
5.9

555
3.7
aaa

555
2.9
aaa

555
6.6
aaa

Onerous lease provisions relate to the sale of the Permacell Finesse business in 2005. The
provision has been discounted and is stated at its present value.
Other provisions consist mostly of amounts provided in respect of events arising from trade
and various other provisions from Group companies that do not fit into distinct categories.
The timing of cash outflows for warranty claims and other provisions are by their nature
uncertain and dependent upon the outcome of related events. The best estimates are shown
in the table above.
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26.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

27.

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

0.2
–

–
0.1

–
0.2

555
0.2
aaa

555
0.1
aaa

555
0.2
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

7.5
33.1
1.3
411.5

5.2
30.8
1.3
369.8

4.7
35.2
1.6
307.1

555
453.4
aaa

555
407.1
aaa

555
348.6
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

29.8
26.5
296.6
0.2
6.6
0.3

33.7
33.8
223.5
0.1
6.2
–

35.9
34.0
195.5
0.2
1.8
–

555
360.0
aaa

555
297.3
aaa

555
267.4
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

169.7
171.1
–
–
–
19.2

116.2
151.9
7.4
–
–
21.8

90.7
147.6
3.1
–
–
26.0

555
360.0
aaa

555
297.3
aaa

555
267.4
aaa

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets
The financial assets of the Group comprised:

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Investments
Amounts owed by group companies

Financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Group comprised:

Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Amounts owed to group companies
Other non-current liabilities
Provisions
Derivative financial instruments

Maturity of financial liabilities

In one year or less
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Between four and five years
Greater than five years
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group.
As at 31 December 2006
Within
1 year

1–2
years

2–3
years

Fixed rate
Amounts owed by
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
Amounts owed to
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.24% due 2008
–
(6.4)
–
US$25m Loan Notes at
7.44% due 2012
–
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.55% due 2014
–
–
–
Finance lease obligations 555
(0.2) 555
(0.1) 555–
Sub Total

Floating rate
Cash
Bank overdrafts
Short term bank loans
Amounts owed to
Laird PLC
Sub Total

3–4
years

4–5
years

More
than
5 years

Total

–

–

399.9

399.9

–

–

(123.5)

(123.5)

–

–

–

–

–
555–

–
555–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
(12.8)

(6.4)
(12.8)

(6.4)
(6.4)
–
(0.3)
555 555

(0.2) 555
(6.5) 555– 555– 555– 555
257.2 555
250.5
555
7.5
–
(0.6)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

7.5
–
(0.6)

(102.1) 555– 555– 555– 555– 555– 555
(102.1)
555
(95.2) 555– 555– 555– 555– 555– 555
(95.2)
555

Total interest bearing assets and liabilities
Non interest bearing assets and liabilities

155.3
(61.9)
555
93.4
aaa

Net external borrowings
Net inter-company receivables
Other net non interest bearing financial assets and liabilities

(19.0)
114.9
(2.5)

555
93.4
aaa
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group.
As at 31 December 2005
Within
1 year

1–2
years

2–3
years

3–4
years

Fixed rate
Amounts owed by
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
–
Amounts owed to
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
–
US$5.5m Loan Notes at
9.55% due 2006
(3.2)
–
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.44% due 2008
–
–
(7.3)
–
US$25m Loan Notes at
7.44% due 2012
–
–
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.55% due 2014
–
–
–
–
Finance lease obligations 555
(0.2) 555
(0.2) 555
(0.1) 555–
Sub Total

Floating rate
Cash
Bank overdrafts
Short term bank loans
Amounts owed to
Laird PLC
Sub Total

4–5
years

More
than
5 years

Total

–

358.8

358.8

–

(123.5)

(123.5)

–

–

(3.2)

–

–

(7.3)

–
–
555–

(14.5)

(14.5)

(7.3)
(7.3)
–
(0.5)
555 555

(3.4) 555
(0.2) 555
(7.4) 555– 555– 555
213.5 555
202.5
555
5.2
(0.6)
(0.4)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

5.2
(0.6)
(0.4)

(53.9) 555
– 555
– 555
– 555
– 555– 555
(53.9)
555
(49.7) 555– 555– 555 555 555– 555
(49.7)
555

Total interest bearing assets and liabilities
Non interest bearing assets and liabilities

152.8
(43.0)
555
109.8
aaa

Net external borrowings
Net inter-company receivables
Other net non interest bearing financial assets and liabilities

(28.6)
146.3
(7.9)

555
109.8
aaa
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group.
As at 31 December 2004
Within
1 year

1–2
years

2–3
years

3–4
years

Fixed rate
Amounts owed by
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
–
Amounts owed to
subsidiaries of Laird PLC
–
–
–
–
US$11m Loan Notes at
9.55% due 2006
(2.9)
(2.9)
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.44% due 2008
–
–
–
–
US$25m Loan Notes at
7.44% due 2012
–
–
–
–
US$12.5m Loan Notes at
7.55% due 2014
–
–
–
–
Finance lease obligations 555
(0.2) 555
(0.2) 555
(0.3) 555–
Sub Total

Floating rate
Cash
Bank overdrafts
Short term bank loans
Amounts owed to
Laird PLC
Sub Total

4–5
years

More
than
5 years

Total

–

307.1

307.1

–

(123.5)

(123.5)

–

–

(5.8)

–

(6.5)

(6.5)

–

(13.0)

(13.0)

–
555–

(6.5)
(6.5)
–
(0.7)
555 555

(3.1) 555
(3.1) 555
(0.3) 555– 555– 555
157.6 555
151.1
555
4.7
(1.5)
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

4.7
(1.5)
–

(38.9) 555
– 555
– 555
– 555
– 555– 555
(38.9)
555
(35.7) 555– 555– 555 555 555– 555
(35.7)
555

Total interest bearing assets and liabilities
Non interest bearing assets and liabilities

115.4
(34.2)
555
81.2
aaa

Net external borrowings
Net inter-company receivables
Other net non interest bearing financial assets and liabilities

(29.3)
111.6
(1.1)

555
81.2
aaa
Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than
one year. Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity
of the instrument. The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in the
above tables are non interest bearing and are therefore not subject to interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2006 the Group held 34 (2005: nil; 2004: nil) forward foreign exchange
contracts designated as hedges of expected future purchases from overseas suppliers. The
forward currency contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency risk of these
purchases. The terms of these contracts are for the Group to purchase a total of
US$22,750,000 between 3 January 2007 and 27 September 2007 at an average exchange rate
of £/US$ 1.9093. The fair value movement in the period on these contracts was a loss of
£0.3 million (2005: £nil; 2004: £nil).
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The currency profile of the financial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2006, 2005 and
2004 is set out below:
As at 31 December 2006

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi

At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
receivable
£m

Total
£m

–
411.5
–

6.7
0.7
0.1

23.8
8.2
2.4

30.5
420.4
2.5

555
411.5
aaa

555
7.5
aaa

555
34.4
aaa

555
453.4
aaa

At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
receivable
£m

Total
£m

–
369.8
–

3.6
1.3
0.3

18.9
11.2
2.0

22.5
382.3
2.3

555
369.8
aaa

555
5.2
aaa

555
32.1
aaa

555
407.1
aaa

At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
receivable
£m

Total
£m

–
307.1
–

3.7
0.9
0.1

27.0
8.5
1.3

30.7
316.5
1.4

555
307.1
aaa

555
4.7
aaa

555
36.8
aaa

555
348.6
aaa

As at 31 December 2005

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi

As at 31 December 2004

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi

The currency profile of the financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2006, 2005
and 2004 is set out below:
As at 31 December 2006

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi
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At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
payable
£m

Total
£m

–
123.5
–

122.6
8.3
1.4

38.8
63.3
2.1

161.4
195.1
3.5

555
123.5
aaa

555
132.3
aaa

555
104.2
aaa

555
360.0
aaa

As at 31 December 2005

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi

At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
payable
£m

Total
£m

–
123.5
–

76.4
10.5
1.4

29.6
55.9
–

106.0
189.9
1.4

555
123.5
aaa

555
88.3
aaa

555
85.5
aaa

555
297.3
aaa

At fixed
interest
rates
£m

At floating
interest
rates
£m

No interest
payable
£m

Total
£m

–
123.5
–

39.2
1.6
–

51.4
59.5
1.2

90.6
184.6
1.2

555
123.5
aaa

555
40.8
aaa

555
112.1
aaa

555
276.4
aaa

As at 31 December 2004

Sterling
US dollar
Renminbi

Currency exposures
The Group revenues and profits are affected by currency movements on translating overseas
revenues and profits into Sterling for reporting purposes. The actual translation effects on
cross border transactions which involve the sale of goods and services in currencies foreign
to a Group entity are not significant taking into account that a number of currencies are
pegged to the US Dollar. The Group’s policy is for subsidiaries to take out forward foreign
exchange contracts to cover their net transaction exposures to foreign currencies.
The Group does not have any significant transactional currency exposures on financial assets
and liabilities on which net currency gains and losses would be recognised in the Income
Statement.
Credit risk
The Group was not exposed to any one segment or customer which would give rise to a
significant credit risk at any point throughout each of the financial years ending
31 December 2006, 2005 or 2004.
Maturity of financial assets

In one year or less

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

40.6
555
40.6
aaa

36.0
555
36.0
aaa

39.9
555
39.9
aaa

Fair value of financial instruments
The US Private Placement loans with a book value of £25.6 million (2005 £32.3 million;
2004 £31.8 million) have an estimated fair value of £27.2 million (2005 35.0 million; 2004
35.6 million) which has been calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing coupon
rates as at three years ended, 31 December.
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There are no material differences between fair value and book value on any of the other
financial instruments.
Inter-company cross currency swaps
The Group has entered into two cross currency swap agreements with Laird PLC to hedge
foreign currency exposure on the underlying total notional principal amount of
US$225 million. The swap agreements are disclosed in accordance with IAS32 and accounted
for in accordance with IAS39. The swap agreements have not been designated as hedges and
the increase in fair value of £12.6 million (2005 £9.6 million decrease) has been taken to
the income statement.

28.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
All share based payments are equity settled.
The following table shows the number of LTIP awards including LTIP awards granted during
the year.
2006
Number

2005
Number

2004
Number

Outstanding as at 1 January
Awarded during the year
Vested during the year
Forfeited during the year

285,490
140,500
(101,809)
(250,181)

199,588
85,902
–
–

101,809
97,779
–
–

Outstanding as at 31 December

555
74,000
555

555
285,490
555

555
199,588
555

The following table shows the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and
movements in share options issued under the 2003 Executive Share Option Plan.
2006
Number

Outstanding as at
1 January
Option prices
195-323p
Issued
Exercised
Option prices
195-323p
Lapsed
Forfeited

Exercisable at
31 December

2005
Number

2005
WAEP
(p)

2004
Number

2004
WAEP
(p)

957,639

263.7

734,268

231.2

419,212

196.0

555

555

555

555

555

555

64,000

458.0

337,371

329.9

358,056

273.5

239.9
–
(342.5)

–
–
(43,000)

–
–
(240.6)

(211,347)
–
(247,681)

555
Outstanding as at
31 December
Option prices
195-323p

2006
WAEP
(p)

(203.9) (102,500)
–
–
(337.4) (11,500)

555

555

555

555

555

562,611

275.8

957,639

263.7

734,268

231.2

555

555

555

555

555

555

137,865
555

208.2
555

555–

555–

555–

555–

All shares in the table above were recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as noted above.
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was 369p
(2005, 346p; 2004 n/a). For the share options outstanding at 31 December 2006, the
weighted average remaining contractual life is 7.4 years (2005, 8.3 years; 2004 8.7 years).
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64,545 options (2005, 295,144; 2004 116,555) are subject to the higher performance targets.
The fair value of LTIP shares awarded is estimated as at the date of award, using a Monte
Carlo simulation technique, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
LTIP’s shares were awarded including market based performance conditions (Company’s
total shareholder return relative to FTSE 250 companies).
The fair value of share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
lattice method of calculation, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
share options were granted. The non-market company performance conditions are not taken
into account when estimating the fair value.
The weighted average fair value of LTIP awards during the year was 458p (2005, 192p; 2004
177p) and of share options granted during the year was nil (2005, 108p; 2004 90p).
The following table lists the inputs to the valuation models for the years ended
31 December 2004, 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2006.

Dividend Yield (%)
Expected Share Price
volatility (%)
Expected comparator
volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of LTIP/
option (years)
Weighted average
share price (p)

LTIP

LTIP

LTIP

ESOP

ESOP

ESOP

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

2.75

3.25

3.25

2.75

3.25

3.25

25

35

35

25

35

35

30
n/a

40
n/a

40
n/a

n/a
4.7

n/a
4.8

n/a
4.6

3.0

3.0

3.0

7.0

7.5

7.5

460.3

342.5

287.3

460.3

342.5

287.3

The expected life of the share based payments is based on historical data and is not
necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur.
The expected volatility of the LTIP shares is based on historical volatility; average of monthly
activity over the last three years. Expected volatility reflects the assumptions that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily prove to be the
actual outcome. Dividends are not payable on the LTIP shares prior to vesting and this is
taken into account in calculating the fair value.
For the share option schemes, no allowance is considered necessary for leavers pre-vesting.
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29.

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SURPLUS ON INVESTED CAPITAL
Translation
reserve
£m

At 1 January 2004
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Dividends paid

(17.3)
(8.3)
–

555
At 31 December 2004
Adjustment for implementation of IAS 32/39

(25.6)
–

555
At 1 January 2005
Total recognised income and expense for the year

(25.6)
16.6

555
At 31 December 2005 and 1 January 2006
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Dividends paid

(9.0)
(23.5)
–

555
(32.5)
aaa

At 31 December 2006
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Other
Equity
£m

Total
£m

189.4
24.2
(5.0)

172.1
15.9
(5.0)

555

555

208.6
2.5

183.0
2.5

555

555

211.1
10.4

185.5
27.0

555

555

221.5
14.6
(0.2)

555
235.9
aaa

212.5
(8.9)
(0.2)

555
203.4
aaa

30.

ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash generation from operations

Continuing operations
Net profit after taxation
Depreciation and other non-cash items
Depreciation
Exceptional fixed asset write-downs
Exceptional inventory write-downs
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Financial instruments – fair value adjustment
Pension scheme disposal gain
Write down of investments/loans to subsidiaries
Pension charges/(credits)
Other net finance income
Taxation
Pension contributions
Changes in working capital
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade, other payables and provisions
Cash generated from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net (loss)/profit after taxation
Taxation
Loss/(profit) on disposal of businesses before taxation
Depreciation
Changes in working capital
Cash flow from discontinued operations
Cash generated from operations
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2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

15.9

20.4

26.3

5.3
–
–
(0.7)
1.0
15.1
(12.6)
–
–
0.2
(8.4)
10.7
(0.2)

4.9
0.8
0.9
–
0.2
(14.6)
8.3
(4.8)
6.3
(0.3)
(10.9)
10.9
(5.7)

4.6
–
–
(0.1)
–
–
–
–
–
0.5
(7.3)
11.8
(0.5)

(4.4)
(2.4)
0.4

1.3
1.4
1.3

(8.3)
(3.1)
2.2

555
19.9
aaa
(0.9)
(1.2)
2.1
–
–

555
aaa–
19.9
aaa

555
20.4
aaa
(5.5)
(2.9)
8.2
0.8
(3.4)

555
(2.8)
aaa
17.6
aaa

555
26.1
aaa
0.2
0.2
(0.4)
1.2
0.3

555
1.5
aaa
27.6
aaa

Net cash outflow on acquisitions and disposals
2005
£m

2006
£m

Acquisition of businesses
Consideration:
Cash consideration
Net cash acquired

(13.0)
0.2

(9.9)
0.5

555
Deferred consideration paid
Net cash outflow on acquisition of businesses
Borrowings acquired
Disposal of businesses
Consideration:
Net cash consideration
Net cash disposed of
Net cash inflow on disposal of businesses

555

2004
£m

(11.3)
–

555

(12.8)
(1.7)

(9.4)
(0.1)

(11.3)
–

555
(14.5)
aaa
(0.2)
555

555
(9.5)
aaa
(0.4)
555

555
(11.3)
aaa
(2.3)
555

(4.2)
–

7.4
–

20.6
–

555
(4.2)
aaa

555
7.4
aaa

555
20.6
aaa

Analysis of movements in net borrowings

Period to 31 December 2006

Cash at bank
Overdrafts
Loans due within one year
Loans due after more
than one year
Finance leases
Total

Cash

2006

flow

£m

£m

5.2
(0.6)
(3.6)

2.5
0.6
3.0

–
–
(0.2)

(29.1)
(0.6)

–
0.3

555 555
(28.7)
6.4
aaa aaa
At
1 January
2005
£m

Period to 31 December 2005

Cash at bank
Overdrafts
Loans due within one year
Loans due after more
than one year
Finance leases
Total

At
1 January

Cash
flow
£m

Non-cash

Exchange

At
31 December

Acquisitions

changes

differences

2006

£m

£m

£m

£m

–
–
–

(0.2)
–
0.2

7.5
–
(0.6)

–
–

3.6
–

(25.5)
(0.3)

555 555
(0.2)
–
aaa aaa

555
3.6
aaa

555
(18.9)
aaa

Non-cash
changes
£m

Exchange
differences
£m

–
–

Acquisitions
£m

At
31 December
2005
£m

4.7
(1.5)
(2.9)

0.4
1.0
2.7

–
–
(0.1)

–
–
(3.0)

0.1
(0.1)
(0.3)

5.2
(0.6)
(3.6)

(28.9)
(0.7)

0.1
0.3

(0.1)
(0.2)

3.0
–

(3.2)
–

(29.1)
(0.6)

555 555
(29.3)
4.5
aaa
aaa
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555 555
(0.4)
aaa
aaa–

555 555
(3.5)
(28.7)
aaa
aaa

At
1 January
2004
£m

Period to 31 December 2004

Cash at bank
Overdrafts
Loans due within one year
Loans due after more
than one year
Finance leases
Total

31.

Cash
flow
£m

Acquisitions
£m

Exchange
differences
£m

At
31 December
2004
£m

5.1
(0.4)
(3.1)

(0.4)
(1.2)
4.6

–
–
(1.6)

–
–
(3.0)

–
0.1
0.2

4.7
(1.5)
(2.9)

(47.9)
(0.1)

13.5
0.1

–
(0.7)

3.0
–

2.5
–

(28.9)
(0.7)

555 555
(2.3)
aaa
aaa–

555
2.8
aaa

555
(29.3)
aaa

555 555
(46.4)
16.6
aaa
aaa

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Future capital expenditure not provided in the accounts
Contracts placed

32.

Non-cash
changes
£m

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

0.2
aaa

0.6
aaa

0.6
aaa

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are legal claims against Group companies but none where it is likely that damages
will be awarded against the Group which would have a materially adverse effect on its
financial position. Certain companies had contingent liabilities at 31 December 2006 in
respect of hire of plant under leasing contracts.

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Pension schemes
Laird Security Systems operates three defined benefit schemes (2005: 3; 2004: 4).
Approximately 60 (2005: 57; 2004: 188) employees are members of these schemes. These
schemes have approximately 220 (2005: 230; 2004: 524) deferred and current pensioners.
The employer contributions made to these schemes during the year was £0.2 million
(2005: £1.4 million; 2004: £0.5 million).
Certain Laird Security Systems employees are members of the Laird PLC defined benefit
scheme. These are accounted for on a defined contribution basis in Laird Security Systems.
The total assessed value of the schemes’ assets at 31 December 2006 at their market value
is estimated at £7.0 million (2005: £7.2 million; 2004: £25.5 million) and the liabilities
estimated at £8.4 million (2005: £8.6 million; 2004: £31.6 million). The resultant aggregate
net pension liability under IAS 19 is £1.4 million (2005: £1.4 million; 2004: £6.1 million).
The Cego Pension Plan was merged with the Laird Group 1977 Benefits Plan during
December 2005, following which it was not possible separately to identify the assets and
liabilities that relate to Laird Security Systems employees and as such it was no longer
included below. This gave rise to a profit of £4.8 million being recognised in the Laird
Security Systems income statement. This scheme is now accounted for on a defined
contribution basis.
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The market value of the schemes’ assets, the present value of the schemes’ liabilities and the
net pension liability under IAS 19 at 31 December were as follows:
2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

0.3
6.6
0.1

0.9
6.3
–

14.6
10.0
0.9

555

555

555

7.0

7.2

25.5

Equities
Gilts and bonds
Other including cash
Total market value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

(8.4)
555

(8.6)
555

(31.6)
555

Deficit in the schemes

(1.4)
555

(1.4)
555

(6.1)
555

The expected long term rates of return on the assets were:

Gilts and bonds
Equities

2006
%

2005
%

2004
%

4.8
6.9

4.3
5.0

4.1
7.9

The mortality assumption used at 31 December 2006 is based on 92 series tables with an
allowance for improvements in line with the medium cohort based on each member’s year
of birth.
For IAS 19 the schemes’ liabilities have been calculated under the projected unit method
and the main financial assumptions were:

Inflation
Salary increases
Discount rate for liabilities

2006
%

2005
%

2004
%

3.0
4.0
5.1

2.75
3.75
4.75

2.7
3.7
5.4

2005
£m

2004
£m

Analysis of the defined benefit cost for the year ended 31 December:
2006
£m

Current service cost
Past service cost
Gain on settlements or curtailments

0.1
–
–

555
Total charge to operating profit
Expected return on pension investments
Interest on pension liabilities

0.1
(0.3)
0.4

Total amount of expense relating to
finance income
Total charge to income statement before
deduction of tax
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0.5
–
(0.8)

555
(0.3)
(1.7)
1.7

0.6
–
–

555
0.6
(1.6)
1.5

555

555

555

0.1
555

555–

(0.1)
555

0.2
aaa

(0.3)
aaa

0.5
aaa

Changes in the present value of defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as follows:
2006
£m

As at 1 January
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Actuarial gains and losses
Benefits paid
Settlement/curtailment gain
Plan divestiture
Foreign currency differences

8.6
0.1
–
0.4
–
(0.2)
(0.4)
–
–
(0.1)

555
8.4
aaa

As at 31 December

2005
£m

2004
£m

31.6
0.5
–
1.7
0.1
6.7
(1.2)
(0.8)
(30.1)
0.1

27.5
0.5
–
1.5
0.1
3.1
(1.0)
–
–
(0.1)

555
8.6
aaa

555
31.6
aaa

The plan divestiture occurred when the Cego Pension Plan was merged with the Laird
Group 1977 Benefits Plan.
All the defined benefit obligations included above arise within plans that are partly funded.
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are analysed as follows:
2006
£m

As at 1 January
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Expected return on assets
Asset gain/(loss)
Settlement gain/(loss)
Plan divestiture
Foreign currency differences

7.2
0.2
–
(0.4)
0.3
(0.3)
–
–
–

As at 31 December

2005
£m

2004
£m

25.5
5.7
0.1
(1.2)
1.7
2.2
–
(27.0)
0.2

23.6
0.5
0.1
(1.0)
1.6
0.8
–
–
(0.1)

555
7.0
aaa

555
7.2
aaa

555
25.5
aaa

2006
£m

2005
£m

2004
£m

History of experience gains and losses:

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligation
(Deficit) in the scheme
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets

7.0
(8.4)

7.2
(8.6)

25.5
(31.6)

555
(1.4)
555

555
(1.4)
555

555
(6.1)
555

–
(0.2)

(0.3)
2.3

(0.4)
0.8

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of
recognised income and expense is £6.9 million (2005: £6.8 million; 2004: £2.3 million) since
1 January 2004. The directors are unable to determine the amount of actuarial gains and
losses that would have been recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense
from the date of inception of the company schemes to 31 December 2003.
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D.

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS’ FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

e
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Phone 020 7951 2000
Fax: 020 7951 1345
www.ey.com/uk

26 March 2007

The Directors,
Lupus Capital plc
Crusader House
145-147 St John Street
London
EC1V 4RU
Dear Sirs

LAIRD SECURITY SYSTEMS
We report on the audited financial information set out in Part 7 (C): Historical Financial
Information on Laird Security Systems. This financial information has been prepared for inclusion
in the prospectus dated 26 March 2007 of Lupus Capital plc on the basis of the accounting
policies set out in note 1. This report is required by Annex I item 20.1 of the PD Regulation and
is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for no other purpose.
Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R (2)(f) to any person as and to the
extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility
and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other
person as a result of, arising out of, or in connecction with this report or our statement, required
by and given solely for the purposes of complying with item 23.1 of Annex I to the PD Regulation,
consenting to its inclusion in the prospectus.

RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors of Lupus Capital plc are responsible for preparing the financial information on the
basis of preparation set out in note 1 to the financial information.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion as to whether the financial information gives a true and
fair view, for the purposes of the prospectus, and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment
of significant estimates and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the
financial information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership
registered in England and Wales with registered number
OC300001 and is a member practice of Ernst & Young Global.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at the above
address which is the firm’s principal place of business and its
registered office.
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e
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Prospectus dated 26 March
2007, a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Laird Security Systems as at the dates stated
and of its profits, cash flows and changes in surplus in invested capital for the periods then ended
in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 1.

DECLARATION
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R (2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the
Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information
contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains
no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the prospectus in compliance
with item 1.2 of Annex I and item 1.2 of Annex III of the PD Regulation.
Yours faithfully

Ernst & Young LLP
London
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PART 8
INFORMATION ON LUPUS CAPITAL
A.

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF LUPUS CAPITAL

1.

OVERVIEW

Lupus Capital has been a quoted company since 1999. In early 2004, Greg Hutchings made a
significant investment in Ordinary Shares and was appointed as Executive Chairman. Denis Mulhall
was appointed as an Executive Director shortly afterwards and also made a significant investment
in Ordinary Shares. Since then, operational management has been reorganised, incentive schemes
installed and a mergers and acquisitions function added. In June 2004 a capital reorganisation was
carried out in order to permit dividend payments. In April 2006 Lupus Capital acquired Schlegel
Building Products from UniPoly Holdings Limited.
Since the appointment of the current management team in February 2004, the strategy of Lupus
Capital has been:
l

To build shareholder value through the acquisition of industrial assets with the potential for
development.

l

To apply the executive team’s management skills and systems to improve profitability.

l

To use a variety of funding mechanics and exit strategies to enhance shareholder value.

Lupus Capital adopts a very disciplined and clear focus in its approach to target acquisition opportunities.
The key requirements are that targets are asset backed, not loss making and have a positive cash flow.
Lupus Capital chooses to operate in markets where the technology is low risk (although not necessarily
low-tech) rather than markets exposed to quick innovation and sudden obsolescence.
Lupus Capital owns two operating businesses, Schlegel Building Products, an international
manufacturer of window seals and related building products and Gall Thomson, which is a supplier
of marine and industrial breakaway couplings.
2.

EXISTING BUSINESSES

Schlegel Building Products
Schlegel Building Products’ core business is the manufacture of weatherseal products to eliminate
the flow of air and water around windows or doors.
Compression Seals
A compression seal is a sealing device used typically in hinged door and window applications,
such that upon closure of the aperture, the seal is compressed or squeezed by the closing action.
Schlegel compression seals are manufactured by one of two methods. High performance urethane
seal is produced by a proprietary continuous moulding process. This process enables the formation
of complex geometric shapes with varying foam hardness. The resulting product provides the
advantage that the seal retention and door or window closing force characteristics are engineered
into the seal profile whilst providing excellent compression set properties. Less sophisticated seal
products are produced by an extrusion process, typically of polypropylene and PVC, which exhibit
limited compression set properties thus limiting the effective seal life.
Sliding Seals
A sliding seal allows a window or patio door to operate easily so that both the frame and sash
stay in close proximity when the window is opened or closed. Sliding seals are typically
manufactured from polypropylene yarn with a polypropylene backing material and some have a
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plastic fin that runs down the centre of the seal. Finned sliding seals result in a substantial
improvement in air and water performance and require no changes to manufacturers’ window
specifications. Other potential refinements to sliding seals include adding additional fins and
adjusting the shape of the backing.
Hardware
In the UK and Australia, Schlegel Building Products sells hardware as a complementary product to
its core seals business, including window and door locking mechanisms and associated fittings
which are often sold to the same customers. Increasingly, hardware is sourced in the Far East from
specialist producers, typically to a Schlegel Building Products design.
Other Products
Schlegel Building Products also manufactures brushes for use in printer and copier machines,
knitted plastic skirting used to suppress road spray; extruded seals for automobile sunroofs;
automotive suspension bushings; and specialty seals for aircraft applications.
Schlegel Building Products has recently focused on supplying seals for doors and windows to be
sold in less mature markets, where there has been recent economic growth. These markets include
Eastern Europe and South and Central America. Of particular note is Schlegel seals’ performance
in extremely cold climates with continued sales growth in 2006 in Eastern Europe and Scandinavia.
Manufacturing and Sales
Schlegel Building Products’ manufacturing activities are located across a number of countries to
maximise efficiencies through regional plants. Schlegel Building Products’ management benchmark
performance metrics across manufacturing sites and encourages sharing of methodologies and
experiences across identical technologies. Schlegel Building Products seeks to improve
manufacturing capabilities so as to expand production capacity. In addition, Schlegel Building
Products has utilised economies of scale to secure purchasing benefits in raw materials,
commodities, and consumables.
Schlegel Building Products currently operates in 10 countries through seven manufacturing plants.
These regional plants have been established in countries and territories where Schlegel’s products
match market needs and regulation. Local plant managers, supported by local finance teams, lead
each of the regional plants.
Schlegel Building Products’ key plants in the United Kingdom, North America, Germany and
Belgium, are ISO 9000 certified.
Schlegel Building Products sales structure is local, underpinned with both product and market
champions spanning territories and continents, leveraging their skill and industry knowledge to
win business across national boundaries. All levels of management, including senior management
and local operations managers, are involved in sales and marketing in support of the local sales
team.
Gall Thomson
A Gall Thomson marine breakaway coupling is used in the oil and gas industry to enable a loading
line to part safely and then to shut off the product supply in the event of a vessel moving off
station during the loading or discharging of oil and gas products, whether at offshore moorings or
jetty terminals. The purpose of the breakaway coupling is to prevent environmental pollution and
damage to pumping and transfer equipment.
Gall Thomson also supplies the quick release Welin Lambie camlock coupling which is used in the
hose and loading arm system for the transfer of oil and gas products.
The majority of Gall Thomson couplings are designed and made to order for the major oil
producers. Stock and working capital levels are thus easily visible.
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The excellence of the couplings and their technology together with the environmental and
financial consequences of risking less established products gives Gall Thomson a significant
advantage. Gall Thomson owns a wholly owned subsidiary, KLAW, the principal activity of which
is the manufacture, assembly and distribution of industrial quick release couplings to the oil and
gas industries, such as refining, exploration and construction. They are also used in the
transportation of product by road and rail.
The manufacturing operations of Gall Thomson and KLAW are both based in the United Kingdom,
and sales are made to an international customer base.
3.
INFORMATION ON LUPUS CAPITAL’S DEPENDENCE ON INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
There are no patents, trademarks or intellectual property rights, licences or particular contracts
which, taken individually, are of fundamental importance to the Group’s business.
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B.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR LUPUS CAPITAL

The financial information in this Operating and Financial Review has been extracted without
material adjustment from the historical financial information on Lupus Capital set out in Section
C of Part 8 of this document or from Lupus Capital underlying accounting records in the case of
Adjusted profit, which is unaudited.
Lupus Capital’s unaudited preliminary results for the year ended 31 December 2006, announced
on 2 March 2007 were prepared in accordance with UK GAAP.
The financial information in this Operating and Financial Review has been prepared in accordance
with IFRS (your attention is drawn to the reconciliation between IFRS and UK GAAP contained in
Section E of this Part 8).
Investors should read the whole of this prospectus and should not just rely on the summary
information contained in this Operating and Financial Review.

1.

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Year ended 31 December
2006
2005
2004
£’000
£’000
£’000

Turnover
Profit before amortisation, interest LESOT charge,
exceptional items, loss on disposal of fixed asset
investment and taxation (“Adjusted Profit”)
Interest
LESOT charge
Exceptional items
Amortisation
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax
Taxation

62,940

7,479

6,607

11,567
(1,533)
–
–
(2,129)
7,905
(2,973)

3,086
90
–
–
–
3,176
(1,025)

2,947
27
(6,715)
(1,309)
–
(5,050)
(538)

555
4,932
aaa

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities for year

555
2,151
aaa

555
(5,588)
aaa

Year ended 31 December
2005
2004
2006
Pence
Pence
Pence

Earnings/(loss) per share

0.95
555
0.44
555

Equity dividends paid per share

0.90
555
0.40
555

(2.49)
555
0.38
555

Year ended 31 December
2004
2005
2006
£’000
£’000
£’000

Total assets

132,226
aaa
(62,245)
aaa
69,981
aaa

Total liabilities
Total net assets

17,814
aaa
(1,936)
aaa
15,878
aaa

16,040
aaa
(1,372)
aaa
14,668
aaa

The Adjusted Profit figure is unaudited and is explained below under reconciliation of Adjusted
Profit to profit/(loss) before taxation.
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2.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Turnover
Turnover for 2006 was £62.940 million (2005: £7.479 million), with the significant part of the
increase being due to the inclusion of sales for the Schlegel Building Products business, which was
acquired on April 4 2006, of £53.626 million. Schlegel won new customers during the period and
the global market for housing was generally satisfactory with the long term worldwide trend being
upwards. Turnover at the existing businesses of Gall Thomson and KLAW rose by 24.5 per cent.
to £9.314 million from £7.479 million, driven by the high oil price encouraging oil producers to
commence new projects worldwide.
Turnover for 2005 increased by 13.2 per cent. to £7.479 million (2004: £6.607 million). This
increase in turnover is mainly due to faster growing sales of KLAW products which reflects the
broader marketing of these products at trade shows and exhibitions. The turnover in 2004
recorded an increase of almost 1 per cent. over the previous year (2003: £6.551 million).
An analysis of turnover by geographic market is set out below:
Year ended 31 December
2006
2005
2004
£’000
£’000
£’000

United Kingdom
Other European countries
Americas
Rest of the world
Total

8,616
22,376
24,570
7,378

990
3,839
1,291
1,359

622
2,049
735
3,201

555
62,940
aaa

555
7,479
aaa

555
6,607
aaa

Gall Thomson provides products for the major oil companies and their subcontractors on a project
by project basis across the world. Gall Thomson submits bids or quotations for many projects.
Certain projects may be deferred for a considerable time and some projects may be cancelled.
Once a bid has been awarded, Gall Thomson will be put on notice as to when the product is
likely to be required.
These major projects may take several years to complete and may be delayed. The timing of the
delivery of Gall Thomson’s product to the customer and consequently the timing of Lupus Capital’s
sales depends on the stage of completion of the project. While on a contract-by-contract basis sales
may be volatile, Lupus Capital’s sales history has demonstrated that on an overall basis aggregate
sales have been steady.
The KLAW products are less related to major projects and have a broader more everyday
application than those of Gall Thomson. They are not subject to the vagaries of major development
programs to the same extent, and consequently have a more regular demand pattern. In the longer
term it is intended to continue the development of the KLAW business while maintaining the
excellence of the Gall Thomson service to the oil industry. The KLAW business development will
be driven by trade promotions and exhibitions.
Consequently, sales into a particular region will be volatile from year to year given the stage of
completion of the projects being undertaken and the capital nature of the products being sold.
This is evident from the data shown above.
Schlegel Building Products is a leader in the manufacture and marketing of door and window seals,
primarily for the worldwide housing market. At end December 2006, Schlegel had over 625
employees and more than 5,000 customers and was selling over 650 million metres of seals in a
year. Core manufacturing competencies include continuously moulded urethane foam, narrow
fabric textiles, and extruded plastics. As a leading producer of urethane foam (compression seals)
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and woven pile (sliding seals) for the window and door markets, seals are sold in more than 75
countries from seven manufacturing plants located around the world. In addition, Schlegel Building
Products supplies both manufactures and assembled door and window locking mechanisms to a
number of their key seal customers.
The acquisition of Schlegel Building Products during 2006 has had a significant effect on the
aggregate sales and also on the regional split of turnover for Lupus Capital.
Also manufactured are related products for the non-housing markets such as cleaning brushes,
static control devices for copiers and printers, speciality automotive products as in sunroof seals
and truck spray suppressants, tractor seat trim and sway bar brushes.
Profitability
Lupus Capital measures its performance by reference to the profit of the continuing business
activity before LESOT charge and exceptional items (“Adjusted Profit”). Below is a reconciliation of
unaudited Adjusted Profit to profit/(loss) before taxation.
Reconciliation of unaudited Adjusted Profit before interest to profit (loss) before taxation:
Year ended 31 December
2005
2004
2006
£’000
£’000
£’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Amortisation
Interest
LESOT charge
Exceptional items
Loss on disposal of fixed asset investment

7,905
2,129
1,533
–
–
–

555
11,567
aaa

3,176
–
(90)
–
–
–

555
3,086
aaa

(5,050)
–
(27)
6,715
1,309
–

555
2,947
aaa

Profit in 2006 was £11,567 which is not directly comparable to the prior year (2005:
£3,086 million) due to the acquisition of the Schlegel Building Products business. Schlegel reported
profits of £8,122 and that profitability was enhanced by increased productivity. Price increases for
its products were implemented to compensate for the higher raw material cost inputs while sales
were refocused on to higher margin products. In the oil services sector new products have been
introduced which have caused a great deal of interest with significant orders having been received.
Profits at Gall Thomson and KLAW rose by 11.6 per cent. to £3,445.
Adjusted Profit in 2005 increased by 4.7 per cent. to £3,086 million (2004: £2,947 million). This
improvement was achieved through a strong performance in sales, particularly at KLAW Products
Limited.
The strong increase in sales at KLAW had the impact of varying the group gross margin.
Administrative costs (excluding LESOT charge and exceptional expenses) increased in 2005 by
£0.358 million, which were partly offset by interest receipts which were higher by £0.063 million.
Other significant items impacting the results
In 2006 there were no significant items impacting the reported results.
In 2005 there were no significant items impacting the reported results.
During 2004, a number of exceptional and one off charges were recognised by the group. These
are outlined below:
l

On 26 March 2004 Lupus Capital allotted 47,539,257 ordinary shares to the trustees of the
LESOT under the employee incentive arrangements described in a circular dated 21 January
2004 and approved by Shareholders on 16 February 2004. The issue of these shares gave
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rise to a charge of £6.715 million. In the same year exceptional expenses of £1.309 million
were incurred. These were costs associated with the change of strategy and introduction of
the new executive management to the Lupus Capital Group.
l

In 2003 a one-off charge of £0.2 million was incurred relating to a loss on disposal of a
fixed asset investment.

Interest
In 2006 Lupus Capital acquired the Schlegel Building Products business financing this with a
mixture of debt and equity. The Group took out loans totalling £35 million in connection with the
acquisition of which £30 million was long term and £5 million short term. Additionally a further
£10 million was made available by the banks under a revolving credit facility. The assumption of
this debt changed the interest profile of the enterprise and the Group reported interest cost of
£1,533k in 2006. This interest expense is covered by operating profit.
The net interest income or expense reflects the change in the Group’s cash position with net
interest income of 2004 of £0.027 million and in 2005 of £0.09 million.
Taxation
The taxation position of Lupus Capital has changed significantly as a consequence of the Schlegel
acquisition. Previously the groups operating companies operated solely within the United Kingdom
for tax purposes. The acquisition has broadened the Group’s theatre of operations with the
consequent change in tax filings and reporting. The taxation charge for the period was
£2,973 million (2005: £1.025 million) which represents a tax rate of 37.6 per cent. (2005: 32.3 per
cent.), the increase being due to the higher tax rates prevailing in certain overseas territories.
The tax charge for 2005 was £1.025 million reflecting an effective underlying rate of 32.3 per
cent. In 2004 although a loss was reported, there was a tax charge of $0.538 million. This was due
mainly to the LESOT charge not being allowed for tax purposes.
Equity dividends paid per share
The comparable dividend declared for 2006 represents a 21 per cent. increase over 2005 reflecting
the underlying growth in earnings per share.
Dividends were increased from 2004 to 2005, reflecting the underlying performance of the
business and the growth in earnings.
Total Assets
There has been a significant increase in the total assets of the group due to the acquisition of the
Schlegel Building Products business.
The movement from 2004 to 2005 is caused by an increase in current assets of £1.727 million.
Cash increased by £1.005 million over this period.
Total non-current assets
Total non-current assets have increased significantly due mainly to the acquisition of the Schlegel
Building Products business referred to earlier.
Total non current assets increased slightly between 2004 and 2005.
Total Shareholders’ funds
Total Shareholders’ funds have increased significantly during 2006. The acquisition of Schlegel
Building Products involved a significant issue of new shares which led to an increase in
Shareholders’ funds. Additionally the profit earned during the year contributed to the higher level.
In 2005 the shareholders’ funds increased by £0.469 million due to the profit for the year of
£1.410 million partly offset by the dividends paid to shareholders of £0.941 million.
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Share Capital
The share capital increased significantly in 2006 as a consequence of the issue of 378,571,429
shares to finance the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products. In addition 292,063 shares were
issued to directors in lieu of cash fees in November 2006.
In 2004 there were significant changes to the board structure and membership. These resulted in
certain changes to the share capital of Lupus Capital.
Changes to the share capital of Lupus Capital in the three years to 31 December 2006 included:
l

l

3.

On 16 February 2004 17,283,944 Ordinary Shares were allotted to Mr Hutchings and paid
for by Mr Hutchings under the subscription agreement at that date. This related to the
change in executive management referred to earlier.
On 26 March 2004 Lupus Capital allotted 47,539,257 Ordinary Shares to the Trustees of the
LESOT under the Share Incentive Arrangements described in the circular dated 21 January
2004 and approved by Shareholders on 16 February 2004.

LUPUS CAPITAL ACCOUNTING

Accounting convention
The financial information for the period under review and have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS.
Accounting policies
Details of Lupus Capital’s accounting policies are set out in Section C of this Part 8.

4.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND TREASURY AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital resources
In order to fund the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products, Lupus Capital secured a debt facility
(the ‘Schlegel Debt Facility’) of £35,000,000 with a multi currency revolving loan of up to
£10,000,000. Further details of the Schlegel Debt Facility are contained in paragraph 11 of Part 12.
As at 31 December 2006, £32,500,000 (of which £5,000,000 is current and £27,500,00 long term)
was outstanding on the Schlegel Debt Facility and there were no drawings under the multi
currency revolving loan. As at 31 December 2006, Lupus Capital had cash balances of £9,738,000.
The Lupus Capital Group’s operating cash flows are derived from its operating subsidiaries. The
Group is obliged to seek approval from lenders in order to transfer funds to Lupus Capital in the
form of cash dividends, loans or advances.
There is no discernible seasonality for Lupus Capital’s business.
Treasury and risk management
Currently, Lupus Capital has various financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors
that arise directly from its operations. No trading in financial instruments is undertaken. Further
information on the risk profile of Lupus Capital’s financial instruments is provided in note 19 to
the Lupus Capital historical financial information set out in Section C of this Part 8.
As set out in this paragraph 4 above under “Capital resources”, the Group has a debt facility.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each financial instrument risk.
The Board periodically reviews any exposure Lupus Capital may have to interest rate fluctuations.
Lupus Capital’s subsidiary, Gall Thomson, conducts part of its business in US dollars. Gall Thomson
buys forward the value of the orders awarded in order to lock in the exchange rate at that time.
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Group cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December
2005
2004
2006
£’000
£’000
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit/(loss)

9,438

Depreciation
Amortisation
Movement in inventories
Movement in trade and other receivables
Movement in trade and other payables
LESOT charge includes in operating loss

1,646
2,129
1,698
1,394
619
–

Income tax paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Investing activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Financing activities
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

3,086

(5,077)

58
–
(80)
(642)
342
–

55
–
–
548
(575)
6,715

(2,050)
555
14,874
555

(806)
555
1,958
555

(489)
555
1,177
555

(48,372)
555

(102)
555

(36)
555

40,727
555
7,229
aaa

(851)
555
1,005
aaa

411
555
1,552
aaa

In 2006 the Schlegel Building Products acquisition had a significant effect on almost all items of
the group cash flow. Operating profit was enhanced mainly by the effect of the Schlegel
acquisition which contributed the majority of group earnings in the period. Depreciation increased
due to the inclusion of the Schlegel fixed assets within the group’s total. Amortisation increases
significantly caused by the requirement under the IFRS accounting regime to attribute value to
intangible assets within the newly acquired business. The value attributed to intangibles totalled
£28.2 million, which then in turn is amortised over between eight and 25 years, giving a charge
of £2.129 million in the period. This is added back to the operating profit in the cash flow as it
does not represent a cash charge.
The working capital movements reflect the strong cash flow from Schlegel where levels of
inventories, receivables and payables improved since the date of acquisition. The higher tax
payments mirror the increased profits of the group.
The investing activities increased due to more spend on capital equipment and the cost of
acquiring the Schlegel business. The financing activities mirror the proceeds of the equity and debt
raised for the Schlegel acquisition, offset in part by borrowings repaid on behalf of Schlegel and
group interest and dividend outgoings.
In 2004 the reported profit was reduced due to the LESOT charge. The cash flows from operating
activities section of the cash flow statement, records as a cash inflow the issue of shares related
to the LESOT allotment. There was no change to the net assets of Lupus Capital as a result of the
share issue.
Lupus Capital has a debt facility at end December 2006 of £32,500,000 (of which £5,000,000 is
current and £27,500,00 long term) and a multicurrency revolving loan of £10,000,000.
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Capitalisation and Indebtedness
The following table sets out the capitalisation of Lupus Capital as at 31 December 2006:
As at
31 December
2006
£’000

Total current debt
Bank Loan – guaranteed
Finance lease obligations

(4,938)
(156)

555
(5,094)
aaa
Total non current debt
Bank Loan – guaranteed
Finance lease obligations

(27,296)
(334)

555
(27,630)
aaa
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Share Premium
Merger reserve
Cumulative Translational difference
Retained earnings

3,083
45
10,389
(1,653)
58,117

555
69,981
aaa
Net indebtedness
Cash
Trading securities

9,738
–

555
9,738
aaa
Current Debt
Non current debt

(5,094)
(27,630)

Net financial indebtedness

(22,986)

The bank loans relate to the debt facility made available to the group for the Schlegel acquisition.
There are cross guarantees in place and the assets of the group are used as security.
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON LUPUS CAPITAL

Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December
Note

Revenue
Cost of sales

5

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

2006
£’000

62,940
(22,434)

Operating profit/(loss), analysed as:
Before exceptional items and amortisation
– exceptional LESOT charge
– exceptional restructuring costs
– amortisation

2004
£’000

7,479
(2,213)

6,607
(1,838)

555

555

555

40,506

5,266

4,769

(31,068)
555

Operating profit/(loss)

2005
£’000

(2,180)
555

(9,846)
555

6

9,438

3,086

(5,077)

21
6
12

11,567
–
–
(2,129)

3,086
–
–
–

2,947
(6,715)
(1,309)
–

555
3,086
555

555
(5,077)
555

555
9,438
555

Operating profit/(loss)

6

Finance revenue
Finance costs

8
8

501
(2,034)

316
(226)

251
(224)

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Income tax expense

9

7,905
(2,973)

3,176
(1,025)

(5,050)
(538)

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing
operations
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations
All results relate to continuing operations.
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11

555

555

555

4,932
555

2,151
555

(5,588)
555

0.95p

0.90p

(2.49p)

Group Statement of recognised income and expenses
For the year ended 31 December

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans
Exchange differences on retranslation of
foreign operations
Income recognised directly in equity
Tax on items recognised directly in equity

Note

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

20

622

–

–

(1,653)
555

555–

555–

(1,031)
(217)

–
–

–
–

555

555

9

555
Net income recognised directly in equity
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders

(1,248)
4,932

Total recognised income and expense for the period
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555
3,684
aaa

–
2,151

–
(5,588)

555
2,151
aaa

555
(5,588)
aaa

Group balance sheet
As at 31 December

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and short term deposits

Note

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

12
13
9

80,774
13,030
6,078

11,421
443
–

11,421
396
–

555

555

555

99,882

11,864

11,817

7,396
15,210
9,738

331
2,965
2,654

251
2,323
1,649

555
32,344
555
132,226
555

555
5,950
555
17,814
555

555
4,223
555
16,040
555

14
15
23

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Income tax payable
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations
Interest bearing loans and borrowings

16
17
17

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease obligations
Deferred tax
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Employee benefit liability
Provisions
Other creditors

17
9
17
20
18

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital
Share premium
Merger reserve
Treasury shares
Cumulative translational differences
Retained earnings

21
22
22
22
22
22

(1,453)
(14,967)
(156)
(4,938)

(718)
(1,196)
(1)
–

(518)
(854)
–
–

555
(21,514)
555

555
(1,915)
555

555
(1,372)
555

(334)
(7,828)
(27,296)
(3,290)
(1,868)
(115)

(2)
(19)
–
–
–
–

555
(40,731)
555
(62,245)
555
69,981
aaa

555
(21)
555
(1,936)
555
15,878
aaa

3,083
45
10,389
–
(1,653)
58,117

555
69,981
aaa

TOTAL EQUITY
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1,188
–
10,389
–
–
4,301

555
15,878
aaa

–
–
–
–
–
–

555
–
555
(1,372)
555
14,668
aaa
1,188
–
10,389
(8,201)
–
11,292

555
14,668
aaa

Group cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December
2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit/(loss)

9,438

3,086

(5,077)

Depreciation
Amortisation
Movement in inventories
Movement in trade and other receivables
Movement in trade and other payables
LESOT charge included in operating loss
Income tax paid

1,646
2,129
1,698
1,394
619
–
(2,050)

555
14,874
555

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Investing activities
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from shares issue, net of costs
Equity dividends paid
New borrowings
Interest received
Interest paid
Schlegel debt repaid upon acquisition
Repayment of long-term borrowings
Repayment of capital element of finance leases

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end
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555
1,177
555

(102)
–

(36)
–

555
(48,372)
555

555
(102)
555

555
(36)
555

51,653
(1,234)
34,734
501
(2,034)
(40,281)
(2,500)
(112)

–
(941)
–
316
(226)
–
–
–

1,231
(851)
–
252
(221)
–
–
–

40,727

555
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

555
1,958
555

55
–
–
548
(575)
6,715
(489)

(964)
(47,408)

555
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

58
–
(80)
(642)
342
–
(806)

7,229
(145)
2,654

555
9,738
aaa

555
(851)

555
411

555

555

1,005
–
1,649

1,552
–
97

555
2,654
aaa

555
1,649
aaa

NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1.

THE BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES USED IN
PREPARING THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The historical financial information is prepared in accordance with the principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group as set out in note 2 and International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted for use in the European Union (EU) except in respect of the
following matters:
l

the historical financial information does not constitute a set of general purpose
financial statements under paragraph 3 of IAS 1 - First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards and consequently the Company does not make an
explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS as contemplated by
paragraph 14 of IAS 1. A company is only permitted to apply the first-time adoption
rules of IAS 1 in its first set of financial statements where such an unreserved
statement of compliance has been made. In preparing subsequent consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the date of transition, as determined in
accordance with IFRS 1, will not be 1 January 2004 and therefore the first-time
adoption rules will be applied at a date other than 1 January 2004 with a
consequential impact on the opening IFRS balance sheet.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented unless
otherwise stated.
As explained above, the Group's deemed transition date to IFRS is 1 January 2004. The rules
for first-time adoption of IFRS are set out in IFRS 1. IFRS 1 allows certain exemptions in the
application of particular standards to prior periods in order to assist companies with the
transition process. The Group has applied the following exemptions:
l

l

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations is applied from 1 January 2004 and not retrospectively
to earlier business combinations.
IAS21 – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates is applied from 1 January
2004 and not retrospectively to cumulative translation differences on translation of
foreign operations.

2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Going concern basis
After making enquires, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
accordingly they have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial information.

2.2

Accounting convention
The historical financial information has have been prepared on a historical cost basis and is
presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest million unless
otherwise indicated.

2.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are the measurement and impairment of goodwill and the measurement of defined benefit
pension obligations. The measurement of intangible assets other than goodwill on a business
combination involves estimation of future cash flows and the selection of a suitable discount
rate. The measurement of defined benefit pension obligations requires estimation of future
changes in salaries and inflation, as well as mortality rates, the expected return on assets and
the selection of a suitable discount rate.

122

2.4

Basis of consolidation
The historical financial information consolidates the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings (see note 26) drawn up to 31 December each year. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared as of the same reporting date as the parent, using consistent
accounting policies. Intra group balances and transactions are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
group and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of a
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the acquisition date,
of any assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, including contingent liabilities, and equity
instruments issued by the Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the combination. The
identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree are measured initially at fair value at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, including those of an intangible and
tangible nature, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill.

2.5

New standards and interpretations not applied
During the year, the IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations
with effective dates after the date of these financial statements that have not yet been
adopted by the company.
IASB
IFRS 7
IAS 1
IFRS 8
IFRIC
IFRIC 8
IFRIC 9
IFRIC 10
IFRIC 11
IFRIC 12

Financial Instruments Disclosures
Amendment – Presentation of Financial Statements:
Capital Disclosures
Operating Segments
Scope of IFRS 2
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Service Concession Arrangements

Effective date
1 January 2007
1 January 2007
1 January 2009
1
1
1
1
1

May 2006
June 2006
November 2006
March 2007
January 2008

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.
2.6

Principal accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
policies requires the directors to make judgements and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements and the reported income and expense during the reporting periods.
Although these judgements and assumptions are based on the directors’ best knowledge of
the amount, events or actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.
The accounting policies set out below have been used to prepare the financial information.

2.7

Goodwill
Goodwill, being the difference between the fair value of consideration paid for new interests
in Group companies and the fair value of the Group’s share of their net identifiable assets
and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition, is capitalised. Goodwill represents
consideration paid by the Group in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets that
are not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised.
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Goodwill is not amortised, but is subject to an impairment review on an annual basis or
more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate it might be impaired. Any
impairment is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
2.8

Intangible assets
On acquisition of Group companies, the Group recognises any separately identifiable intangible
assets separately from goodwill, initially measuring the intangible assets at fair value.
Purchased intangible assets acquired through a business combination, including purchased
brands, trademarks and licenses, are capitalised at fair value and amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful economic lives.
The Group capitalises acquired computer software at cost and also capitalises internally
generated software based on costs incurred where certain specific criteria are met. Computer
software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, up to 3 years. The
carrying value of intangible assets with a finite life is reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

2.9

Impairment of assets
Goodwill arising on business combinations is allocated to cash-generating units (equivalent
to the reported primary business segments). The recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when events or changes in circumstance indicate that it might be impaired.
Goodwill that has been impaired previously cannot be reversed at a later date.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with finite lives
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying
value may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss.
Where purchased intangible assets are considered by the Board of Directors to have an
indefinite life, they are not amortised but are subject to an impairment review on an annual
basis or more frequently if necessary. Intangible assets not yet available for use, for example,
computer software under development, are tested for impairment annually.
An impairment review is performed by comparing the carrying value of the property, plant
and equipment or intangible asset or goodwill with its recoverable amount, being the higher
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The fair value less costs to sell is the
amount that could be obtained on disposal of the asset. The value in use is determined by
discounting, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset, the expected future cash flows resulting
from its continued use, including those on final disposal. Impairment losses are recognised in
the income statement immediately. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs. Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate discounted
future cash flows. Accordingly, actual cash flows could vary considerably from forecasted cash
flows. Impairment reversals are permitted to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets
(but not goodwill) to the extent that the new carrying value does not exceed the amount it
would have been had no impairment loss been previously recognised.

2.10 Segment reporting
The Group’s continuing operations are divided into two business segments, Oil services and
Building products. The Group’s primary reporting format is business segments and its
secondary format is geographical segments. A business segment is a component of the
Group that is engaged in providing a group of related products and is subject to risks and
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returns that
segment is
environment
operating in

that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical
a component of the Group that operates within a particular economic
and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components
other economic environments.

2.11 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefit will flow to
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue represents amounts
receivable for goods provided or the value of work completed for customers during the year
in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.
As such revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods.
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand as well as short-term highly
liquid investments such as money market instruments and bank deposits. Money market
instruments are financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss.
2.13 Interest bearing bank loans and borrowings
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received less
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
2.14 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment value. Depreciation is provided on all assets except freehold land
at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of each asset on a
straight-line basis over its expected useful life, at the following annual rates:
Freehold land
Freehold buildings
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

Not depreciated
2% to 5%
7.5% to 35%
20% to 25%

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
periodically if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.
2.15 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes cost of
materials determined on a purchase cost basis, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
manufacturing overheads based on normal level of activity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices, less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal.
2.16 Leases
Where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset subject
to a lease, the lease is treated as a finance lease. Assets held under finance leases and similar
contracts which confer the rights and obligations similar to those attached to owned assets
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of

125

the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Finance charges are reflected in the income statement.
All other leases are treated as operating leases, and rentals payable are charged to the
income statement account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
2.17 Foreign currencies
In individual companies, transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Any resulting exchange
differences are taken to the income statement, except where hedge accounting is applied. In
these circumstances exchange differences are taken directly to equity until either the disposal
of the hedging instrument, at which time they are recognised in the income statement.
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of Group companies denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet
date. Income and expense items are translated into sterling at the average rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of opening net assets of Group companies,
together with differences arising from the translation of the net results at average or actual
rates to the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date, are taken to equity. On
disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred accumulated amount recognised in equity relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.
2.18 Pensions and other post employment benefits
The Group operates a defined contribution pension and a defined benefit scheme.
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit scheme is determined using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. The operating and financing costs of the
pension scheme are charged to the income statement in the period in which they arise and
are recognised separately. The costs of past service benefit enhancements, settlements and
curtailments are also recognised in the period in which they arise. The past service cost is
recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits
become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of,
or changes to, a pension plan, past service costs are recognised immediately. The difference
between the actual and expected returns on assets during the year, including changes in the
actuarial assumptions, are recognised in the statement of recognised income and expenses.
The defined benefit assets and liability comprise the present value of the defined benefit
obligations less the past service cost not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. The value of any assets is restricted
to the sum of any past service costs not yet recognised and the present value of any
economic benefit available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future
contributions to the plan.
Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are charged to the income statement as
incurred.
2.19 Financial assets, liabilities and derivatives
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and are generally
derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires.
When shares are issued, any component that creates a financial liability of the Group is
presented as a liability in the balance sheet; measured initially at fair value net of transaction
costs and thereafter at amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
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remainder of the proceeds on issue is allocated to the equity component and included in
shareholder’s funds, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity component
is not remeasured in subsequent years.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.
2.20 Deferred taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred income tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax is calculated at the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet dates and that
are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
2.21 Exceptional items
The Group presents as exceptional items on the face of the income statement, those material
items of income and expense which, becauswe of the nature and expected infrequency of
the events giving rise to them, merit seperate presentation to allow shareholders to
understand better the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate
comparison with prior periods and to access better trends in financial performance.
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2.22 Share-based employee remuneration
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group operates an equity-settled share-based remuneration plan for
remuneration of certain employees.
All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based remuneration are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of
the share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact
of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in the income statement
with a corresponding credit to equity, net of deferred tax where applicable. If vesting
periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period,
based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest.
Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable costs
up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess
being recorded as share premium.

3.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of Schlegel business in 2006
On 4 April 2006, the Group acquired 100 per cent. of the assets and liabilities relating to
the acquired Schlegel business which was part of Unipoly Holdings Limited, based in the
United Kingdom and specialising in the manufacture and marketing of building products.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Schlegel as at the date of acquisition
and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:
Book
values
£’000

Intangible assets
– Customer relationships
– Brands
– Computer software
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables and other debtors
Deferred tax asset
Cash at bank
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provision for liabilities and charges
Deferred tax liability
Employee benefit liability

–
–
75
14,391
10,501
14,518
6,893
786
(51,218)
(578)
–
(506)
(5,141)

555
(10,279)
aaa

Net (liabilities)/assets
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 12)
Total Consideration
Discharged by:
Cash consideration
Transaction costs

Fair value
to group
£’000

19,800
8,400
75
14,251
9,436
14,454
7,868
786
(53,290)
(578)
(2,029)
(9,008)
(5,141)

555
5,024
555
43,170
555
48,194
aaa
44,662
3,532

555
48,194
aaa

Total Consideration
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The acquisition of the business of the Schlegel building products division was completed on
4 April 2006. The acquisition was funded by the raising of £53 million by way of a placing
and open offer of 378,571,429 ordinary shares in Lupus Capital at an issue price of 14p per
share and by a new debt facility comprising a term loan of £35,000,000 and a multicurrency
revolving loan facility of £10,000,000. In order to process the acquisition, a new subsidiary
of the Company, Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Limited (SAH), was formed and the relevant
business was brought together within SAH.
From the date of acquisition, Schlegel has contributed £3,894,000 to the net profit of the
Group. As at 31 December 2006 management were unable to obtain sufficiently reliable
information to disclose what Schlegel’s profit and revenue would have been for the whole
year had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year.
Included in the £43,170,000 of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets that
cannot be individually separated and reliability measured from the acquiree due to their
nature, including an assembled workforce.

4.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Primary reporting format business segments
The following tables present revenue and profit and certain assets and liability information
regarding the Group’s business segments:
Oil
services
£’000

Year ended 31 December 2006

Continuing operations
Revenue
Sales (including inter-segment sales)
Inter-segment sales
Total revenue
Results
Operating profit
Net finance costs

Building
products
£’000

Total
£’000

9,314
555–

59,380
(5,754)
555

68,694
(5,754)
555

9,314
555

53,626
555

62,940
555

3,445

5,993

9,438
(1,533)

555
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

7,905
(2,973)
555

Profit for the year

4,932
aaa

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

14,363

101,975

Total assets

116,338
15,888
555
132,226
aaa

1,588

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

18,091

Total liabilities

19,679
42,566
555
62,245
aaa

Other segment information
Capital expenditure:
– tangible fixed assets
– intangible fixed assets
Depreciation
Amortisation
Employee benefit liabilities

32
–
59
–
–

129

993
71,482
1,587
2,129
3,290

1,025
71,482
1,646
2,129
3,290

Prior to the acquisition of Schlegel during the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group
operated just one business segment, oil services.
Secondary reporting format – Geographical segments
The following tables present revenue, expenditure and certain asset information regarding
the Group’s geographical segments:

Year ended 31 December 2006

Revenue
Revenue from continuing
operations
Other segment information
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

United
Kingdom
£’000

Europe
£’000

Americas
£’000

Rest of
the world
£’000

Total
£’000

8,616
555

22,376
555

24,570
555

7,378
555

62,940
555

44,538

15,554

53,685

2,561

116,338
15,888

555
132,226
555

Total assets
Capital expenditure:
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets

253
26,016

329
3,691

390
41,727

53
48

1,025
71,482

Prior to the acquisition of Schlegel during the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group
operated just one geographical segment, United Kingdom.

5.

REVENUE
Revenue disclosed in the income statement is analysed as follows;

Sale of goods
Rendering of services
Finance revenue
Total revenue

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

62,835
105

7,479
–

6,607
–

555

555

555

62,940
501

7,479
316

6,607
251

555
63,441
aaa

555
7,795
aaa

555
6,858
aaa

No revenue was derived from exchange of goods and service (2005: Nil; 2004: Nil).
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6.

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)
Operating profit is stated after charging the following;

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment – owned assets
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment – leased assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings
Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit
of the group accounts
Fees payable to the company's auditors or their
associates for other services
– Audit of the company’s subsidiaries
– Tax, general and other services
Foreign exchange (profit)/loss

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

1,600

58

55

46
2,129
946

86

84

66

26

14

121
187
(69)

10
14
(39)

5
8
29

aaa

aaa

aaa

Exceptional costs were incurred in 2004 as a result of the change of strategy and
introduction of new executive management to the Group in February 2004 as follows: legal
fees £112,000; costs of establishing the lesot £99,000; corporate finance fees £308,000;
management fees including performance fee and termination fee £732,000; and printing
costs, listing fees and other miscellaneous costs £58,000. The other services provided by the
auditors in 2006 related to the provision of transaction support and taxation services which
the directors consider are cost effective for the auditors to provide.

7.

EMPLOYEES
Number of employees
The average monthly number of employees (including directors) of the Group during the
financial year was:

Administration
Sales
Operations

2006
Number

2005
Number

2004
Number

81
70
537

15
–
18

16
–
16

555
688
aaa

555
33
aaa

555
32
aaa

Employment costs
Employment costs of these employees during the year were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social Security costs
Other pension costs
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2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

14,878
1,809
395

1,565
192
85

1,310
158
83

555
17,082
aaa

555
1,842
aaa

555
1,551
aaa

Directors remuneration
The remuneration payable to directors was as follows:
Total 2006
£

Total 2005
£

Total 2004
£

Greg Hutchings
Denis Mulhall
Frederic Hoad
Roland Tate
Konrad Legg
Michael Jackson

368,531
246,987
18,750
18,750
–
3,263

150,837
75,523
18,000
18,000
917
–

131,592
65,866
17,500
17,500
22,500
–

Total

555
656,281
aaa

555
263,277
aaa

555
254,958
aaa

Mr Legg resigned from the Board on 17 January 2005. The fees of Mr Legg were payable to
Tudeley Holdings Limited and those of Mr Hoad to Hoad & Co (Consultants) Limited; those
of Mr Tate were paid to RMT up to 21 January 2005 and thereafter to Tiger Corporate
Finance Limited and those of Mr Jackson to Michael Jackson Associates.
Mr Jackson and Mr Tate agreed on 17 November 2006 to take payment of their fees in
shares of the Company. The relevant letters of agreement stated that their entitlement to fees
for the periods of 12 months commencing on 17 November 2006 and 1 November 2006
respectively, being £25,000 and £21,000 respectively, would be satisfied by the issue to them
of new ordinary shares in the company; the issue of such shares satisfied in full the
obligation to make payment of the fees due for the period ending 16 November 2007 and
30 October respectively; subject to the relevant articles of association of the Company, their
service as directors could only be terminated on 12 months’ notice from either side and
they agreed to hold the shares issued for at least 12 months.
Pursuant to these agreements, 158,730 new ordinary shares were issued to Mr Jackson and
133,333 to Mr Tate on 17 November 2006, by reference to the closing mid-market price of
the shares on 16 November 2006.

8.

FINANCE REVENUE AND COSTS

Finance revenue
Bank interest receivable
Finance costs
Interest payable on bank loans and overdraft
Finance charges payable under finance lease and
hire purchase contracts
Other finance cost – pensions
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2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

501
555

316
555

251
555

(1,784)

(78)

(172)
(78)

(148)
–

555
(2,034)
aaa

555
(226)
aaa

(224)
–
–

555
(224)
aaa

9.

TAXATION

(a)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities
Tax charged to the income statement

Current income tax:
UK Corporation tax
Foreign tax
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of prior periods

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

1,061
1,522

1,006
–

480
–

555

555

555

1,006
–

480
59

555
2,582
555

555
1,006
555

555
539
555

344
47

19
–

555

555

391

19

555
2,973
aaa

555
1,025
aaa

555
538
aaa

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

217
555

555–

555–

217
aaa

aaa–

aaa–

2,583
(1)

Total current income tax
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Other items
Total deferred tax
Tax charge in the income statement

(1)
–

555
(1)

Tax relating to items charged or credited directly to equity

Deferred tax:
Actuarial gains and losses on pension schemes
Tax charge in the statement of recognised
income and expense
(b)

Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The tax assessed for the year differs from the standard rate of tax in the UK (30%). The
differences are explained below:

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before taxation
Rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2005 and
2004: 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes:
Charge in respect of transfer of shares to lesot
Legal charges in respect of share issues
Other items
Overseas tax rate differences
Other movements
Offset of Advanced Corporation Tax
Adjustment in respect of prior periods

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

7,905

3,176

(5,050)

2,372

952

(1,515)

–
–
42
–
31
–
–

2,014
63
2
(8)
(72)
(5)
59

–
–
6
355
241
–
(1)

555
2,973
aaa

Tax charge in the income statement
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555
1,025
aaa

555
538
aaa

(c)

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following:
Consolidated balance sheet
2006
2005
2004
£’000
£’000
£’000

Deferred tax liability
Accelerated depreciation for
tax purposes
Fair value adjustments on
acquisition

–

(19)

Consolidated income statement
2006
2005
2004
£’000
£’000
£’000

–

–

(19)

–

(7,828)
632
555
555– 555– 555
555– 555–
(7,828)

(19)

–

632

1,310
4,768

–
–

–
–

–
–

Deferred income tax assets
Post employment benefits
Fair value adjustments on acquisition
Losses available for offset against
future taxable income

(19)

–

–
–

–
–

555– 555– 555– 555– 555– 555–
–

6,078

–

Deferred income tax
income/(expense)
Deferred tax liabilities net
Reflected in the balance sheet
as follows
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities net

(d)

–

–

–

632
(19)
555
555
555–
(1,750)
(19)
555
555
555–
6,078
(7,828)

–
(19)

–
–

555 555 555
(1,750)
(19)
aaa
aaa
aaa–

Factors that may affect future tax charges:
There are estimated tax losses of £11,954,000 (2005: £11,954,000 and 2004: £11,954,000)
within the Group, comprising capital losses of £6,760,000 and other tax losses of
£5,194,000. As the future use of these losses is uncertain, in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of them.
The amounts of deferred tax not recognised are as follows:

Tax losses
Capital losses
Other short term timing differences

10.

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

(1,558)
(2,028)
–

(1,558)
(2,028)
–

(1,558)
(2,028)
–

555
(3,586)
aaa

555
(3,586)
aaa

555
(3,586)
aaa

DIVIDENDS

Dividends reflected in the financial statements:
Interim dividend at 0.114p and 0.049p per share
(2005: 0.132p and 2004: 0.126p)
Final dividend paid for the year 2005 at 0.278p
(2004: 0.264p and 2003: 0.25p)

Dividends not reflected in the financial statements:
Proposed final dividend for the year 2006 at
0.334p per share (2005: 0.278p and 2004: 0.264p)
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2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

573

314

300

661
555
1,234
555

627
555
941
555

551
555
851
555

2,059
555

661
555

627
555

11.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued
on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. There
were no potentially dilutive shares.

Basic and diluted weighted average number of shares

2006
£‘000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

519,846

237,696

224,447

Earnings per share from continuing operations before exceptional items and
amortisation
The group presents as exceptional items on the face of the income statement, those material
items of income and expense which, because of the nature and expected infrequency of the
events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow shareholders to understand
better the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with
prior periods and to assess better trends in financial performance.
To this end, basic and diluted earnings per share is also presented on this basis and using
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for both basic and diluted amounts as per
the table above except for periods where the Group has reported a loss, in that case
potential ordinary shares are non-dilutive. Net profit from continuing operations before
exceptional items is derived as follows:

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations
Exceptional LESOT charge
Exceptional restructuring costs
Amortisation
Tax effect on exceptional restructuring costs
and amortisation

2006
£‘000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

4,932
–
–
2,129

2,151
–
–
–

(5,588)
6,715
1,309
–

(639)

555
for the year from continuing operations before
lesot charge, exceptional restructuring costs
and amortisation
Basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations
before exceptional lesot charge, exceptional
restructuring costs and amortisation
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–

555

(329)

555

6,422

2,151

2,107

555

555

555

1.24p

0.90p

0.94p

12.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January 2004, at
31 December 2004 and
at 31 December 2005
Acquisition of subsidiary
(note 3)
Additions
At 31 December 2006
Amortisation and
impairment
At 1 January 2004, at
31 December 2004 and
at 31 December 2005
Amortisation during the year
At 31 December 2006
Net book value
At 31 December 2004
At 31 December 2005
At 31 December 2006

Computer
software
£’000

Acquired
brands
£’000

Customer
relations
£’000

Goodwill
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

–

11,421

11,421

75
37

8,400
–

19,800
–

43,170
–

71,445
37

555
112
555

555
8,400
555

555
19,800
555

555
54,591
555

555
82,903
555

–
21

–
252

–
1,856

–
–

–
2,129

555
21
555

555
252
555

555
1,856
555

555
555–

555
2,129
555

aaa–
aaa–
91
aaa

aaa–
aaa–
8,148
aaa

aaa–
aaa–
17,944
aaa

11,421
aaa
11,421
aaa
54,591
aaa

11,421
aaa
11,421
aaa
80,774
aaa

Goodwill acquired during the year ended 31 December 2006 relates to the Schlegel
business, all other goodwill relates to the ongoing business stream in Gall Thomson and the
single activity of the Group. The recoverable amount was determined on its value in use
calculation using a detailed three year forecast followed by an extrapolation of expected
cash flows at the growth rates below:
2006

2005

2004

Gall Thomson
Growth rates
Discount rate

0%
4.3%

0%
5.7%

n/a
n/a

Schlegel
Growth rates
Discount rate

0%
4.9%

n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a

The key assumptions for the business include stable operating margins, based on past
experience.
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
At 1 January 2004
Additions
At 31 December 2004
Additions
At 31 December 2005
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiary
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

Freehold
land and
buildings
£’000

Plant
and
Machinery
£’000

Motor
vehicles
£’000

Total
£’000

207
–

424
36

8
–

639
36

555

555

555

555

207
85

460
17

8
3

675
105

555

555

555

555

292
170
1,792
–
(80)

At 31 December 2006
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2004
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2004
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2005
Charge for the year
Disposals
Foreign currency adjustment

Net book value
At 31 December 2004
At 31 December 2005
At 31 December 2006

11
15
–
(8)
–

780
1,025
14,251
(121)
(978)

555
2,174
555

555
12,765
555

555
18
555

555
14,957
555

34
5

182
50

8
–

224
55

555

555

555

555

39
6

232
52

8
–

279
58

555

555

555

555

45
84
–
(2)

At 31 December 2006

477
840
12,459
(113)
(898)

284
1,558
(12)
(35)

8
4
(7)
–

337
1,646
(19)
(37)

555
127
555

555
1,795
555

555
5555

555
1,927
555

168
aaa
247
aaa
2,047
aaa

228
aaa
193
aaa
10,970
aaa

aaa–
aaa3
13
aaa

396
aaa
443
aaa
13,030
aaa

The carrying value of plant and equipment held under finance leases and hire purchase
contracts at 31 December 2006 was £689,000 (2005: £3,000 and 2004: £nil). Additions and
acquisition of subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2006 includes £733,000 of
plant and equipment held under finance leases and hire purchase. Leased assets and assets
under hire purchase contracts are pledged as security for the related finance lease and hire
purchase liabilities.

14.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumables
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

3,019
1,023
3,354

194
125
12

121
116
14

555
7,396
aaa

555
331
aaa

555
251
aaa

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense is £Nil (2005: £Nil and
2004: £Nil) which is recognised in cost of sales.
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

16.

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

12,277
1,051
1,882

2,812
91
62

2,114
90
119

555
15,210
aaa

555
2,965
aaa

555
2,323
aaa

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

7,016
272
7,679

307
102
787

224
51
579

555
14,967
aaa

555
1,196
aaa

555
854
aaa

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

156

1

–

–
4,938

–
–

–
–

555
5,094
555

555
5551

555
555–

334
27,296

2
–

–
–

555
27,630
555

555
5552

555
555–

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other taxes and social security costs
Accruals and deferred income

17.

2006
£’000

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Current
Obligations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts (Note 28)
Other loans:
£10m revolver facility
£35m bank loan

Non -current
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase
contracts (Note 28)
£35m bank loan (2005:Nil, 2004 nil)

The Group took out loans totalling £35,000,000 from Bank of Scotland in connection with
the acquisition of Schlegel, of which £30,000,000 was a long term loan and £5,000,000
short term. A repayment of £2,500,000 has been made. A further revolving credit facility of
£10,000,000 was made available by the bank, but no drawings have been made under this
facility at the balance sheet date.
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2006
£’000

Amounts falling due:
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

5,000
5,000
22,500

555
32,500
(266)

Less: issue costs

555
32,234
(4,938)

Less: amounts falling due within one year

555
27,296
aaa
Bank loans and other borrowings are secured on the assets of the Schlegel Acquisition Holdings
Group. The principle companies within the group have also provided cross-guarantees to the
Group’s bankers in support of all bank loan and borrowings.
Borrowing facilities
The Group had un-drawn committed multicurrency loan facilities at 31 December 2006 in
respect of which all conditions precedent had been met of £8,505k. These facilities expire
in more than two years but not more than five years.

18.

PROVISIONS
Restructuring
£’000

At 1 January 2004 and at 31 December 2004 and at
31 December 2005
On acquisition of Schlegel
Utilised
Exchange

–
2,029
–
(161)

555
1,868
aaa

Total
£’000

–
2,029
–
(161)

555
1,868
aaa

At the date of acquisition Schegel had an existing liability for restructuring.

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: RISK PROFILE
The Group’s principal financial instruments have comprised bank loans, finance leases and
hire purchase contracts, and cash and short-term deposits. The Group has various other
financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors that arise directly from its
operations. No trading in financial instruments is undertaken.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each financial instrument risk and they
are summarised below. The disclosures in this note exclude information relating to
short-term debtors and creditors, except relating to credit risk and foreign currency risk.
Credit risk
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts
presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by
the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current
economic environment.
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable
international banks.
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Liquidity risk
During the year ended 31 December 2006 the Group operated within its borrowing
facilities. The Board continues to keep the liquidity position under review.
Interest rate risk profile of financial liabilities
The Group had an overdraft facility, but this was not used for borrowing purposes. The
interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the 31 December 2006 was as
follows:

Sterling
US dollar
Euro

Floating rate
liabilities
£’000

Fixed rate
liabilities
£’000

Total
£’000

32,234
44
22

–
–
488

32,234
44
510

555
32,300
aaa

555
488
aaa

555
32,788
aaa

The interest rate on the floating rate bank loans is linked to LIBOR. The Company has taken
out an interest rate swap agreement. This agreement is effective from 4 October 2006 and
covers the period through to 4 October 2008 the economic effect of this swap agreement
was to fix the interest rate for the borrowings covered.

Sterling

Covered
Floating rate
Borrowings
£’000

Swap
by interest
rate swaps
£’000

fixed
rate
%

32,234
aaa

32,234
aaa

6.23
aaa

The weighted average interest rate on the fixed financial liabilities is 2.9 per cent. and
weighted average interest period is 3 years.
Interest rate risk of financial assets
The Board periodically reviews any exposure the Group may have to interest rate
fluctuations. The weighted average interest rate received on deposited funds was 4.5 per
cent. during the year (2005: 4.07 per cent. and 2004: 4.6 per cent.).
Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar, the Euro and the
Australian dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial and financing
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the
Group’s functional currency and net investments in overseas entities.
The Group has a number of overseas subsidiaries, whose net assets are subject to currency
translation risk. The Group borrows in local currencies as appropriate, to minimise the
impact of this risk on the balance sheet.
Overseas subsidiaries are responsible for managing transactional foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial and financing transactions and recognised assets and liabilities in
currencies other than their functional currency, usually by using forward currency contracts.
Fair values
The directors consider there to be no material difference between the book value and fair
value of the Group’s financial instruments in each of the three financial years presented.
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20.

PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS

20.1 Defined contribution pension schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes, the assets of which
are held externally to the Group in separate trustee administered funds. The costs of the
Group’s defined contribution pension schemes are charged to the profit and loss account in
the period in which they fall due. The Group had unpaid pension contributions of £15,000
(2005: £Nil; 2004: £Nil) included within Employed Benefit Liabilities.
20.2 Defined benefit pension and post retirement benefit schemes
Schlegel operates a defined benefit pension scheme and post-retirement healthcare scheme
in the USA. An actuarial valuation was performed on the 31 December 2006, and full
actuarial valuations of the schemes are carried out every year by qualified independent
actuaries. For the purposes of these annual updates, scheme assets are included at market
value and scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit
method; these liabilities are discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term. The post-retirement benefit surplus or
deficit is included on the Group’s balance sheet, net of the related amount of deferred tax.
Surpluses are only included to the extent that they are recoverable through reduced
contributions in the future or through refunds from the schemes.
The current service cost and any past service costs are included in the profit and loss
account within operating expenses and the expected return on the schemes’ assets, net of
the impact of the unwinding of the discount on scheme liabilities, is included within other
finance income. Actuarial gains and losses, including differences between the expected and
actual return on scheme assets, are recognised, net of the related deferred tax, in the
statement of total recognised gains and losses.
The assets and liabilities of the schemes are:
31 December 2006

Equities
Bonds
Other

£’000

%

£’000

9.2
5.3
3.1

5,148
2,022
107

9.2
5.1
3.1

4,994
1,777
125

555
Total market value of scheme assets
Present value of scheme liabilities
Deficit in the scheme
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On acquisition

%

555

7,277
(10,552)

6,896
(12,015)

555
(3,275)
aaa

555
(5,119)
aaa

The components of the defined benefit cost were as follows:
£’000

Operating profit
Current service cost
Past service costs

167
(241)

555
(74)
aaa

Total operating charge
Other finance (charge)/income
Expected return on plan assets
Interest on plan liabilities

392
(470)

555
(78)
aaa

Net return
Statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on plan assets
Experience gains and losses on the scheme liabilities
Exchange rate
Change in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities

3
65
539
15

555
Actuarial gain

622
aaa

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices
prevailing on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.
There has been a significant change in the expected rate of return on assets due to the
improved stock market scenario.
The principal assumptions used in determining pension and post-employment medical
benefit obligations for the Group’s plans are shown below:

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount Rate
Health care cost trend*

31 December
2006

On
acquisition

n/a
0.0%
6.0%
9.5%-5%

n/a
0.0%
5.75%
9.5%-5%

aaa

aaa

*The level of healthcare contributions are capped and adopting a higher trend rate does not materially affect the
liability

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as
follows:
£’000

On acquisition
Current service cost
Past service cost
Contributions
Other finance charge
Actuarial gain

(5,119)
(167)
241
1,226
(78)
622

555
(3,275)
aaa

Deficit in scheme at 31 December 2006

The pension scheme is closed to new entrants; as a result the service cost to the company
will increase in future years. The expected level contributions to the benefit pension scheme
and post-retirement healthcare scheme in the year to the 31 December 2007 is £947k.
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21.

SHARE CAPITAL
2006

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each (in thousands)
Share capital (in £’000)

2005

2004

825,000
500,000
500,000
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa
4,125
2,500
2,500
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
616,559,778 (2005 and 2004: 237,696,286)
Ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each

3,083
1,188
1,188
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa

On 26 March 2004 the Company allotted 47,539,257 new ordinary shares to the trustees of
the Lupus Capital Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the lesot”) under the employee
incentive arrangements described in the circular dated 21 January 2004 and approved by
shareholders on 16 February 2004.
The issue of the shares to the lesot gave rise to an additional £237,696 of paid up share
capital and £7,962,826 of share premium, offset by a charge to the reserves of £8,200,522.
There was no change to the net assets of the Company as a result of the share issue.
However, there was a reduction of £8,200,522 in the distributable reserves, which would
have impeded the Company’s ability to pay dividends.
An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on 24 May 2005 approved a reduction of
the entire share premium account to create a reserve to offset the deficit on distributable
reserves. The approval of the Court was also obtained and the share premium account was
reduced accordingly.
The acquisition of the Schlegel building products division was completed on 4 April 2006.
The acquisition was funded by the raising of £53 million by way of a placing and open
offer of 378,571,429 ordinary shares in Lupus Capital at an issue price of 14p per share and
by a new debt facility comprising a term loan of £35,000,000 and a multicurrency revolving
loan facility of £10,000,000. Of the new ordinary shares issued, 299,339,334 shares were
placed with institutional and certain other investors under the placing and 79,232,095
shares were issued to existing shareholders under the terms of the open offer on the basis
of one share for every three held as at 1 March 2006.
On 17 November 2006, 158,730 shares were issued to Mr Jackson in payment of his
director’s fees for the year commencing 17 November 2006 and 133,333 shares were issued
to Mr Tate, in payment of his directors’ fees for the year commencing 1 November 2006.
Employee share ownership trust
47,539,257 ordinary shares are held by the trustees of the Lupus Capital Employee Share
Ownership Trust (“the lesot”) under the employee incentive arrangements described in the
circular dated 21 January 2004 and approved by shareholders on 16 February 2004. The
lesot subscribed for the shares in cash at a price of 17.25p per share using funds
contributed to the lesot by the Company.
The Company requested the trustees of the lesot to hold the shares for the benefit of the
family of Greg Hutchings, executive chairman of the Company. On 31 December 2005 that
request became unconditional, since Mr Hutchings was still employed by the Company at
that date.
The lesot subscribed for, and was allotted, a further 15,846,419 ordinary shares in the
placing and open offer in connection with the acquisition of Schlegel.
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Contingent rights to the allotment of shares
At 31 December 2006, 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 there were 714,285
contingent rights to the allotment of shares, in respect of options granted to Mr Hutchings
under the EMI scheme. The shares held by the lesot are available to satisfy these contingent
rights.

22.

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY
Share
Capital
£’000

At 1 January 2004
Shares issued net of costs
LESOT share issue
Capital reorganisation
Total recognised income
and expense for the year
LESOT cost included in loss
for the year
Dividends paid

864
86
238
–

4,709
1,145
7,963
(13,817)

10,389
–
–
–

Treasury
Currency
Shares Translation
£’000
£’000

–
–
(8,201)
–

Retained
Earnings
£’000

Total
£’000

–
–
–
–

(2,801)
–
–
13,817

13,161
1,231
–
–

–

–

–

–

(5,588)

(5,588)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

6,715
(851)

6,715
(851)

655 555

655

1,188
–

–
–

10,389
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

655

655

1,188
1,895

–
45

–
–

–
–

(8,201)
8,201

655 555 555
–
–

11,292
(8,201)

–
–

–
–

2,151
(941)

655

565

655

655

655

10,389
–

–
–

–
–

4,301
49,713

15,878
51,653

–
–

–
–

(1,653)
–

5,337
(1,234)

3,684
(1,234)

655 655 555
3,083
45
10,389
aaa
aaa
aaa

565
saa–

655
(1,653)
saa

At 1 January 2006
Shares issued net of costs
Total recognised income
and expense for the year
Dividends paid
At 31 December 2006

Merger
Reserve
£’000

–

655
At 1 January 2005
Change in control of lesot
Total recognised income
and expense for the year
Dividends paid

Share
Premium
Account
£’000

655
58,117
saa

14,668
–
2,151
(941)

655
69,981
saa

The shares held by the lesot are held at the discretion of the trustees of the lesot for the
benefit of Mr Hutchings’s family. The Company retained the right until 31 December 2005
to ask the trustees to reverse this allocation if Mr Hutchings ceased to be an employee of
the Company. The cost of these shares is no longer identified separately in the reserves,
reflecting the fact that this residual element of control on the part of the Company has
ceased to be effective.
The shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Schlegel, as described in note 20
above, were issued in consideration for shares in Lupus Capital (Jersey) Limited and the
premium thereon represented a capital profit taken to profit and loss account.
Included within the profit and loss account is £96,000, which represents an amount
transferred to a Special Reserve within the accounts of a subsidiary company under the
terms of a Court Order on a reduction in share capital of that company.
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23.

CASH AND SHORT TERM DEPOSITS
Cash at bank
£’000

At 1 January 2004
Cash flow

97
1,552

5555
At 31 December 2004
Cash flow

1,649
1,005

5555

24.

At 31 December 2005
Cash flow

2,654
7,084

At 31 December 2006

555
9,738
aaa

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantees
Performance bonds
Legal claims
Contracts for future expenditure

2006
£’000

2005
£’000

2004
£’000

1,656
9
578
17

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

555
2,260
aaa

555
aaa–

555
aaa–

The Group has financial guarantees amounting to £1,656k. These guarantees principally
relate to letter of credits provided by the bank in respect of workmens’ compensation
claims on which no losses are anticipated.
The Group is the subject of pending legal proceedings, relating to employee grievances,
arising on the separation of the EMI business from Schlegel, prior to the acquisition of the
Schlegel business by the Group. The Group does not believe that the outcome of these
proceedings will have a material adverse effect upon the Group.

25.

FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties. There are no
restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2006
£’000

Not later than one year
After one year but more than five years
Over five years

Not later than one year
After one year but more than five years
Over five years
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Land and buildings
2005
2004
£’000
£’000

1,023
3,894
5,872

57
–
–

76
76
–

aaa

aaa

aaa

2006
£’000

Other
2005
£’000

2004
£’000

142
220
45

–
–
–

–
–
–

aaa

aaa

aaa

26.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group, all of which are wholly owned, are as
follows:

Gall Thomson Environmental Limited
KLAW Products Limited*
Octroi Group Limited
Lupus Capital Management Limited
Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Limited
Schlegel UK (2006) Limited*
Schlegel System Inc*
Schlegel Pty Limited*
Schlegel GmbH*
Schlegel BVBA*
Schlegel SRL*
Schlegel Taliana SL*
* Held by a subsidiary.
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Country of
incorporation

Nature of business

UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
USA
Australia
Germany
Belgium
Italy
Spain

Oil services
Industrial couplings
Investment company
Management services
Holding company
Building products
Building products
Building products
Building products
Building products
Building products
Building products

D.

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON LUPUS CAPITAL

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Chartered Accountants
UK member of
Grant Thornton International

The Directors
Lupus Capital plc
Crusader House
145-157 St John Street
London EC1 4RU
26 March 2007
Dear Sirs

LUPUS CAPITAL PLC
We report on the historical financial information of Lupus Capital plc (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Lupus Capital Group”) for the three years ended 31 December 2006 (the
“Historical Financial Information”) set out on pages 118 to 146 of the prospectus dated 26 March
2007, which has been prepared by the Company in accordance with the Prospectus Rules of the
Financial Services Authority (the “Prospectus”).
This Historical Financial Information has been prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus in
accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 1 to the Historical Financial Information
in connection with the proposed acquisition of Laird Security Systems, the placing and open offer
and the admission of the enlarged share capital to trading on AIM.

RESPONSIBILITIES
This report is required by item 20.1 of Annex I of Appendix 3 to the Prospectus Rules and is
given for the purpose of complying with that rule and for no other purpose.
Save for any responsibility arising under item 5.5.3R(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules to any person
as and to the extent provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any responsibility to any other person for any loss suffered by
any such other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report, which is
required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with paragraph 23.1 of Annex I of
Appendix 3 to the Prospectus Rules, and consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus.
The Directors of Lupus Capital plc are responsible for preparing the Historical Financial Information
on the basis of preparation as contained within Note 1 to the Historical Financial Information.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Historical Financial Information as to whether
the Historical Financial Information gives a true and fair view for the purposes of the Prospectus,
and to report our opinion to you.
Grant Thornton House
Melton Street
London NW1 2EP
T +44 (0)20 7383 5100
F +44 (0)20 7383 4715
DX 2100 EUSTON
www.grant-thornton.co.uk
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability
partnership registered in England and Wales:
No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant
Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston
Square, London NW1 2EP. A list of members
is available from our registered office.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Services Authority
for investment business.
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BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the UK. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial
information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial information is free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error.

OPINION
In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the Prospectus, a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Lupus Capital Group at the dates stated and of its
results, cash flows and changes in equity for the periods then ended in accordance with the basis
of preparation set out in Note 1 to the Historical Financial Information.

DECLARATION
For the purposes of item 5.5.3R(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules we are responsible for this report
as part of the Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts
and contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus
in compliance with item 1.2 of Annex I, Appendix 3 to the Prospectus Rules.

Yours faithfully

GRANT THORNTON UK LLP
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E.

LUPUS CAPITAL RECONCILIATION OF UK GAAP TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)

The table below summarises the differences between UK GAAP, as presented in the audited annual
report and accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006, and IFRS, as presented in the historical
financial information for the same period.
Year ended 31 December 2006

£’000

Profit for the year from continuing operations
As reported under UK GAAP
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from the acquisition of Schlegel
Deferred tax impact of amortisation of intangible assets

6,408
(2,108)
632

555
4,932
aaa

As reported under IFRS
Net assets
As reported under UK GAAP
Amortisation of goodwill under UK GAAP added back
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from the acquisition of Schlegel
Recognition of accrual for holiday pay
Deferred tax impact of amortisation of intangible assets
Deferred tax impact of accrual for holiday pay
Other differences

69,976
1,481
(2,108)
(27)
632
11
16

555
69,981
aaa

As reported under IFRS

In addition to the above there are a number of reclassifications between UK GAAP and IFRS which
do not impact the net assets as reported, the most significant of which are:
Intangible assets
Under IFRS certain intangible assets that exist as a result of a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill if they are separable and measurable. As such with respect to the Schlegel
acquisition £8,400,000 in respect of brands and £19,800,000 in respect of customer relationships
have been recognised separately from goodwill and £2,108,000 has been charged in respect of
amortisation of these assets for the period from date of acquisition to 31 December 2006. Under
UK GAAP there is no requirement to separate intangible assets and hence all such amounts
therefore form part of goodwill and are not then amortised.
Deferred tax
Under IFRS deferred tax is provided for the difference between the book value of the intangible
assets arising as a result of the acquisition of Schlegel and the tax base of these assets with the
corresponding entry being made to goodwill. The deferred tax provided on acquisition was
£8,460,000 and £632,000 has been released to the profit and loss account as a result of the
amortisation charged in the period from date of acquisition to 31 December 2006.
Computer software
A reallocation of £93,000 of computer software costs from tangible assets under UK GAAP to
intangible assets under IFRS has been made.
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PART 9
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO
LUPUS CAPITAL PLC AND ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT RELATING TO
THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Set out below is a pro forma statement of net assets of the Group which has been prepared to
show the effect on Lupus Capital of the proposed acquisition of Laird Security Systems and the
proposed Placing and Open Offer (assuming full proceeds from the proposed Placing and Open
Offer) as if they had taken place on 31 December 2006. The pro forma statement of net assets
has been prepared on the basis of the notes set out below, for illustrative purposes only. By its
nature, this pro forma statement of net assets addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore does
not represent the actual financial position of the Enlarged Group.
Adjustments
Laird
Security
Laird
Lupus
Capital
Systems
Security
as at
as at
Systems
31 December 31 December Restructuring
2006
2006
Adjustments
(Note 1)
(Note 1)
(Note 3)
£m
£m
£m

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Amounts owed by subsidiaries of
The Laird Group PLC
Deferred taxation
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Income tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Amounts owed to The Laird Group
PLC and its subsidiaries
Provisions
Other current liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Amounts owed to The Laird Group
PLC and its subsidiaries
Provisions
Deferred taxation
Other non-current liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)

–
–

Other
Adjustments
£m

Enlarged
Group pro
forma
net assets
£m

–
142.1

40.4
279.8

13.0
80.7

27.4
57.0

–
6.1
–

411.5
2.7
2.0

(411.5)
–
(1.3)

–
–
–

–
8.8
0.7

555
99.8
555

555
500.6
555

555
(412.8)
555

555
142.1
555

555
329.7
555

7.4
15.2
–
9.7

38.4
33.1
2.3
7.5

–
(0.8)
(2.3)
(7.5)

–
–
–
13.5

45.8
47.5
–
23.2

555
32.3
555

555
81.3
555

555
(10.6)
555

555
13.5
555

555
116.5
555

(5.1)
(15.0)

(0.8)
(29.8)

–
0.4

–
–

(5.9)
(44.4)

–
–
(1.4)

(138.4)
(0.7)
(9.2)

138.4
–
–

–
–
–

–
(0.7)
(10.6)

555
(21.5)
555
10.8
555
110.6
555

555
(178.9)
555
(97.6)
555
403.0
555

555
555–
13.5
555
155.6
555

555
(61.6)
555
54.9
555
384.6
555

(27.6)

(25.7)

25.6

(118.6)

(146.3)

–
(1.8)
(7.8)
(3.4)

(158.2)
(5.9)
(7.9)
(1.9)

158.2
2.6
–
1.2

–
–
–
(12.5)

–
(5.1)
(15.7)
(16.6)

555
70.0
555

555
203.4
555

150

555
138.8
555
128.2
555
(284.6)
555

555
(97.0)
555

555
24.5
555

555
200.9
555

Notes:
1.

The net assets of Lupus Capital and Laird Security Systems have been extracted without material adjustment from the
audited historical financial information in parts 8 and 7 respectively. These have been adjusted in accordance with the
notes set out below.

2.

The basis of applying the accounting policies of Lupus Capital and Laird Security Systems in the pro forma statement
of net assets is in accordance with the accounting policies to be adopted in the financial statements for Lupus
Capital’s next financial year.

3.

The acquisition is being completed on a debt free/cash free basis, and, therefore, Laird Security Systems’ outstanding thirdparty debt of £25.6 million and net cash balances of £7.5 million are being repaid. Additional borrowings of £0.9 million
will be settled by reducing the amount payable on Completion. Other restructuring adjustments include the transfer of
all investments that will be retained by The Laird Group PLC (£1.3 million), the settlement of all amounts owed by or
to The Laird Group PLC and its subsidiaries (a net amount of £114.9 million) and the retention by The Laird Group PLC
of other net liabilities of £1.1 million (being £1.2 million of pension liabilities, £2.6 million of provisions and £0.4 million
of other payables, offset by £2.3 million of income tax receivable and £0.8 million of other receivables).

4.

Additional goodwill arising on the acquisition has been calculated below. No fair value adjustments have been made
in the calculation of goodwill:

£m
242.5
6.9
(107.3)
555
142.1

Acquisition value
Add: Acquisition costs
Less: Net assets of Laird Security Systems
Goodwill

£m
The adjusted net assets of Laird Security Systems have been calculated as follows:
Net assets at 31 December 2006
Less: Cash balances
Less: Net investment in subsidiaries that will be retained by The Laird Group PLC
Plus: Borrowings
Plus: Other net liabilities to be retained by The Laird Group PLC
Adjusted net assets of Laird Security Systems
5.

Adjustment to cash at bank and in hand:
£m
136.0
120.0
(230.0)
0.9
(12.5)
(0.9)
555

Proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer
Add: New Debt
Less: Cash paid for acquisition on Completion(i)
Plus: Retained borrowings
Less: Total transaction costs
Less: Special dividend (see Note 8)
Cash at bank and in hand

6.

203.4
(7.5)
(116.2)
26.5
1.1
555
107.3

13.5

(i)

A further £12.5 million of deferred consideration is payable to The Laird Group PLC 12 months after
Completion. In addition, The Laird Group PLC is entitled to the lesser of (i) the operating cashflow (before
capital expenditure, extraordinary and exceptional items) of Laird Security Systems between 2 March 2007 and
Completion and (ii) interest at LIBOR on the initial cash consideration of £230 million for the period between
2 March 2007 and Completion.

(ii)

Total transaction costs are stated exclusive of VAT payable, if any.

Adjustment to borrowings:
Non-current liabilities
Debt arrangement costs

£m
120.0
(1.4)
555

Increase in borrowings

(118.6)

In addition to the debt facility of £120 million, a working capital facility of £20 million is available.
7.

No adjustment has been made to reflect the trading or other transactions of Lupus Capital and Laird Security Systems
since 31 December 2006.

8.

Adjustment has been made for the special dividend of 0.15 pence per Existing Share, amounting to £0.9 million,
declared on 26 March 2007.

9.

There are no deferred tax impacts to the above adjustments.

10.

This pro forma financial information does not constitute financial statements within the meaning of Section 240 of
the Companies Act.
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ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT RELATING TO
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The Directors
Lupus Capital plc
Crusader House
124-157 St John Street
London EC1V 4RU
26 March 2007
Dear Sirs

Lupus Capital plc (the “Company”)
We report on the pro forma financial information (the “Pro Forma Financial Information”) set out
in Part 9 of the Company’s prospectus dated 26 March 2007, which has been prepared on the
basis described on page 151, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how the
proposed equity offering and acquisition of Laird Security Systems might have affected the financial
information presented on the basis of the accounting policies adopted by the Company in
preparing the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2006 as set out in Section
C of Part 8 of the Company’s prospectus. This report is required by Annex II of the PD Regulation
and is given for the purpose of complying with that item and for no other purpose.
Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as and to the
extent there provided, to the fullest extend permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility
and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other
person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required
by and given solely for the purposes of complying with item 23.1 of Annex I to the PD Regulation,
consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus.

RESPONSIBILITIES
It is the responsibility of the directors of the Company to prepare the Pro Forma Financial
Information in accordance with item 20.2 of Annex I of the PD Regulation.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by item 7 of Annex II of the PD Regulation,
as to the proper compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information and to report that opinion
to you.
In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously
made by us on any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial
Information, nor do we accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to
those to whom those reports or opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of
making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial
information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source
documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro Forma
Financial Information with the directors of the Company.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro Forma
Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is
consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.
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OPINION
In our opinion:
(a)

the Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

(b)

such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

DECLARATION
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the
prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information
contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains
no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the prospectus in compliance
with item 1.2 of Annex I and item 1.2 of Annex III of the PD Regulation.
Yours faithfully

Ernst & Young LLP
London
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PART 10
SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE TRANSACTION
1.

DATE AND PARTIES

The Acquisition Agreement is dated 19 March 2007, and is made between The Laird Group plc,
Laird Overseas Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc., Jasper
Acquisition Holdings Limited (together the “Buyers”) and Lupus Capital. The Buyers are wholly
owned subsidiaries of Lupus Capital.

2.

ACQUISITION AND PURCHASE PRICE

2.1

Lupus Capital, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, is acquiring Laird Security Systems
from the Seller for a consideration of approximately £242.5 million (subject to adjustment
as set out below, the “Purchase Price”) plus an additional amount equal to the lesser of (i)
the operating cashflow (before capital expenditure, extraordinary and exceptional items) of
Laird Security Systems between 2 March 2007 (the “Reference Balance Sheet Date”) and
Completion and (ii) interest on the Purchase Price for the period from (and including) 2
March 2007 (the “Reference Balance Sheet Date”) up to (and including) the date of
Completion of the Acquisition Agreement (“Completion”) at the rate of the London
Interbank Offer Rate at the date of completion (the “Additional Cash Amount”).

2.2

The Purchase Price will be paid in two instalments. The Seller will receive:
(a)

the sum of £230 million (the “Completion Amount”), to be adjusted as set out in
paragraphs 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5 on Completion; and

(b)

an amount of £12.5 million on the first anniversary of Completion.

2.3

The Purchase Price will be reduced by the amount of intra-group debt owed by Laird
Security Systems to the Laird Group as at the Reference Balance Sheet Date. The amount of
intra-group debt owed by Laird Security Systems to the Laird Group as at Completion will
be calculated within seven business days of Completion and, to the extent that such amount
varies from the figure as at the Reference Balance Sheet Date, there will be a reconciliation
between the Seller and the Buyers.

2.4

If Laird Security Systems has any (i) bank indebtedness (ii) amounts outstanding pursuant to
finance leases or (iii) amounts owing pursuant to loan notes as at the Reference Balance
Sheet Date, such amounts will be deducted from the Purchase Price.

2.5

The Purchase Price will also be reduced by any amounts due from a Target Company in
relation to the defined benefit schemes of Laird Security Systems remaining with The Laird
Group PLC.

3.

CONDITIONS AND CLOSING

3.1

The Acquisition Agreement is conditional upon the satisfaction of the following conditions:
(a)

the readmission to trading of the Enlarged Share Capital having been admitted to
trading on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange following the cancellation
of their listing pursuant to Rule 14 of the AIM Rules;

(b)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital of any resolution or
resolutions required to approve the acquisition of Laird Security Systems;

(c)

the passing at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Laird of any resolution or
resolutions required to approve the disposal of Laird Security Systems;
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(d)

the waiting period applicable to the Acquisition under the US Hart-Scott-Rodino
Anti-Trust Improvements Act having expired or been earlier terminated;

(e)

Laird having carried out certain pre-Completion intra-group transactions such that
Laird Security Systems can be disposed of as agreed between the parties (the
“Restructuring”);

(f)

Laird having given the requisite notice to prepay certain loan stock issued by Laird
Inc. (the “Laird Inc. Notes”); and

each a “Condition” and together, the “Conditions”.
3.2

The Seller (in relation to conditions (c), (d), (e) and (f)) and Lupus Capital (in relation to
conditions (a), (b) and (d)) undertake to use reasonable endeavours to (a) promptly take, or
cause to be taken, all actions, (b) do, or procure to be done, all things, necessary, proper or
advisable under applicable laws to cause such conditions to be satisfied promptly and (c)
to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable but in any
event by 30 September 2007, the purchase and sale of the Shares and the other transactions
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement.

3.3

In the event that:

(a)

Laird fails to satisfy any of the Conditions in (c), (e) or (f) (save where in relation to
Conditions (e) and (f) only, such failure is due to the failure of Lupus in its obligations set
out at 3.2 above); or

(b)

Lupus Capital fail to satisfy Conditions (a), (b) or (d) (save where, in relation to Condition
(d) only, such failure is due to the failure of Laird in its obligations set out at 3.2 above,
(each a "Break Event") by either 30 September 2007 or the date that the Break Event occurs
(whichever is the earlier) the parties agree to pay to the other a break fee of £2,300,000
(together with an amount in respect of VAT to the extent such amount is recoverable).

3.4

The Acquisition is expected to complete approximately four weeks after the EGM, subject
to all the relevant Conditions being satisfied.

4.

WARRANTIES, INDEMNITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS

4.1

The Acquisition Agreement contains customary warranties for an acquisition of this type.

4.2

Laird and the Seller will be giving the warranties as at the date of the Acquisition Agreement
and again as at the date of Completion.

4.3

Laird and the Seller has agreed to indemnify the Buyers specifically for:
(a)

all actions undertaken by or on behalf of Laird Inc. prior to Completion other than
those actions taken in relation to those subsidiaries of Laird Inc. that form Laird
Security Systems;

(b)

any claim arising from the Restructuring;

(c)

any claim relating to any obligations incurred by any member of Laird Security
Systems pursuant to the terms of the Senior Notes or to the Laird Inc. Notes;

(d)

any Target Group debt not caught by the adjustments referred to at paragraphs 2.3
and 2.4 above;

(e)

any claim for infringement, prior to Completion, by Laird Security Systems of the
“Securidor” trademark;

(f)

any claim for infringement, prior to Completion, of a patent licensed to Laird Security
Hardare Limited and the termination of that license by the licensor;
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(g)

conduct of certain litigation claims in relation to EWS (Manufacturing) Limited (a
member of the Target Group);

(h)

certain potential breaches
(Manufacturing) Limited;

(i)

any claim in relation to liabilities (excluding liabilities in relation to environmental
matters) of any member of the Target Group in respect of leases of properties which
immediately after Completion are not owned by any member of the Target Group; and

(j)

the refusal or failure by PPG Industries, Inc. (“PPG”) to enter into a licence agreement
in an agreed form with Laird Lifestyle Products Limited (the “PPG Licence”), or
termination by PPG of the PPG Licence by reason of the transactions contemplated
in the Acquisition Agreement, and/or any claim for infringement relating to the patents
and patent applications to be licensed pursuant to the PPG Licence.

of

competition

and/or

antitrust

law

by

EWS

5.

COVENANTS

5.1

The Acquisition Agreement contains a number of customary covenants in respect of the
Seller's conduct of the business of Laird Security Systems prior to Completion. In particular,
the Seller has covenanted to procure that the business of Laird Security Systems will be
carried on in the ordinary course and that certain specified actions will not be taken by
the Seller without the previous consent of the Buyers.

5.2

Laird has agreed to refrain from competing with the business of Laird Security Systems and
from soliciting or hiring any employees of Laird Security Systems without the Buyers'
consent for a period of three years from the date of Completion.

6.

TERMINATION

The Acquisition Agreement can be terminated as follows:
(a)

either party if the Conditions have not been fulfilled by 30 September 2007; or

(b)

the Buyers if a breach of warranty occurs upon the warranties being repeated at
Completion entitling the Buyers to bring a claim for an amount in excess of £12 million.

7.

LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY

7.1

Laird and the Seller will only be liable to the Buyers in respect of breach of warranty for
individual claims in excess of £75,000 which claims, in aggregate, exceed £3,600,000.

7.2

Save in the case of fraud or fraudulent concealment, the aggregate liability of the seller in
respect of claims under the warranties and the tax deed shall not exceed £43 million.

7.3

Laird’s and the Seller's liability under the warranties, the tax deed and specific indemnities
will not in any circumstance exceed the total consideration of £242.5 million.

7.4

Laird and the Seller will only be liable for claims relating to breaches of warranty (other
than breaches of tax warranties) if the Seller has received full details of the claim from the
Buyers no later than 5.00 p.m. on the date eighteen months from Completion.

7.5

Laird and the Seller will only be liable for claims relating to breaches of the tax warranties
or the tax deed relating to the members of the Target Group (a) resident for UK tax
purposes in the United Kingdom by not later than 5.00 p.m. on the day one month after
the seventh anniversary of Completion; or (b) a United States person for US federal tax
purposes, by not later than 5.00 p.m. on the thirtieth day after the expiration of the relevant
statute of limitations.
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PART 11
UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION
The following statements are intended as a general guide only to the position under
current UK taxation legislation and H.M. Revenue & Customs practice as at the date of
this document. They only apply to Shareholders who are resident, or in the case of
individuals, ordinarily resident for UK tax purposes in (and only in) the UK (except
insofar as express reference is made to the treatment of non-UK residents), who hold
their Ordinary Shares as an investment and who are the absolute beneficial owners of
them. They do not apply to certain categories of Shareholder, such as insurance
companies, collective investment schemes, dealers in securities and Shareholders who
have (or are deemed to have) acquired their Ordinary Shares by reason of or in
connection with an office or employment. They relate only to certain limited aspects of
the taxation treatment of Shareholders.
Special tax provisions may apply to Shareholders who have acquired or who acquire
Shares pursuant to the Share Incentive Arrangements.
Any person who is in any doubt about his/her own tax position, or who is resident in
or subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the UK, should consult an appropriate
independent professional adviser without delay. In particular, Shareholders should
consult their own professional advisers in relation to the tax consequences for them of
holding shares that are admitted to trading on AIM.

1.

Chargeable gains

1.1

New Ordinary Shares acquired pursuant to the Open Offer
For the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains, a Shareholder should not be treated
as making a disposal of all or part of his Existing Ordinary Shares by reason of taking up
his entitlement under the Open Offer or the issue to that Shareholder of New Ordinary
Shares pursuant to the Open Offer.
Although the position is not entirely clear, it is expected that H.M. Revenue & Customs will
in practice treat the Open Offer as giving rise to a reorganisation of the share capital of
Lupus Capital for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains. On that basis, the
Shareholder’s Existing Ordinary Shares and the New Ordinary Shares should, subject to the
point set out immediately below, be treated as the same asset for the purposes of UK
taxation of chargeable gains and the cost of New Ordinary Shares allotted pursuant to the
Open Offer should generally be added to the base cost of the Shareholder’s Existing
Ordinary Shares. However, reorganisation treatment (assuming it applies) will only apply in
respect of those Open Offer Shares allotted to a Shareholder as a result of that Shareholder
taking up some or all of his/her Basic Entitlement and will not apply in respect of any
Excess Shares allotted to that Shareholder. Any Excess Shares allotted to a Shareholder will
be treated for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains as a separate asset. The price
paid for the Excess Shares will constitute their base cost for those purposes and the Excess
Shares will be subject to the normal rules relating to indexation, pooling and taper relief.
If the Open Offer is not treated as giving rise to a reorganisation, none of the New Ordinary
Shares allotted to a Shareholder pursuant to the Open Offer will be treated as the same
asset as the Shareholder’s Existing Ordinary Shares. In these circumstances, the price paid
by the Shareholder will constitute the base cost for the purposes of UK taxation of
chargeable gains of all the New Ordinary Shares allotted to that Shareholder (including any
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Excess Shares) and all of the Shareholder’s New Ordinary Shares will be subject to the
normal rules relating to indexation, pooling and taper relief.
In either case, a subsequent disposal of New Ordinary Shares by a Shareholder may,
depending on the Shareholder’s circumstances, and subject to any available exemption or
relief, give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of UK taxation of
chargeable gains.
In respect of individual Shareholders, indexation allowance ceased to accrue after April 1998
and has been replaced by taper relief. Taper relief operates by reducing the gain realised on
the disposal of assets by a percentage amount which is dependent on the period of
ownership of the relevant asset and whether that asset qualifies as a business asset for taper
relief purposes.
A Shareholder who is neither resident nor, in the case of an individual, ordinarily resident
in the UK will not be liable for UK tax on chargeable gains realised on a disposal of his/her
New Ordinary Shares unless such Shareholder carries on:
(A)

(in the case of a non-corporate Shareholder) a trade, profession or vocation in the UK
through a branch or agency and has used, held or acquired the New Ordinary Shares
for the purposes of such trade, profession or vocation or such branch or agency; or

(B)

(in the case of a corporate Shareholder) a trade in the UK through a permanent
establishment and has used, held or acquired the New Ordinary Shares in or for the
purposes of the trade or for the purposes of such permanent establishment.

However, a Shareholder who is an individual and who is only temporarily resident outside
the UK for UK tax purposes at the date of a disposal of the New Ordinary Shares may be
liable to UK tax on chargeable gains on becoming resident or ordinarily resident in the UK
again, in respect of disposals made while he was temporarily resident outside the UK,
subject to any available exemption or relief.
1.2

New Ordinary Shares acquired pursuant to the Placing
The issue of New Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Placing will not constitute a
reorganisation of share capital for the purposes of the taxation of chargeable gains.
Accordingly, any such New Ordinary Shares will be treated as the acquisition of a new asset
and will be subject to the normal rules on indexation, pooling and taper relief.

2.

DIVIDENDS

Lupus Capital is not currently required to withhold at source any amount in respect of UK tax
from any dividend it pays.
An individual Shareholder will be entitled to a tax credit in respect of any dividend received from
Lupus Capital and will be taxable on the aggregate of the dividend received and the tax credit
(the “gross dividend”). The value of the tax credit is currently one ninth of the dividend received
(or 10 per cent. of the gross dividend). The gross dividend is treated as the top slice of the
individual’s income. The tax credit will, however, be treated as discharging the individual’s liability
to income tax in respect of the gross dividend, unless and except to the extent that the gross
dividend falls above the threshold for the higher rate of income tax. In such a case the individual’s
tax liability will, to that extent, be calculated at the higher rate on dividends (currently 32.5 per
cent.), applied to the gross dividend, but will be reduced by the related tax credit. So, for example,
a dividend of £90 will carry a tax credit of £10 and the income tax payable on the dividend by
an individual liable to income tax at the higher rate in respect of the whole amount of the
dividend would be £32.50 (32.5 per cent. of £100), leaving a net tax charge of £22.50 after
subtracting the tax credit of £10.
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Subject to certain exceptions, a Shareholder which is a company is not taxable on a dividend paid
by Lupus Capital and received by that Shareholder and is not generally able to claim payment of
the tax credit attaching to the dividend.
There will be no payment of the tax credit or any part of it to an individual whose liability to
income tax on the gross dividend is less than the related tax credit and Shareholders who are not
liable to UK tax on dividends, including pension funds and charities, will not be entitled to claim
any payment of the tax credit in respect of dividends paid by Lupus Capital.
In most cases, a Shareholder who is not resident in the UK for UK tax purposes will not be
entitled to claim any part of a tax credit in respect of a dividend received from Lupus Capital.
Shareholders who are not resident in the UK for UK tax purposes should consult their own tax
advisers concerning their liability to tax on dividends received, their entitlement to claim any part
of the tax credit, and, if so entitled, the procedure for doing so.

3.

STAMP DUTY AND STAMP DUTY RESERVE TAX (“SDRT”)

No liability to stamp duty or SDRT will generally arise on the allotment and issue of New Ordinary
Shares by Lupus Capital pursuant to the Placing and the Open Offer, except in the case of New
Ordinary Shares issued to issuers of depositary receipts or providers of clearance services (as to
which see the description provided below). Lupus Capital will not be paying any stamp duty or
SDRT that may so arise (in particular, pursuant to the provisions of sections 67, 70, 93 or 96 of the
Finance Act 1986).
Any subsequent dealings in New Ordinary Shares will normally be subject to stamp duty or SDRT.
The transfer on sale of New Ordinary Shares will usually be liable to ad valorem stamp duty, at
the rate of 0.5 per cent. (rounded up, if necessary, to the next multiple of £5) of the amount or
value of the consideration paid. Stamp duty will normally be paid by the purchaser or transferee
of the New Ordinary Shares. An unconditional agreement to transfer New Ordinary Shares will
normally give rise to a charge to SDRT, at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the
consideration payable for such shares, but such liability will be cancelled, or any SDRT paid
refunded, if the agreement is completed by a duly stamped instrument of transfer within six years
of the date of the agreement or, if the agreement was conditional, the date on which the
agreement became unconditional. Any SDRT imposed will in principle be imposed on the
purchaser or transferee of the New Ordinary Shares.
Under the CREST system for paperless share transfers, no stamp duty or SDRT will arise on a
transfer of shares into the system, unless the transfer into CREST is itself for consideration in
money or money’s worth, in which case a liability to SDRT will arise, usually at the rate of 0.5 per
cent. of the amount or value of consideration given. Transfers of shares within CREST are generally
liable to SDRT (at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the consideration payable)
rather than stamp duty, and SDRT on relevant transactions settled within the system or reported
through it for regulatory purposes will be collected and accounted for to H.M. Revenue & Customs
by CRESTCo.
Where New Ordinary Shares are issued or transferred to issuers of depositary receipts or providers
of clearance services (or their nominees or agents), stamp duty or SDRT (as appropriate) may be
payable (in the case of stamp duty) at the rate of 1.5 per cent. (rounded up, if necessary, to the
next multiple of £5) of the amount or value of the consideration provided or (in the case of
SDRT) at the rate of 1.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the consideration payable (if in
money or money’s worth) or the value of the New Ordinary Shares. Where such stamp duty or
SDRT is payable, the charge will be passed on to the Shareholder to whom the New Ordinary
Shares would otherwise have been issued or transferred.
The above statements are intended to be a general guide to the current stamp duty and SDRT
position and are not comprehensive. In particular, certain categories of person may, although not
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primarily liable for the tax, be required to make a notification in respect of it and account for it;
special rules apply to agreements made by market intermediaries and to certain sale and
repurchase and stock borrowing arrangements; and agreements to transfer shares to charities will
not give rise to stamp duty or SDRT.

4.

TAX TREATMENT OF AIM SHARES

Shares which trade on AIM are deemed to be unlisted for certain UK tax purposes. Accordingly,
individuals who hold Ordinary Shares may be eligible to benefit from business property relief for
inheritance tax purposes and/or business asset taper relief for capital gains tax purposes in
circumstances where they might otherwise not be eligible. Shareholders should however note that
business property relief would cease to be available if the Ordinary Shares were, in the future to
be traded on a “recognised stock exchange” (such as the London Stock Exchange) and that the
treatment of the Ordinary Shares for taper relief purposes would be affected if the Ordinary Shares
or any other securities of Lupus Capital traded on such an exchange.

5.

INDIVIDUAL SAVINGS ACCOUNTS (ISAS) AND PERSONAL EQUITY PLANS
(PEPS)

As shares which trade on AIM are deemed to be unlisted for certain UK tax purposes, the Ordinary
Shares will not be eligible to be held in the stocks and shares component of an ISA or an existing
PEP.
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PART 12
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

1.1

Lupus Capital and the Directors, whose names appear in Part 4 of this document, accept
responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of their knowledge
(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained
in this document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect
the import of such information.

2.

INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

2.1

Lupus Capital was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 1 April 1993 under
the Companies Act as a private company with limited liability with the name Ichnolite
Limited and with registered number 02806007. It changed its name to Dean & Bowes
(Homes) Limited on 24 May 1993 and was re-registered as a public limited company on
7 March 1995. Lupus Capital changed its name to Dean Corporation Plc on 13 April 1995
and on 8 December 1998 it changed its name to Environmental Property Services Plc. On
4 June 1999 Lupus Capital changed its name to Lupus Capital Plc.

2.2

The principal legislation under which Lupus Capital operates is the Companies Act and
regulations made under the Companies Act.

2.3

The registered office of Lupus Capital and the business address of the Directors is at
Crusader House, 145-157 St John Street, London, EC1 4RU.

2.4

Lupus Capital is the holding company of the Lupus Capital Group.
The principal operating subsidiaries of Lupus Capital are:

Name of subsidiary

Gall Thomson
Environmental Ltd
Schlegel Acquisition
Holdings Ltd

Country of
residence

% of issued share
capital held by
Lupus Capital

UK

100

UK

100

Principal activities

Supplier of marine breakaway
couplings
Holding company for the Schlegel
Building Products business

3.

SHARE CAPITAL OF LUPUS CAPITAL

3.1

The following table sets out the authorised, issued and fully paid share capital of Lupus
Capital as at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this
document) and as it is expected to be immediately following the Placing and Open Offer,
assuming they acquire their entire Basic Entitlement:
As at
23 March 2007
Number

Authorised Ordinary Shares
Issued and fully paid Ordinary Shares

3.2

825,000,000
616,559,778

Nominal
Value (£)

Following Placing and
Open Offer
Number

4,125,000 1,800,000,000
3,083,000 1,372,115,334

Nominal
Value (£)

9,000,000
6,860,577

In the three years ended 31 December 2004, 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2006
and for the period between 1 January 2007 and 23 March 2007 (the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this document) the following changes have occurred to Lupus
Capital’s issued share capital:
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(a)

On 26 March 2004, Lupus Capital allotted 47,539,257 Ordinary Shares at
17.25 pence per Ordinary Share to the LESOT under the terms of the EMI Scheme;

(b)

On 16 February 2004, Lupus Capital allotted 17,283,944 Ordinary Shares at 9 pence
per Ordinary Share to Greg Hutchings as part of his investment in Lupus Capital on
being appointed as Executive Chairman of Lupus Capital;

(c)

Between 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006, 378,863,492 Ordinary Shares were
issued. Of this number, 378,571,429 Ordinary Shares were issued at 14 pence per
Ordinary Share in connection with the placing and open offer which took place to
fund the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products whilst 158,730 Ordinary Shares
and 133,333 Ordinary Shares were issued to Mr Jackson and Mr Tate respectively as
directors’ fees.

No discounts or other special terms have been granted in respect of the issues of shares,
and all of the shares are fully paid;
3.3

3.4

Save as disclosed above and in paragraph 3.5 below:
3.3.1

no shares or loan capital of Lupus Capital or its subsidiaries have been issued or
agreed to be issued or are proposed to be issued fully or partly paid, either for cash
or for a consideration other than cash;

3.3.2

no shares or loan capital of Lupus Capital or its subsidiaries are under option or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under option; and

3.3.3

no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms have been granted by
Lupus Capital or its subsidiaries in connection with the issue or sale of any of its
share or loan capital.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital held on 29 March 2006 the following
resolutions were passed:
3.4.1

an ordinary resolution authorising Lupus Capital to increase its authorised share
capital by 325,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.5p each, an increase of 65 per cent.

3.4.2

an ordinary resolution the effect of which was that the Directors were generally and
unconditionally authorised in substitution for all subsisting authorities to exercise all
powers of Lupus Capital to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of section 80
of the Companies Act) up to an aggregate amount of 378,571,429 Ordinary Shares
(£1,892,857.145 nominal value) in connection with the open offer and placing that took
place to finance the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products; and otherwise up to an
aggregate of 208,732,285 Ordinary Shares (£1,093,661.425 nominal value) provided that
this authority shall expire (unless previously varied, revoked or renewed by Lupus Capital
in general meeting) on 29 March 2011, save that Lupus Capital may before such expiry
make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be
allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of
such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired;

3.4.3

a special resolution authorising the Directors pursuant to section 95 of the
Companies Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 94 of the
Companies Act) of Lupus Capital for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the
ordinary resolution set out in paragraph 3.4.2 above as if section 89(1) of the
Companies Act did not apply to such allotments provided that this power is limited
to the allotment of equity securities:
3.4.2.1 in connection with a rights issue, open offer or any other pre-emptive offer
in favour of ordinary shareholders (excluding any shareholder holding shares
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as treasury shares) and in favour of holders (excluding any holder holding
shares as treasury shares) of any other class of equity security in accordance
with the rights attached to such class where the equity securities respectively
attributable to the interests of such persons on a fixed record date are
proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of equity
securities held by them or are otherwise allotted in accordance with the
rights attaching to such equity securities (subject in either case to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or
expedient to deal with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems
arising in any overseas territory, the requirements of any regulatory body or
stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever);
3.4.2.2 in connection with the placing and the open offer, the proceeds from which
were used to fund the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products; and
3.4.2.3 otherwise than pursuant to sub paragraphs 3.4.2.1 and 3.4.2.2 above, up to
an aggregate nominal amount of £1,027,112.86;
such power to expire at the conclusion of the AGM of Lupus Capital to be held in
2007.
3.4.3

3.5

a special resolution approving Lupus Capital’s application for the cancellation of the
listing of its existing shareholding on the Official List and the admission of its
enlarged share capital to trading on AIM.

Details of the Resolutions to be proposed at the EGM in connection with the Transaction
are as follows:
Resolution 1
An ordinary resolution is being proposed to approve the Acquisition by way of the acquisition
by Lupus Capital, through the Purchasing Subsidiaries, of all the issued and outstanding shares
of capital stock of the Transferred Subsidiaries pursuant to and upon the terms of a conditional
agreement dated 19 March 2007, entered into between The Laird Group PLC and the
Purchasing Subsidiaries. To be passed, an ordinary resolution requires a simple majority of the
votes cast. Resolution 1 is conditional on the passing of Resolutions 2, 3, 4 and 5.
Resolution 2
Lupus Capital may not increase its authorised share capital unless authorised by its members
under the Companies Act. An ordinary resolution is being proposed to approve an increase
of Lupus Capital’s authorised share capital by 975,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.5 pence each,
an increase of 118.2 per cent. If Resolution 2 is approved, the authorised share capital of
Lupus Capital would be increased to 1,800,000,000 Ordinary Shares. To be passed, an
ordinary resolution requires a simple majority of the votes cast. Resolution 2 is conditional
on the passing of Resolutions 3, 4 and 5. The authorised share capital of Lupus Capital is
being increased to enable allotment of the New Ordinary Shares and to enable the allotment
of further Ordinary Shares in the future.
Resolutions 3 and 4
The Directors may not allot new shares in Lupus Capital unless authorised by its members
under the Companies Act. The Directors were authorised generally at the extraordinary
general meeting on 29 March 2006 to allot up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£1,093,661.43 and Resolution 3 seeks to substitute this authority with a new authority to
allot. If approved, the new authority will be effective for five years until 19 April 2012 and
will enable the Directors to allot new shares as follows:
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(i)

up to a maximum of 755,555,556 Ordinary Shares (£3,777,777.78 nominal value) in
connection with the Transaction; and

(ii)

otherwise up to 427,884,666 Ordinary Shares (£2,139,423.33 nominal value),
approximately equal to 31.2 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital of Lupus Capital.

The Directors are seeking to take the general authority in Resolution 3, which would
otherwise be obtained at the next Annual General Meeting, in order to reflect the new
Enlarged Share Capital following the Transaction. Resolution 3 is conditional on the passing
of Resolutions 2, 4 and 5.
If the Directors wish to use the general authority to allot shares for cash conferred on them
under Resolution 3, the Companies Act states that the new shares must be offered first to
Existing Shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings. An offer of this type is
called a “rights issue” or an “open offer” and the shareholder’s entitlement to be offered the
new shares is known as a “pre-emption right”.
For legal, regulatory and practical reasons, however, it might not be possible for new shares
allotted by means of a rights issue or open offer to be offered to certain shareholders,
particularly those resident overseas. Further, it might in some circumstances be in Lupus
Capital’s interests for the Directors to be able to allot some shares for cash without having
to offer them first to existing shareholders. To enable this to be done shareholders must first
waive their pre-emption rights. Pre-emption rights were disapplied at the extraordinary
general meeting on 29 March 2006 in relation to the placing and open offer in connection
with the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products and otherwise generally, up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £1,027,112.86, and this authority expires at the conclusion of
Lupus Capital’s AGM in 2007.
Accordingly, Resolution 4 seeks to modify the pre-emption rights of the Shareholders by way
of special resolution, as follows:
l

l

Resolution 4 seeks to waive the Existing Shareholders’ pre-emption rights for the
purpose of the Placing and Open Offer of 755,555,556 New Ordinary Shares and
otherwise generally, up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £343,028.83
which is equivalent to approximately 5 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital of
Lupus Capital expected to be in issue immediately after Completion of the Placing
and Open Offer. If granted, this authority will enable the Directors to allot new
shares for cash without further reference to Shareholders; and
Sub-paragraph (i) of Resolution 4 seeks authority for the Directors to make
arrangements which may be necessary to deal with any legal, regulatory or practical
problems arising from a rights issue or open offer.

To be passed, a special resolution requires at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast. The
proposed authority will, if granted, expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting
of Lupus Capital to be held in 2008. Resolution 4 is conditional on the passing of
Resolutions 2, 3 and 5.
Resolution 5
As the Acquisition is classified as a reverse take-over under the AIM Rules for Companies,
a special resolution is being proposed to approve the application by Lupus Capital for the
cancellation of the Existing Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM and the admission of the
Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM. To be passed, a special resolution requires at least
75 per cent. of the votes cast. This Resolution is conditional on Resolutions 2, 3 and 4
being passed.
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4.

SUMMARY OF THE MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Memorandum of Association of Lupus Capital provides that its principal object is to carry on
business of a holding company and a general commercial company. The objects of Lupus Capital
are set out in full in Clause 4 of its Memorandum of Association which is available for inspection
as described in Section 20 below.
The Articles of Lupus Capital which were adopted by special resolution of Lupus Capital dated
6 March 1995 and amended by special resolution dated 14 November 1997 contain, inter alia,
provisions to the following effect:
4.1

Modification of rights
4.1.1 Whenever the capital of Lupus Capital is divided into different classes of shares or
groups, the special rights attached to any class or group may be modified or
abrogated, unless otherwise provided by the terms of the issue of the shares of that
class or group, either with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters of
the issued shares of that class or group or with the sanction of any extraordinary
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders (but not otherwise).
The consent or resolution shall be binding upon all the holders of shares of the
class or group.
4.1.2

The special rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or class or group of
shares issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise expressly
provided by the conditions of issue, be deemed to be modified by the creation or
issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

4.2

Shares
4.2.1 Subject to the provisions of the Statutes and restrictions contained in Lupus Capital’s
Articles and to any direction to the contrary given by Lupus Capital in general
meeting, the Directors may allot, grant options over, or otherwise dispose of shares
or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares to such persons and
on such terms as they think fit, but no share shall be issued at a discount.

4.3

Uncertified shares
4.3.1 Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and permitted by the Regulations, no
person shall be entitled to receive a certificate in respect of any share for so long
as the title to that share is evidenced otherwise than by a certificate and for so long
as transfers of that share may be made otherwise than by a written instrument by
virtue of the Regulations.
4.3.2

4.4

Conversion of Certified Shares into Uncertified Shares, and vice versa, may be made
in such manner as the Directors may think fit.

Transfer of shares
4.41
A member may transfer all or any of his Uncertified Shares in accordance with and
subject to the Regulations and facilities and the requirements of the Relevant System
concerned and, subject thereto, in accordance with any arrangements made by the
Directors (pursuant to paragraph 4.3.1 above).
4.4.2

A member may transfer all or any of his Certified Shares by instrument of transfer
in writing in any usual form or in another form approved by the Directors, and the
instrument shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and, in the case of a
partly paid share, by the transferee.
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4.5

Untraced shareholders
4.5.1 Lupus Capital may sell (in such manner and for such price as the Directors think
fit) the shares of a member or the shares to which a person is entitled by virtue of
transmission on death or bankruptcy if:
4.5.1.1 during the period of 12 years prior to the date of the publication of the
advertisements referred to in paragraph 4.5.1.2 below (or, if published on
different dates, the first date), being a period during which at least three
dividends have been payable, all warrants and cheques in respect of the shares
in question sent in the manner authorised by these Articles have remained
uncashed; and
4.5.1.2 Lupus Capital on or after expiry of the period of 12 years has inserted
advertisements in both a national daily newspaper and a newspaper
circulating in the area in which the last known address of the member or the
address at which service of notices may be effected is located, giving notice
of its intention to sell the shares and has informed the London Stock
Exchange of such intention; and
4.5.1.3 during the period of 12 years and the period of three months following
publication of the advertisements, or following the later publication of
two advertisements are published on different dates, Lupus Capital
received no indication either of the whereabouts or of the existence of
member or person; and

the
the
has
the

4.5.1.4 notice has been given to the London Stock Exchange of its intention to make
the sale.
4.6

Increase of capital
4.6.1 Lupus Capital in general meeting may by ordinary resolution increase its capital by
such sum, to be divided into shares of such amounts, as the resolution prescribes.

4.7

Purchase of own shares
4.7.1 In accordance with the provisions of the Statutes, Lupus Capital may purchase its
own shares (including any redeemable shares).

4.8

Alteration of capital:
4.8.1 Lupus Capital may by ordinary resolution
4.8.1.1 consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger
amount than its existing shares;
4.8.1.2 cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not
been taken, or agreed to be taken, by any person, and diminish the amount
of its capital by the nominal amount of the shares cancelled, subject to the
provisions of sections 146-149 of the Companies Act; and
4.8.1.3 sub-divide all or any of its shares of smaller amount than is fixed by the
Memorandum of Association and the resolution may determine that, as between
the holders of the shares resulting from the sub-division, one or more of the
shares may have any such preferred or other special rights over, or may have
such deferred rights, or be subject to any such restriction as compared with
the others as Lupus Capital has power to attach to unissued or new shares.
4.8.2

Lupus Capital may by special resolution reduce its share capital and any capital
redemption reserve fund or any share premium account in any manner subject to
any conditions and consents required by law.
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4.9

General meetings
4.9.1 A general meeting shall be held in each year at such time (within a period of not
more than 15 months after the holding of the last preceding general meeting) and
place as may be determined by the Directors. The general meetings referred to in
this paragraph shall be called annual general meetings. All general meetings other
than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.
4.9.2

The Directors may convene an extraordinary general meeting whenever they think
fit. On the requisition of members in accordance with the Statutes, the Directors
shall convene an extraordinary general meeting. Whenever the Directors convene an
extraordinary general meeting on the requisition of members, they shall convene it
for a date not more than 6 weeks after the date when the requisition is deposited
at the registered office of Lupus Capital (unless the requisitions consent in writing
to a later date being fixed).

4.10 Notice of general meetings
4.10.1 Unless consent to short notice is obtained, in the case of the annual general meeting
or of a meeting convened to pass a special resolution at least 21 clear days’ notice
and in other cases at least 14 days’ notice must be given (exclusive in each case of
the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served and of the day for
which the notice is given). The notice shall specify the place, the day and the hour
of the meeting (and in the case of an annual general meeting shall specify the
meeting as such) and state with reasonable prominence that a member entitled to
attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy, who need not also be a member, to
attend and vote instead of him. In the case of special business, the notice must
specify the general nature of the business (and, in the case of a meeting convened
for passing a special or extraordinary resolution, the intention to propose the
resolution as a special or extraordinary resolution as the case may be).
4.11 Proceedings at general meetings
4.11.1 All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an extraordinary general
meeting, and also all business that is transacted at an annual general meeting, with
the exception of declaring dividends, the reading and consideration and adoption of
the accounts and balance sheets and the ordinary report of the Directors and auditors
of Lupus Capital and other documents required to be annexed to the balance sheet,
the re-election of Directors retiring, the voting of remuneration or extra remuneration
to the Directors, the appointment of and the fixing of the remuneration of the
auditors of Lupus Capital and the grant, renewal, limitation, extension or variation of
any authority of or to the Board, under section 80 of the Act, to allot securities.
4.11.2 No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present
when the meeting proceeds to business. Except as otherwise provided, two members
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum for all purposes.
4.11.3 At a general meeting a resolution put to the vote shall be decided on a show of
hands unless, before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands, a poll
is demanded by the chairman or by at least three members present in person or by
proxy and entitled to vote or by a member or members entitled to vote and holding
or representing by proxy at least one-tenth part of the total voting rights of all the
members having the right to vote at the meeting or by a member or members
holding shares conferring a right to vote at the meeting on which an aggregate sum
has been paid in equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all
the shares conferring that right. Unless a poll is demanded as above, a declaration
by the chairman that a resolution has been carried, or carried unanimously, or by a
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particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute book shall be
conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the
votes recorded in favour or against the resolution.
4.12 Votes of members
4.12.1 Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any shares, on
a show of hands every member who is present shall have one vote and on a poll
every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every
share of which he is the holder.
4.12.2 If a member, or a person appearing to be interested in shares held by a member,
has been duly served with a notice under section 212 of the Companies Act 1985
and is in default for the prescribed period in supplying to Lupus Capital the required
information, the Directors may at any time direct that, in respect of the shares in
relation to which the default occurred, the member is not entitled to vote.
4.13 Directors
4.13.1 Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution, the number of Directors shall
not be subject to any maximum but must not be less than two.
4.13.2 The Directors shall be paid out of funds of Lupus Capital by way of remuneration
for their services such sums as Lupus Capital by ordinary resolution determines.
4.13.3 Subject to the provisions of the Articles, Lupus Capital may by ordinary resolution
elect a person to be a Director.
4.13.4 No shareholding qualification for Directors is required.
4.13.5 Each Director may attend and speak at any general meeting of Lupus Capital.
4.13.6 A Director may hold any other office or place of profit with Lupus Capital (except
that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director for such period and upon
such terms as the Board determines, and may be paid such extra remuneration for it.
4.13.7 A Director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for Lupus Capital
(otherwise than as an auditor) and he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration
for professional services as if he were not a Director.
4.13.8 A Director may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested
in, a company promoted by Lupus Capital or in which Lupus Capital is interested,
and shall not be liable to account to Lupus Capital or the members for any
remuneration, profit or other benefit received by him as a director or officer of or
from his interest in that company. The Board may cause the voting power conferred
by the shares in another company to be held or owned by Lupus Capital to be
exercised in such manner as it thinks fit.
4.13.9 Subject to statute and to the following two paragraphs, no Director shall be disqualified
by his office from contracting with Lupus Capital, either with regard to his tenure of
any office or place of profit or as vendor or purchaser or in any other manner. No
contract or arrangement in which a Director is interested shall be liable to be avoided.
The Director shall not be liable to account to Lupus Capital or the members for any
remuneration, profit of other benefits realised by the contract or arrangement by reason
of his holding that office or of the resulting fiduciary relationship.
4.13.10 A Director who, to his knowledge is interested, whether directly or indirectly, in a
contract or arrangement or proposed contract or arrangement with Lupus Capital
must declare the nature of his interest at the meeting of the Board at which the
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question of entering into the contract or arrangement is first taken into
consideration, if he knows his interest then exists or, in any other case, at the first
meeting of the Board after he knows that he is or has become interested.
4.13.11 A general notice to the Board given by a Director to the effect that he is a member
of a specified company or firm and is to be regarded as interested in any contract
or arrangement which may after the date of the notice be made with Lupus Capital
or firm shall be a sufficient declaration of his interest in relation any contract or
arrangement made with Lupus Capital or firm.
4.13.12 Except as otherwise provided in the Articles, a Director must not vote on (or be
counted in the quorum in respect of) any resolution of the Board concerning a
contract or arrangement or other proposal in which he is to his knowledge, directly
or indirectly, materially interested. If he does, his vote shall not be counted.
4.14 Power of Directors
4.14.1 The business of Lupus Capital shall be managed by the Directors who may exercise
all such powers of Lupus Capital as are not by the Statutes or by the Articles
required to be exercised by Lupus Capital in general meeting, but subject to any
regulation of the Articles, to the provisions of the Statutes, and to such regulations,
which are not inconsistent with those regulations or provisions, as may be
prescribed by extraordinary resolution of Lupus Capital in general meeting.
4.14.2 No regulation made by Lupus Capital in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act
of the Directors which would have been valid if the regulation had not been made.
4.15 Borrowing
4.15.1 The Directors may exercise all the powers of Lupus Capital to borrow money, and
to mortgage or charge all or any part of its undertaking, property and assets,
including its uncalled capital and, subject to the Statutes, to issue debentures and
other securities, whether outright or as collateral security, for any debt, liability or
obligations of Lupus Capital or of any third party.
4.15.2 The Board must restrict the borrowings of Lupus Capital and exercise all voting and
other rights or powers of control exercisable by Lupus Capital in relation to its
subsidiaries so as to secure (but as regards subsidiaries only in so far as, by the
exercise of the rights or power of control, the Board can secure) that the aggregate
principal amount outstanding of all borrowings by the Lupus Capital Group
(exclusive of borrowings owing by one member of the Lupus Capital Group to
another member) does not, without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution,
exceed the greater of:
4.15.2.1

£2,000,000; or

4.15.2.2

an amount equal to three times the aggregate of the amount paid up or
credited as paid up on the issued share capital of Lupus Capital and the
amount standing to the credit of the reserves (including any share
premium account, capital redemption reserve and credit balance on profit
and loss account all as shown by the latest audited balance sheet but after
deducing any debit balance on profit and loss account (except to the
extent that the deduction has already been made) and making adjustments
to reflect any variation in the amount of the paid up share capital, share
premium account or capital redemption reserve since the date of the
audited balance sheet.
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4.15.2.3

A certificate or report by the auditors of Lupus Capital as to the amount
of the adjusted capital and reserves or the amount of any borrowings or
to the effect that the limit imposed by the paragraph above has not been
or will not be exceeded at any particular time or times shall be conclusive
for the purposes of the paragraph above.

4.16 Executive Directors
4.16.1 The Directors may appoint one or more of their number to an executive office
including the office of chairman, vice-chairman, managing Director, joint managing
Director, assistant managing Director or manager or any other salaried office for such
period and on such terms as they think fit.
4.16.2 A Director holding office pursuant to the paragraph above shall receive such
remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission or participation in profits, or
partly in one way and partly in another) as the Directors determine. The
remuneration shall, unless otherwise agreed, be additional to such remuneration (if
any) as is payable to him as a Director.
4.16.3 The Directors may entrust to and confer upon a Director holding executive office
any of the powers exercisable by them as Directors upon such terms and conditions
and with such restrictions as they think fit, and either collaterally with or to the
exclusion of their own powers, and may revoke, withdraw or vary any of the
powers.
4.17 Rotation of Directors
4.17.1 At every annual general meeting one-third of the other Directors or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third
shall retire from office. A Director retiring at a meeting shall retain office until the
close of the meeting.
4.17.2 The Directors to retire on each occasion shall be those who have been longer in
office since their last election but, as between persons who became or were reelected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
4.17.3 A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
4.17.4 Lupus Capital in general meeting may increase or reduce the number of Directors and
may determine in what rotation the increased or reduced number is to go out of office.
4.17.5 Lupus Capital may, by ordinary resolution of which special notice has been given in
accordance with section 379 of the Companies Act, remove any Director (including
a managing Director or other executive Director, but without prejudice to any claim
for damages under any contract) before the expiration of his period of office and
may by an ordinary resolution appoint another person in his place.
4.18 Proceedings
4.18.1 The Directors may meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise
regulate their meetings as they think fit. Questions arising at any meeting shall be
determined by a majority of votes and in case of an equality of votes the chairman
shall have a second or casting vote. A Director may at any time, and the Secretary
on the requisition of a Director shall, summon a Board meeting.
4.18.2 The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Directors may be
fixed by the Directors and, unless fixed at any other number, shall be two.
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4.18.3 A meeting of the Directors at which a quorum is present shall be competent to
exercise all powers and discretions exercisable by the Directors.
4.18.4 The Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such
number or members of their body as they think fit and may revoke a delegation and
discharge a committee in whole or in part. A committee shall in the exercise of the
powers delegated to it to conform to any regulations that are imposed by the
Directors.
4.18.5 A resolution in writing, signed by all or a majority of the Directors entitled to notice
of a meeting of the Directors or by all of the members of a committee, shall be as
valid as if it had been passed at a Board meeting or a meeting of the committee
duly called and constituted. The resolution may consist of several documents in the
like form each signed by one or more of the Directors or members of the
committee.
4.18.6 The Directors shall cause minutes to be made in books provided for the purpose:
4.18.6.1

of all appointments of officers made by the Directors;

4.18.6.2

of the names of all the Directors present at each Board meeting and
meeting of a committee of Directors;

4.18.6.3

of all resolutions and proceedings at meetings of Lupus Capital and of any
class of members of Lupus Capital and of the Directors and of any
committee of Directors.

4.18.7 All actions done by any Board meeting, or meeting of a committee of Directors, or
by a person acting as a Director, shall as regards all persons dealing in good faith
with Lupus Capital, notwithstanding that there was some defect in the appointment
of any Director, or of the person acting as a Director, or that they or any of them
were disqualified, or had vacated office or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as
if each of them had been duly appointed, and was qualified and had continued to
be a Director and had been entitled to vote.
4.19 Secretary
4.19.1 The Secretary shall be appointed by the Directors at such remuneration and upon
such terms as they think fit. The Secretary may be removed by the Directors.
4.20 Dividends
4.20.1 The profits of Lupus Capital available for dividend and resolved to be distributed
shall be applied in the payment of dividends to the members in accordance with
their respective rights and priorities. Lupus Capital in general meeting may declare
dividends accordingly.
4.20.2 No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits of Lupus Capital (including
profits set aside to any reserve fund) or in excess of the amount recommended by the
Directors.
4.20.3 The Directors must transfer to share premium account as required by the Statutes
sums equal to the amount or value of any premiums at which any shares of Lupus
Capital are issued.
4.20.4 The Directors may pay such interim dividends as appear to them to be justified by
the profits of Lupus Capital. If the capital of Lupus Capital is divided into different
classes of shares the Directors may pay interim dividends in respect of those shares
which confer on the holders deferred or non-preferred rights as well as in respect
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of those shares which confer on the holders preferential or special rights with
regard to dividends.
4.21 Scrip dividends
4.21.1 The Directors may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution, offer any holders of
ordinary shares one or more of the following options:
4.21.1.1 instead of taking the net cash amount due to them in respect of all or any
part (to be determined by the Directors) of any dividend declared or
payable on any ordinary shares held by them, either to invest the cash in
subscribing for unissued ordinary shares, payable in full or by instalments,
or in paying up in full or by instalments any unpaid or partly paid ordinary
shares held by them; or
4.21.1.2 instead of taking the net cash amount due to them in respect of all or any
part (to be determined by the Directors) of any dividend declared or
payable on any ordinary shares held by them, to elect to receive new
ordinary shares credited as fully paid; or
4.21.1.3 to forego their entitlement to all or any part (to be determined by the
Directors) of any dividend declared or payable on any ordinary shares held
by them and to take instead fully paid bonus ordinary shares; or
4.21.1.4 any other option in respect of all or any part (to be determined by the
Directors) of any dividend on any ordinary shares held by them as the
Directors determine.
4.22 Reserves
4.22.1 The Directors may, before recommending any dividend, set aside out of the profits
of Lupus Capital such sums as they think proper as a reserve which shall, at the
discretion of the Directors, be applicable for any purpose to which the profits of
Lupus Capital may be properly applied. Pending application the sum reserved may
either be employed in the business of Lupus Capital or be invested in such
investments (other than shares of Lupus Capital) as the Directors think fit.
4.23 Capitalisation of profits and reserves
4.23.1 Subject to section 80 and Part VIII of the Companies Act, Lupus Capital in general
meeting may, upon the recommendation of the Directors, resolve that it is desirable
to capitalise an amount standing to the credit of any of Lupus Capital’s reserve
accounts or to the credit of the profit and loss account or otherwise available for
distribution, and accordingly that it is set free for distribution among the members
who would have been entitled to it if distributed by way of dividend and in the
same proportions on condition that it is not paid in cash but is applied either in or
towards paying up any amount unpaid on shares held by the members or paying up
in full unissued shares or Debentures of Lupus Capital to be allotted and distributed,
credited as fully paid up, to and among those members in those proportions, or
partly in the one way and partly in the other. The Directors shall give effect to the
resolution.
4.24 Notices
4.24.1 Any notice or document may be served by Lupus Capital on any member either
personally or by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to him at
his registered address as appearing in the register of members, A member is entitled
to receive notices from Lupus Capital notwithstanding that his registered address as
appearing in the register of members is outside the United Kingdom. In the case of
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joint holders of a share, notices shall be given to that one of the joint holders whose
name stands first in the register of members and notice given to him shall be
sufficient notice to all the joint holders.
4.24.2 Any notice or other document, if served by post, shall be deemed to have been
served at the expiration of 24 hours after the time when the letter containing it is
posted. In proving service it shall be sufficient to prove that the letter containing
the notice or document was properly addressed, stamped and posted.
4.24.3 If by reason of the suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United
Kingdom Lupus Capital is unable effectively to convene a general meeting by notice
sent through the post, it may be convened by notice advertised in at least two
leading daily newspapers with appropriate circulation, of which one is a leading
London daily newspaper. The notice shall be deemed to have been duly served on
all members entitled to it at noon on the day when the advertisement appears.
Lupus Capital shall send confirmatory copies of the notice by post if at least 48
hours prior to the meeting the posting of notices to addressees within the United
Kingdom again becomes practicable.
4.24.4 A notice required to be given by Lupus Capital to members and not expressly
provided for by the Articles shall be sufficiently given if given by advertisement. A
notice required to be or which may be given by advertisement shall be advertised
once in one national daily newspaper and shall be taken as given on the day on
which the advertisement appears.
4.25 Winding up
4.25.1 On a winding up of Lupus Capital, the balance of the assets available for
distribution, after deduction of any provision made under section 719 of the
Companies Act and subject to any special rights attaching to any class of shares, shall
be applied in repaying to the members of Lupus Capital the amounts paid up on
the shares held by them. Any surplus assets will belong to the holders of any
ordinary shares then in issue according to the numbers of shares held by them, or
if no ordinary shares are then in issue, to the holders of any unclassified shares then
in issue according to the numbers of shares held by them.
4.25.2 If Lupus Capital is wound up (whether the liquidation is voluntary, under
supervision or by the court) the liquidator may, with the authority of an
extraordinary resolution, divide among the members in specie or kind the whole or
any part of the assets of Lupus Capital, whether or not the assets consist of property
of one kind or of properties of different kinds. He may for that purpose set such
value as he deems fair upon any one or more class or classes of property and may
determine how the division is carried out as between the members or different
classes of members.
4.26 Indemnity
4.26.1 Except so far as the provisions of this paragraph are avoided by any provisions of
the Statutes, the Directors, executive Directors, auditors of Lupus Capital, Secretary
and other officers of Lupus Capital, and their respective executors or administrators,
shall to the extent permitted by the Statutes be indemnified out of the assets of
Lupus Capital against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices, unless
incurred through their own wilful neglect or default. None of them shall be
answerable for the acts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or for joining in
any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with
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whom any moneys or assets of Lupus Capital are lodged or deposited for safe
custody, or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any
moneys of Lupus Capital are placed out or invested, or for any other loss or damage
which happens in the execution of their offices, unless resulting from their own
wilful neglect or default. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the
Directors may purchase and maintain insurance at the expense of Lupus Capital for
the benefit of any director or other officer or auditor of Lupus Capital against any
liability which may attach to him or loss or expenditure which he may incur in
relation to anything done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done by
him as a director, officer or auditor.

5.

DIRECTORS OF LUPUS CAPITAL

5.1

The Directors and their functions are set out in Part 4 of this document. The Directors are:
5.1.1

Gregory Frederick Hutchings (age 60), Executive Chairman
Greg Hutchings joined Lupus Capital plc in February 2004 having acquired a
£2.14 million shareholding in order to develop an investment vehicle comprising the
best aspects of both public and private equity.
Previously he held the posts of Chief Executive or Chairman of Tomkins plc from
late 1983 until October 2000. Over the 17 year period to 30 April 2000 Tomkins’
annual profit before tax and exceptional items rose from £1.6 million to
£473.6 million with uninterrupted growth, year on year. Compound growth in
earnings per share over the period was around 26 per cent per annum with
dividends increasing at a similar rate. In the year to 30 April 2000 Tomkins' earnings
per share and dividends increased by 15 per cent.

5.1.2

Denis Joseph Mulhall (age 55), Executive Director
Denis Mulhall was appointed a director in February 2004. From 1988 to 1993 he
worked alongside Mr Hutchings at Tomkins plc. He left Tomkins to join Berisford plc,
firstly as Chief Financial Officer and then Chief Operating Officer, seeing the
transformation of the company from a shell to a market capitalisation of
£700 million. Most recently he was Chief Financial Officer at Oxford
GlycoSciences Plc.

5.1.3

Frederic Arthur Hoad (age 67), Senior Non-executive Director
Currently a non-executive director of a number of private companies and Aviva plc
subsidiaries. Before his retirement in 1996, he spent 28 years at Commercial Union,
where, among a number of senior positions, he was head of Corporate Finance and
head of Overseas Division finance and head of Private Equity Investment. He is the
senior non-executive director.

5.1.4

Michael Edward Wilson Jackson (age 57), Non-executive Director
Michael Jackson, who has a degree in Law from Cambridge University and is an FCA,
was Chairman of Sage Group plc until 2006, having been a director since 1983. His
other significant directorships and involvements are with Elderstreet Investments,
Planit Holdings, Computer Software Group, Netstore and MediaSurface. He is also the
Non-Executive Chairman of Party Gaming plc.

5.1.5

Roland Hillary Tate (age 49), Non executive Director
Roland Tate MA (Cantab) is Managing Director of Tiger Corporate Finance Ltd., an
independent corporate finance house which he formed in 2005 following a period
as Director of Corporate Finance at RMT, a regional independent firm of business
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advisers based in Newcastle. After several years working in the chemicals, oil and gas
sector, he spent eight years as an executive and director at three private equity
investment organisations and was appointed non-executive director of several
venture capital backed businesses. In 1995 he joined PricewaterhouseCoopers and
subsequently KPMG as a Corporate Finance Director, where he gained considerable
experience in mergers and acquisitions. He is a fellow of the Securities and
Investment Institute.
5.2

It is intended that following Completion, Greg Hutchings, Denis Mulhall, Frederic Hoad,
Michael Jackson and Roland Tate will all remain as Directors.

5.3

In addition to their directorships of Lupus Capital and, where applicable, Lupus Capital
subsidiaries, the Directors hold or have held the following directorships and are or were
members of the following partnerships within the past five years:
Current
directorships/partnerships

Previous
directorships/partnerships

Mr Hutchings

The Museum of London and of the
Port of London and Docklands

The Royal National Theatre
Royal National Theatre Enterprises
Limited

Mr Mulhall

RingProp Plc
RingProp Trading Limited
Matrix Tudor Street
Limited Partnerships

Oxford Glycosciences
Oxford Glycosciences (UK) Limited

Mr Hoad

Commercial Union Capital Ltd
Cube Airfinance Ltd
G N & Sons Ltd
Hoad & Co (Consultants) Ltd
Dorking Lawn Tennis and
Squash Club Ltd

Coal Developments (Queensland) Ltd
Commercial Union (BES)
Investment Management Ltd
Commercial Union Equipment Finance Ltd
Commercial Union Leasing Ltd

Mr. Jackson

Old Vicarage Nominees Limited
Elderstreet VCT PLC
Elderstreet Capital Partners
Nominees Limited
Netstore PLC
Computer Software Group plc
Royal Albert Hall Developments Limited
Mediasurface Europe Limited
Syncissue Limited
Burra Burra Distribution Ltd
Forsyth Whitehead & Associates
Limited
The Web Factory Birmingham Limited
Sky High plc
Mediasurface plc
Elderstreet General Partner
(Kinetique) Limited
Elderstreet Investments Limited
Elderstreet Private Equity Limited
Elderstreet Ballater Limited
Young Enterprise London Ltd
Snacktime Limited
RCM Technology Trust plc
Berkeley Scott Group plc
Pinco 1421 Limited

Steve Dudman Plant Limited
Travelstore.com Group plc
Medialoom Limited
Planit Employee Incentives Trustees
Limited
EU Smart Limited
Jobsin.co.uk Limited
Micromuse Limited
Retirement Villages Limited
Searchspace Group Limited
Sage (South Gosforth)
The Sage Group plc
Select Software Tools plc
Interbizz Financial Systems Limited
Planit Holdings Limited

Director
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5.4

Previous
directorships/partnerships

Current
directorships/partnerships

Director

Mr. Jackson
(continued)

Netstore (UK) Limited
Netstore Group Limited
Berkeley Scott Group plc
Computer Software Limited
Pinnacle Computer Systems Limited
Systems Team
Bristol Limited

Mr. Tate

Activaeon Limited
Tiger Corporate Finance Ltd

Marishal Thompson Group Limited

Subject to paragraph 5.5 to 5.8 of Part 12, none of the Directors has in the five years prior
to the date of this document:
5.4.1

had any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;

5.4.2

been declared bankrupt or been subject to any individual voluntary arrangement or
been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in his capacity as
member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies or member of
senior management of a company; or

5.4.3

been subject to any official public incrimination and/or sanctioned by any statutory
or regulatory authorities (including designated professional bodies) or been
disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the administrative, management
or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management or conduct
of the affairs of any company.

5.5

Select Software Tools plc, one of the companies of which Mr Jackson is a director, is
currently the subject of an administration order.

5.6

Commercial Union Equipment Limited, one of the companies of which Mr Hoad was
previously a director, was recently put into solvent liquidation

5.7

Ringprop plc, one of the companies of which Mr Mulhall is a director, was put into solvent
liquidation on 13 February 2007.

5.8

Ringprop Trading Ltd, one of the companies of which Mr Mulhall is a director, was put into
solvent liquidation on 30 August 2006.

5.9

The business address of each of the Directors is Crusader House, 145-157 St John Street,
London, EC1 4RU.

6.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND EMOLUMENTS

6.1

Executive Directors
Each of the executive Directors listed below entered into a service agreement with Lupus
Capital on the contract date, and is entitled to the annual remuneration, set out below.
Original
date of
appointment
as Director

Contract
date

Term

Notice
period

Mr Hutchings

16.02.04

16.02.04

Rolling

1 year

Mr Mulhall

23.02.04

23.02.04

Rolling

1 year

Executive
Director
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Maximum
contractual
termination
payment

1 year’s salary
and associated
contractual benefits
1 year’s salary
and associated
contractual benefits

Salary £

250,000

195,000

The service agreements are for an indefinite period, terminable by either party on not less
than twelve months’ written notice.
The service agreements contain clauses providing for garden leave and the payment of basic
salary and benefits in lieu of notice. Apart from the option on Lupus Capital to pay an
amount for compensation for loss of office in lieu of notice upon termination, there are no
contractual payments to be made on termination.
Each executive Director’s salary is fixed at the annual rate set out in the table above unless
some higher salary is agreed between the executive Director and the Board. In addition, the
executive Directors are entitled to participate from time to time in any bonus arrangements
which the Board determines to establish. As at 23 March 2007 (the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this document) there has been no increase in the salaries of the
executive Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2006, Mr Hutchings received a
bonus of £150,000, whilst Mr Mulhall received a bonus of £90,000. These bonuses are not
contractual entitlements, were one-off payments and are not necessarily repeatable.
Each of the executive Directors are entitled to out-of-pocket expenses and 25 working days’
holiday each year. Lupus Capital does not have a pension scheme which is applicable to the
employment of the executive Directors. Lupus Capital provides the executive Directors and
their dependents with membership of a private medical expenses arrangement. Lupus
Capital maintains and bears the cost of permanent health insurance cover and life assurance
cover for the executive Directors.
6.2

Non-Executive Directors
Each of the non-executive Directors is engaged under the terms of a letter of appointment
under which he is required to perform the usual duties of a non-executive director. The
letters of appointment contain confidentiality obligations.
Details of the principal terms of the letters of appointment for the non-executive Directors
are set out below.

Contractual
termination
payment

Period
served as
Director as at
31 December
2006

1 month

Accrued fees
and expenses

4 years
1 month

18,750

16.11.09

1 month

Accrued fees
and expenses

4 months

3,263

15.02.07

1 month

Accrued fees
and expenses

4 years
1 month

18,750

Original
date of
appointment
as Director

Expiry date
of current
letter of
appointment

Notice
period

Mr Hoad

28.11.02

15.02.07

Mr Jackson

17.11.06

Mr Tate

28.11.02

Non-Executive
Director

Annual
Fees £

6.3

Directors’ emoluments
The directors’ fees for Mr. Jackson and Mr. Tate will be paid in shares from November 2006.
The aggregate emoluments (including benefits in kind and pensions) paid or granted to the
Directors (executive and non-executive) in the year ended 31 December 2006 were
£656,281.

7.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND OTHER INTERESTS

7.1

Lupus Capital
The interests of each of the Directors and those of any person connected with them within
the meaning of section 346 of the Companies Act (each a “Connected Person”), all of which
are beneficial unless otherwise stated, in the share capital of Lupus Capital which (a) have
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been notified to Lupus Capital pursuant to section 324 or section 328 of the Companies Act
or (b) are required to be entered in the register maintained under section 325 of the
Companies Act or (c) are interests of Connected Persons which would, if the Connected
Person were a Director, be required to be disclosed under (a) or (b) above, insofar as the
latter are known to, or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by, that Director are
as at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this
document) and will, immediately following the Acquisition and Placing and the Open Offer
(assuming full allocation of the New Ordinary Shares), be as follows:
Following Admission(2)

As at 23 March 2007

Directors

Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

Hutchings(1)
Mulhall
Hoad
Jackson
Tate

Total

Number of
Ordinary
Shares

% of
ordinary
share capital

26,766,666
4,750,000
533,332
858,730
596,417

4.34
0.77
0.09
0.14
0.10

Options
and Awards

Number of
% of
ordinary
Enlarged
shares Share Capital

714,285(3) 37,473,332
–
6,650,000
–
533,332
–
858,730
–
596,417

2.73
0.48
0.04
0.06
0.04

Options
and Awards

714,285
–
–
–
–

5555 5555 5555 5555 5555 5555
33,505,145
5.43
714,285
46,111,811
3.36
714,285
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa
aaaa

(1)

Mr Hutchings and his family have also been allocated unconditionally under the Share Incentive Arrangements,
47,539,257 Ordinary Shares which are held by the LESOT. Please see the table in paragraph 9.1 of this Part 12
for details on these Ordinary Shares. Mr Hutchings has a non-beneficial interest in a futher 2,800,000 Ordinary
Shares and he has settled a further 2,100,000 Ordinary Shares into a trust for the benefit of his children.

(2)

These figures have been calculated on the basis that each director acquires all of the Open Offer Shares that
he has indicated he will apply for.

(3)

These options are granted under the EMI Scheme and the shares held by the LESOT are available to satisfy
any exercise of these options.

The interests of the Directors together represent approximately 5.43 per cent. of the issued
share capital of Lupus Capital as at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable date prior
to publication of this document). The interests of the Directors are expected to represent
approximately 3.36 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital of Lupus Capital after the Placing
and Open Offer.
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any interest in the share or loan capital
of Lupus Capital and there is no person to whom any capital of any member of the Lupus
Capital Group is under option or agreed unconditionally to be put under option.
7.2

No Director has, or has had, an interest in any transaction which is or was unusual in its
nature or conditions or which is or was significant to the business of the Enlarged Group and
which was effected by Lupus Capital in the current or immediately preceding financial year
or during an earlier financial year and which remains in any respect outstanding or
unperformed.

7.3

No outstanding loans or guarantees have been granted or provided to or for the benefit of
any Director by Lupus Capital or any of its subsidiaries.

7.4

There are no family relationships between any Directors or any persons disclosed under
section 7.1 above.

7.5

There are no potential conflicts of interest between any of the duties of the Directors to
Lupus Capital, the Lupus Capital Group or the Enlarged Group and their private interests
and/or other duties.

7.6

As described in paragraph 16 of Part 5, Mr Hutchings, Mr Mulhall and the LESOT have
undertaken not to dispose of any interest in the Existing Ordinary Shares or New Ordinary
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Shares in the manner described in that paragraph. Details of the number of Ordinary Shares
in respect of which those undertakings relate are as detailed in section 7.1 above (in
relation to Mr Hutchings and Mr Mulhall) and section 9.1 below (in relation to the LESOT).

8.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The only related party transaction entered into by Lupus Capital during the financial years ended
31 December 2003, 2004 and 2005 and during the period between 1 January 2006 and 6 March
2006 (the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document) was the subscription
by the LESOT on 26 March 2004 for 47,539,257 Ordinary Shares in cash at a price of 17.25p per
share using funds contributed to the LESOT by Lupus Capital under the Share Incentive
Arrangements.

9.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

9.1

Lupus Capital
As at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this
document), in so far as is known to Lupus Capital, the name of any person, other than a
Director, who, directly or indirectly, was and/or is anticipated to be interested in three per
cent. or more of Lupus Capital’s share capital, and the amount of such person’s interest and
their expected interest following Admission and assuming full allocation of the New
Ordinary Shares are set out below.
As at 23 March 2007

Shareholder

The LESOT
Polar Capital
RBS TC Equity Partnership
Artemis UK Smaller Companies Fund
Unicorn Asset Management
Cazenove Equity Income
Schroder Asset Management
Framlington Group
F & C Asset Management
Invesco Asset Management
(1)

Following Admission(1)

Number of
Ordinary
Shares

Percentage
of issued
share capital

Number of
Ordinary
Shares

Percentage
of Enlarged
Share Capital

63,385,676
23,571,428
22,800,000
20,000,000
36,206,308
41,621,234
35,714,285
35,604,078
35,633,433
27,030,269

10.28
3.82
3.70
3.24
5.87
6.75
5.79
5.77
5.78
4.38

63,385,676
32,999,999
31,920,000
28,000,000
50,688,831
58,269,728
49,999,999
49,845,709
49,886,806
37,842,377

4.62
2.41
2.33
2.04
3.69
4.25
3.64
3.63
3.64
2.76

These figures are calculated on the basis that the Shareholders apply to acquire their full Basic Entitlement
and do not apply for any Excess Shares.

9.2

The Shareholders referred to in section 9.1 above do not have different voting rights.

9.3

As at 23 March 2007 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this
document), Lupus Capital had not been notified, in accordance with Part VI of FSMA and
the FSA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (or section 198 of the Act, which was repealed
with effect from 20 January 2007), and was not otherwise aware of any interests (other than
those set out in paragraphs 7.1 and 9.1 above) directly or indirectly, in three per cent. or
more of the Existing Ordinary Shares.

9.4

Lupus Capital is not aware of any person who does or could following the Placing and the
Open Offer, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise control over Lupus Capital.

9.5

There are no arrangements or understandings with major shareholders, customers, suppliers
or others, pursuant to which a Director was selected as a Director.
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10.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board acknowledges the importance of the Principles set out in the Combined Code, as issued
in revised form in 2003 by the Financial Reporting Council, and have put in place a framework
for corporate governance which it believes is appropriate for Lupus Capital, as follows:
10.1 Board composition
Both Mr Hutchings and Mr Mulhall are engaged full-time on Lupus Capital’s business and
have no outside interests that conflict with their responsibilities to Lupus Capital.
Mr Hutchings is a governor of the Museum of London. Mr Mulhall is non-executive chairman
of RingProp plc.
Since 1 January 2005, Mr Hoad has been the senior non-executive Director on the Board.
Mr Jackson was appointed an additional non-executive Director from 17 November 2006. All
non-executive Directors are independent.
10.2 How the Board operates
The Board meets regularly and is responsible for strategy, performance and the framework
of internal controls. The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it
for decision. Responsibility for the day-to-day operational management of the Gall Thomson
and Schlegel Building Products businesses are delegated to the senior managers of the
respective businesses and it is intended that Laird Security Systems will be managed in a
similar manner.
To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors receive appropriate and timely
information. The Company Secretary distributes briefing papers to all Directors in advance
of the regular formal Board meetings. All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the corporate Company Secretary, which is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.
In addition, procedures are in place to enable the Directors to obtain independent
professional advice in the furtherance of their duties, if necessary, at Lupus Capital’s
expense.
10.3 Evaluation of performance and re-election of Directors
A procedure for carrying out formal internal evaluations of the Board has been discussed
and approved. All Directors are subject to re-election by the shareholders at Annual General
Meetings at a maximum interval of three years. The Articles of Association provide that
Directors appointed by the Board will be subject to re-election at the first AGM thereafter.
10.4 Board committees
The Board has formed an Audit and Corporate Governance Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nominations Committee, each comprised of all the independent, nonexecutive Directors of Lupus Capital. The existence of the committees ensures that time is
allocated on a formal basis to consider relevant issues.
10.5 Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee meets at least twice a year and considers
the appointment and fees of the external auditors and discusses the scope of the audit and
its findings. The Committee is also responsible for monitoring compliance with accounting
and legal requirements and for reviewing the annual and interim financial statements. This
committee is chaired by Mr Hoad.
The Committee also reviews any non-audit services provided by the auditors. Such services
have been, and are, limited to the provision of tax compliance work and tax advice. The
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Committee considers that such services can be provided most efficiently and economically
by the same firm as that conducting the audit. The Committee is satisfied that the provision
of such services does not in any way prejudice the objectivity and independence of the
auditors.
To date the Committee has not recommended the establishment of an internal audit
function. However following the completion of the Transaction, this policy will be kept
under active review.
10.6 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee considers and approves the remuneration and benefits (if any)
of the Directors.
It meets as and when required and is chaired by Mr Hoad.
10.7 Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee identifies and nominates candidates for the office of director
of Lupus Capital. It meets as and when required and is chaired by Mr Tate.
10.8 Internal control
The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the Lupus Capital Group’s system
of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness of those controls. The Board,
including the executive Directors, reviews the internal control framework on an ongoing
basis. Procedures have been developed to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or
disposition and to maintain proper accounting records to provide reliable financial
information both for internal use and for publication. In accordance with the guidance of
the Turnbull Committee on internal control, the procedures are regularly reviewed in the
light of an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage the significant risks faced by
Lupus Capital. The process has been in place for the full year under review and up to the
date of the approval of the annual report and financial statements. The procedures are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risk and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
10.9 Relations with shareholders
Communications with shareholders are given high priority and there is a regular dialogue
with institutional shareholders. The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate
with private and institutional investors and welcomes their participation. Lupus Capital has
set up a website www.lupuscapital.co.uk which shareholders, investors and other interested
parties may access. The website permits users to download copies of published financial
reports, press releases and Stock Exchange announcements.
10.10 Statement by Directors on compliance with the provisions of the Combined Code
Lupus Capital complies with the provisions of the Combined Code except as follows:
The Board, with only two executive Directors, having carefully considered the position,
structure and strategy of the Lupus Capital Group, believes that the nature of the Lupus
Capital Group with its focus on identifying, acquiring and reinvigorating businesses makes it
appropriate for the role of chairman to carry executive responsibility.

11.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

11.1 Lupus Capital
The following contracts are all of the contracts (not being contracts entered into in the
ordinary course of business) entered into by any member of the Lupus Capital Group (i)
within the two years immediately preceding the date of this document and are, or may be,
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material to the Lupus Capital Group; or (ii) at any time and contain any provision under
which any member of the Lupus Capital Group has any obligation or entitlement which is
or may be, material to the Lupus Capital Group as at the date of this document.
(A)

Placing Agreement
An agreement dated 26 March 2007 and made between Lupus Capital (1) and HSBC
(2) whereby, subject to the conditions stated below, HSBC, as agent for Lupus Capital,
has agreed to make the Open Offer to the Qualifying Shareholders and to use its
reasonable endeavours to procure placees to acquire New Ordinary Shares (other
than Open Offer Shares which are acquired pursuant to the Open Offer) at the Issue
Price and, to the extent it fails to procure such placees, to acquire any remaining New
Ordinary Shares at the Issue Price. The Placing Agreement also contains an obligation
on HSBC to underwrite fully the Placing and the Open Offer upon the terms and
subject to the conditions of the Placing Agreement. The fees for such underwriting
are included in the commission set out below.
In addition, the Placing Agreement states that the Placing proceeds and the proceeds
from the Open Offer, less expenses shall be deposited in the name of Lupus into the
Deposit Account until such time as the Acquisition does become unconditional and
shall then be applied to the Acquisition. In the event that the Acquisition does not
become unconditional before 30 September 2007, the monies in the Deposit Account
shall not be released from the Deposit Account until (i) Lupus has consulted its
shareholders and (ii) Lupus has consulted HSBC.
The Placing Agreement is conditional, inter alia, on:
(i)

Admission having become effective by no later than 8.00 a.m. on 30 September
April 2007; and

(ii)

HSBC not terminating the Placing Agreement, in accordance with its terms, at
any time prior to Admission.

Lupus Capital is obliged to use all reasonable endeavours to procure Admission by
8.00 a.m. on 20 April 2007 or such later time and/or date, being no later than
30 September 2007, or Lupus Capital and HSBC may agree.
Lupus Capital has agreed to pay HSBC a fee, equal to 0.9 per cent. of the amount
paid by Lupus Capital, through the Purchasing Subsidiaries, to the Vendors in
consideration for the Acquisition, in respect of the transactions contemplated by the
Placing Agreement.
Lupus Capital has agreed to pay HSBC a commitment commission equal to 1.0
per cent. of the aggregate value at the Issue Price of the New Ordinary Shares which
amount is now due and shall be paid on the earlier of Admission or the termination
of the Placing Agreement.
Lupus Capital has also agreed to pay HSBC, subject to Admission taking place, a
commission (which includes an underwriting commission) equal to 2 per cent. of the
aggregate value at the Issue Price of the New Ordinary Shares. The Placing Agreement
contains warranties given by Lupus Capital and the Directors and indemnities given by
Lupus Capital, in favour of HSBC, which are customary for this type of agreement. In
addition, between the date of the Placing Agreement and Admission HSBC may in
certain circumstances, including where there is a material breach of warranty or a
material adverse change in the financial markets, terminate the Placing Agreement or fix
a new date as the latest date by which all conditions in the Placing Agreement must
have been satisfied or waived.
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(B)

Nominated adviser and broker agreement
On 26 March 2007, Lupus Capital and HSBC entered into a nominated adviser and
broker agreement under which HSBC set out the services to be provided by it in
connection with its role as Lupus Capital’s nominated adviser and broker. Under the
agreement Lupus Capital agrees to pay HSBC an annual retainer of £40,000 (plus VAT)
for its services and gives certain undertakings and indemnities in favour of HSBC
which are customary in agreements of this kind. The agreement may be terminated
by either party giving three month’s written notice to the other.

(C)

Acquisition Agreement
Please see Part 10 for a full description of the terms of the Acquisition Agreement.

(D)

New Debt Facility
This is an agreement dated 19 March 2007 and made between Jasper Acquisition
Holdings Limited and Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc. as original borrowers and
as original guarantors and Lupus Capital as original guarantor and HSBC Bank plc,
The Governor and Company of the Bank of Scotland and The Royal Bank of Scotland
plc as mandated lead arrangers and original lenders and The Governor and Company
of The Bank of Scotland as agent pursuant to which a multicurrency term loan
facility in an aggregate amount of £120,000,000 and a multicurrency revolving loan
facility in an aggregate amount of £20,000,000 (together with the term loan facility,
the “Facilities”) are made available to Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited and
Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc. (the “Facility Agreement”). The proceeds of the
term loan facility will be used to fund part of the Acquisition and to pay the fees,
costs and expenses associated with the Acquisition. The proceeds of the revolving
loan facility will be put towards the general corporate and working capital purposes
of Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited and Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc. and
its group. Certain conditions precedent customary to this type of agreement must be
met for funding to occur under the Facilities including the granting by Lupus Capital
of a charge over its shares in Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited and Amesbury
Acquisition Holdings, Inc.
Following completion of the Acquisition certain of the subsidiaries of Jasper
Acquisition Holdings Limited and Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc. which meet a
materiality threshold will become obligors under the Facilities and guarantee some or
all of the obligations of the borrowers under the Facility Agreement. The scope and
extent of the guarantees provided depends on applicable law in the jurisdiction of
incorporation of the guaranteeing entities. Future members of Jasper Acquisition
Holdings Limited’s group and Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc.’s group will be
required under the terms of the Facility Agreement to accede as guarantors under the
Facility Agreement.
The rate of interest for borrowings under the Facilities for each interest period is
the percentage rate per annum which is the aggregate of the margin, LIBOR (or, in
relation to any loan in euro, EURIBOR) and any mandatory cost. The margin will
initially be 1.50 per cent. per annum and will vary during the term of the Facility
Agreement in line with the ratio of consolidated total net borrowings to
consolidated EBITDA. The Facility Agreement requires the borrowers to pay
quarterly, a commitment fee of 40 per cent. of the then applicable margin on the
preceding quarter’s unused portion of the Facilities. The Facility Agreement also
requires the borrowers and Lupus Capital to pay other fees based on the amount
of the Facilities.
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The termination date for the facilities is 60 months after the date of first
drawdown under the Facility Agreement. The Facility Agreement contains
representations, undertakings and events of default which are customary for this
type of agreement.
(E)

Subscription and Transfer Agreement and Option Agreement
In connection with the Placing and Open Offer, Lupus Capital, HSBC and Newco have
entered into two agreements dated 23 March 2007 in respect of the subscription and
transfer of ordinary shares and redeemable preference shares in Newco.
(a)

Under the Option Agreement, Lupus Capital has agreed to subscribe for
89 ordinary shares in Newco of no par value and HSBC has agreed to subscribe
for 11 ordinary shares in Newco of no par value and enter into put and call
options in respect of the ordinary shares in Newco subscribed for by HSBC
that are exercisable if the Placing and Open Offer do not proceed;

(b)

Under the Subscription and Transfer Agreement, HSBC will apply monies that it
receives as principal from Qualifying Shareholders applying to acquire New
Ordinary Shares under the Placing and Open Offer to subscribe for redeemable
preference shares in Newco to an aggregate value equal to such Placing and
Open Offer monies, after deduction of the amount of the commissions as set
out above in the summary of the Placing Agreement, together with any relevant
amounts in respect of any New Ordinary Shares acquired by HSBC or for
which HSBC have procured acquirers pursuant to the Placing Agreement (after
deducting relevant commissions and/or expenses); and

(c)

Lupus Capital will allot and issue the New Ordinary Shares to those persons
entitled thereto in consideration of HSBC transferring its holding of redeemable
preference shares and ordinary shares in Newco to Lupus Capital.

Accordingly, instead of receiving cash as consideration for the issue of the New
Ordinary Shares, at the conclusion of the Placing and Open Offer Lupus Capital will
own the entire issued ordinary and redeemable preference share capital of Newco
whose only assets will be its cash reserves, which will represent an amount
equivalent to the net proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer. Lupus Capital will be
able to utilise this amount equivalent to the Placing and Open Offer proceeds by
exercising its right of redemption over the redeemable preference shares it holds in
Newco and, during any interim period prior to redemption, by procuring that Newco
lends the amount to Lupus Capital (or one of the Lupus Capital’s subsidiaries).
(F)

Schlegel Acquisition Agreement
This is an agreement dated 3 March 2006 between UniPoly Holdings Limited
(“UniPoly”) and Schlegel Limited (“Schlegel UK”) (as the vendors) and Schlegel
Acquisition Holdings USA, Inc., Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Limited, Schlegel Australia
(2006) Pty Limited and Schlegel UK (2006) Limited (together the “Buyers”) and
Lupus Capital. The Buyers are wholly owned subsidiaries of Lupus Capital.
Lupus Capital acquired Schlegel Building Products from UniPoly and Schlegel UK on a
cash free/debt free basis. All existing third party debt was repaid on acquisition and cash
balances held in Schlegel Building Products as at the date of signing of the acquisition
agreement was paid over to UniPoly on completion. In consideration for the acquisition,
Lupus Capital paid UniPoly and Schlegel UK a total price of approximately £84 million.
The acquisition agreement contains customary representations and warranties for an
acquisition of this type. Many of the warranties given by UniPoly and Schlegel UK are
qualified by stating that the event to which that warranty relates has not had a “Material
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Adverse Effect” on Schlegel Building Products. A Material Adverse Effect is, subject to
certain exceptions, any circumstance, change in or effect on Schlegel Building Products
that is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the financial condition, results of
operations, earnings, business and/or assets of Schlegel Building Products.
UniPoly and Schlegel UK have indemnified the Buyers for any breach of
representations, warranties, covenants or agreement of UniPoly and Schlegel UK, as
well as for (i) certain liabilities excluded from the purchaser of Schlegel Building
Products; (ii) certain indemnification obligations of the subsidiary companies
transferred pursuant to the acquisition agreement; (iii) certain liabilities for tax for
which UniPoly and Schlegel UK are liable under the acquisition agreement; (iv)
liabilities arising as a consequence of the improper allocation of the purchase price;
and (v) all costs and expenses incurred by indemnified parties enforcing rights under
the acquisition agreement.
(G)

Schlegel Debt Facility
This is an agreement dated 3 March 2006 and made between Schlegel Acquisition
Holdings Limited as original borrower and as original guarantor, Lupus Capital,
Schlegel UK (2006) Limited and Schlegel Acquisition Holdings USA, Inc. as original
guarantors and HSBC Bank plc and The Governor and Company of the Bank of
Scotland as mandated lead arrangers and original lenders and The Governor and
Company of The Bank of Scotland as agent pursuant to which a multicurrency term
loan facility in an aggregate amount of £35,000,000 and a multicurrency revolving
loan facility in an aggregate amount of £10,000,000 (together with the term loan
facility, the “Facilities”) are made available to Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Limited
(the “Facility Agreement”). The proceeds of the term loan facility were used to fund
part of the acquisition of Schlegel Building Products and to pay the fees, costs and
expenses associated with the acquisition. The proceeds of the revolving loan facility
were put towards the general corporate and working capital purposes of Schlegel
Acquisition Holdings Limited and its group. Certain conditions precedent customary
to this type of agreement were to be met for funding to occur under the Facilities
including the granting by Lupus Capital of a charge over its shares in Schlegel
Acquisition Holdings Limited.
Following completion of the acquisition, certain subsidiaries of Lupus Capital became
obligors under the Facilities and guarantee some or all of the obligations of the
borrowers under the Facility Agreement. The scope and extent of the guarantees
provided depends on applicable law in the jurisdiction of incorporation of the
guaranteeing entities. Future members of Schlegel Acquisition Holdings Limited’s
group would be required under the terms of the Facility Agreement to accede as
guarantors under the Facility Agreement.
The rate of interest for borrowings under the Facilities for each interest period is the
percentage rate per annum which is the aggregate of the margin, LIBOR (or, in
relation to any loan in euro, EURIBOR) and any mandatory cost. The margin was
initially 0.95 per cent. per annum and will vary during the terms of the Facility
Agreement in line with ratio of consolidated total net borrowings to consolidated
EBITDA. The Facility Agreement requires the borrowers to pay quarterly, a
commitment fee of 40 per cent. of the then applicable margin on the preceding
quarter’s unused portion of the Facilities. The Facility Agreement also requires the
borrowers and Lupus Capital to pay other fees based on the amount of the Facilities.
The termination date for the facilities is 60 months after the date of the Facility
Agreement. The Facility Agreement contains representations, undertakings and events
of default which are customary for this type of agreement.
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11.2 Laird Security Systems
Laird Security Systems has not entered into contracts (not being contracts entered into in
the ordinary course of business) that (i) within the two years immediately preceding the
date of this document and are, or may be, material to Laird Security Systems; or (ii) at any
time and contain any provision under which Laird Security Systems has any obligation or
entitlement which is or may be, material to it as at the date of this document.

12.

LITIGATION

12.1 Lupus Capital Group
There are no and have not been any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings
(including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Lupus Capital
is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have
had in the recent past significant effect on Lupus Capital and/or the Lupus Capital Group’s
financial position or profitability.
12.2 Laird Security Systems
There are no and have not been any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings
(including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Lupus Capital
is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have
had in the recent past significant effect on Laird Security Systems’ financial position or
profitability.

13.

SHARE INCENTIVE ARRANGEMENTS

13.1 Introduction
The Share Incentive Arrangements were adopted on 16 February 2004 and do not qualify
for approval by HM Revenue & Customs. The Share Incentive Arrangements are implemented
by means of the LESOT and the EMI Scheme.
13.2 The LESOT
The LESOT is an employee benefit trust established to benefit certain employees of Lupus
Capital and its subsidiaries from time to time and certain of their relatives. The Trustee is
an independent third party trustee whose obligations and responsibilities are to hold the
trust assets for the benefit of the beneficiaries, but who is likely to take into account
recommendations made by the remuneration committee of the Board when determining the
allocation of the trust assets.
13.3 The EMI Scheme
The EMI Scheme allows Lupus Capital’s employees (including executive Directors) to
acquire shares in Lupus Capital in a tax approved efficient manner.
13.3.1 Eligibility
To participate in the EMI Scheme, an employee must be employed by Lupus Capital,
or a 75 per cent. subsidiary of Lupus Capital, and commit at least 25 hours per week
(or 75 per cent. of his working time) to the business of Lupus Capital, or a group
company of Lupus Capital. An employee is only eligible to participate in the EMI
Scheme if he owns less than, or is not able to control more than, 30 per cent. of
the Ordinary Share capital of Lupus Capital, or of a group company of Lupus Capital
whether individually or through his associates.
13.3.2 Limits
A participating employee may not hold unexercised EMI Scheme options over shares
in Lupus Capital with a total value exceeding £100,000 (the value being calculated
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at the date the option is granted). If a participant has received options granted under
an Inland Revenue approved discretionary share option scheme, then such options
will be included within the calculation of the £100,000 limit. The EMI Scheme has
an overall limit of £3 million on the total value of shares in Lupus Capital that may
be subject to unexercised EMI Scheme options at any one time (calculated at the
date of grant).
13.4 The Share Incentive Arrangements
The rules of the Share Incentive Arrangements are contained in the trust deed of the LESOT,
a subscription agreement between Lupus Capital and the LESOT and the rules of the EMI
Scheme.
The Share Incentive Arrangements provide potential awards of Ordinary Shares under the
LESOT and into the EMI Scheme. The number of options granted to employees under the
EMI Scheme will be at the discretion of the Board. The allocation of shares to beneficiaries
within the LESOT will be at the discretion of the trustees of the LESOT, although they may
consider recommendations from the remuneration committee of the Board.
13.4.1 Timing of Allotments
The Share Incentive Arrangements cover the three financial years ending
31 December 2008, and the Trustees may subscribe for Ordinary Shares until
31 August 2009. Shares are allotted under the Share Incentive Arrangements as soon
as practicable after receipt by Lupus Capital of a Subscription Notice and satisfaction
of the conditions to the Share Incentive Arrangements. Lupus Capital will make
contributions to the LESOT sufficient to enable the LESOT to subscribe for the
relevant number of shares and will use all reasonable efforts to ensure that such
shares are admitted to trading on AIM.
The Trustees may not serve a subscription notice pursuant to the Share Incentive
Arrangements earlier than 30 business days after the preliminary announcement of
the results of Lupus Capital for the year ending 31 December 2008 nor later than
31 August 2009.
13.4.2 Share awards
The number of shares to be issued under the Share Incentive Arrangements will be
95,000,000 multiplied by a factor relating to share price performance and by a factor
relating to compound growth in adjusted earnings per share. The share price factor
is based on share price achievement against the range 18p to 30p, taking the average
mid market price of an Ordinary Share over 30 business days prior to a subscription
notice being served by the Trustees. The price range may be adjusted at the
discretion of the remuneration committee of the Board to take account of the price
at which substantial issues of new equity may have been made since 16 January
2004. The earnings per share factor is based on achievement of compound annual
increase in adjusted earnings per share against the range 10 per cent. to 25 per cent.
in the three years ending 31 December 2008. If either factor is achieved as to less
than 100 per cent. multiplying the factors together will reduce the number of
Ordinary Shares to be issued significantly.
The aggregate number of shares to be issued under the EMI Scheme and the LESOT
(including shares to satisfy options granted under the EMI Scheme) cannot exceed
such number as, when aggregated with shares previously issued under the Share
Incentive Arrangements or issued under any other employee incentive share schemes
since 16 January 2004, is equivalent to 10 per cent. of Lupus Capital’s issued share
capital immediately prior to the issue of shares in respect of the Share Incentive
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Arrangements, and any issue of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Share Incentive
Arrangements will be scaled back accordingly.
13.4.3 Adjustments
The number of shares to be allotted under the Share Incentive Arrangements are
subject to such adjustments, if any, as the Board may propose and the auditors of
Lupus Capital shall confirm as being fair, to reflect the terms of any capital
adjustments or other share issue.
The remuneration committee of the Board may make such adjustments to the
implementation of the Share Incentive Arrangements as they may consider
appropriate and the auditors of Lupus Capital shall confirm as being fair.

14.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The following are the material tangible fixed assets of Lupus Capital and Laird Security Systems:
Lupus Capital’s head office is at 85 Buckingham Gate, London SW1E 6PD. Lupus Capital maintains
a property portfolio, owning or occupying manufacturing, distribution and administration sites
throughout the UK, the US, Continental Europe and Australia.
Laird Security Systems maintains a property portfolio, owning or occupying manufacturing,
distribution and administration sites throughout the UK, the US and the Far East.

15.

WORKING CAPITAL

Lupus Capital is of the opinion that, having regard to the existing facilities available to the Group,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is, for at least the next
12 months from the date of publication of this document.
Lupus Capital is of the opinion that, having regard to the existing facilities available to the Enlarged
Group, the Enlarged Group has sufficient working capital for the present requirements, that is, for
at least the next 12 months from the date of publication of this document.

16.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGE

16.1 Lupus Capital
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Lupus
Capital Group since 31 December 2006, being the date to which the accounts in Part 8 of
this document have been made up.
16.2 Laird Security Systems
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Laird Security
Systems since 31 December 2006, being the date to which the accounts in Part 7 of this
document have been made up.

17.

AUDITORS

The auditors of Lupus Capital are Grant Thornton UK LLP, Chartered Accountants, whose address
is Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, London, NW1 2EP. Grant Thornton is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Grant Thornton has audited the accounts
of Lupus Capital and its subsidiaries for the three years ended 31 December 2006. Grant Thornton
has made reports under section 235 of the Companies Act in respect of each set of statutory
accounts that they audited and each such report was unqualified and did not contain a statement
under section 237(2) or (3) of the Companies Act.

188

18.

CONSENTS

Ernst & Young LLP, as reporting accountant on Laird Security Systems, has given and has not
withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of its reports in the form and
context in which they appear and has authorised the contents of its report for the purposes of
Rule 5.5.3(2)(4) of the Prospectus Rules.
Grant Thornton UK LLP, as reporting accountant on Lupus Capital, has given and has not
withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of its reports in the form and
context in which they appear and has authorised the contents of its report for the purposes of
Rule 5.5.3(2)(4) of the Prospectus Rules.
HSBC has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of its
name and references to it in the form and context in which they appear.

19.

GENERAL

The total expenses relating to the Transaction, including the fees of the UK Listing Authority and
the London Stock Exchange, professional fees and expenses and the costs of printing and
distribution of documents are estimated to be approximately £12.5 million (exclusive of VAT). Each
of Lupus Capital and The Laird Group plc are, under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement,
responsible for their own fees and expenses.

20.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the registered office of Lupus Capital and
at the offices of Slaughter and May at One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY during normal business
hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) from the date of
publication of this document until Admission:
20.1 this document;
20.2 the memorandum of association of Lupus Capital and the articles of association of Lupus
Capital;
20.3 the rules of the Share Incentive Schemes referred to in section 13 above;
20.4 this historical information on Laird Security Systems set out in Section C of Part 7 of this
document;
20.5 the audited consolidated accounts of the Lupus Group for the three years ended
31 December 2006;
20.6 the report from Ernst & Young set out in Section D of Part 7 of this document;
20.7 the report from Grant Thornton set out in Section D of Part 8 of this document;
20.8 the unaudited pro forma combined financial information on the Enlarged Group and report
from Ernst & Young referred to in Part 9;
20.9 the Lock-in agreements referred to in section 16 of Part 5 of this document; and
20.10 the Acquisition Agreement.

Dated: 26 March 2007
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DEFINITIONS
The following definitions are used throughout this document except where the context requires
otherwise:
“Acquisition”

the acquisition by Lupus Capital, through the Purchasing
Subsidiaries, from The Laird Group plc, of the Transferred Assets
and entire issued share capital of the Transferred Subsidiaries

“Acquisition Agreement”

the conditional agreement for the Acquisition dated 19 March 2007
between Lupus Capital, the Purchasing Subsidiaries, Laird Newco
and The Laird Group plc

“Acquisition Resolution”

Resolution 1, as set out below

“Adjusted Profit”

Profit before goodwill, LESOT charge, exceptional items and
taxation

“Admission”

the admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM

“AGM”

annual general meeting

“AIM”

the Alternative Investment Market

“AIM Rules” or “AIM Rules
for Companies”

the rules published by the London Stock Exchange governing
admission to, and the operation of, AIM, as amended from time to
time

“Amesbury Acquisition
Holdings, Inc.

Amesbury Acquisition Holdings, Inc., a company incorporated
under the laws of the State of Delaware, USA

“Ancillary Agreements”

the agreements ancillary to the Acquisition and Placing Agreements

“Application Forms”

the CREST Excess Application
Application Form

“Articles”

the articles of association of Lupus Capital

“Basic Entitlement”

the basic pro rata entitlement of Qualifying Holders to acquire
4 Open Offer Shares for every 10 Existing Ordinary Shares held on
the Record Date

“Board” or “Directors”

the existing directors of Lupus Capital whose names appear in
Part 4 of this document

“Business”
Security Systems

the building products related businesses as carried out by Laird

“Business Day”

a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open
for general business in London

“Capita Registrars”

a trading name of Capita IRG Plc

“Certificated Share” or
“certificated share”

a share or other security which is not in an uncertificated form

“Combined Code”

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance

“Companies Act” or “Act”

the Companies Act 1985, as amended by the Companies Act 1989
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Form

and

the

Non-CREST

“Completion”

completion of the Acquisition in accordance with the terms of the
Acquisition Agreements

“Conditional Placing Shares”

the 221,269,641 New Ordinary Shares being placed subject to
clawback in respect of any Open Offer Shares applied for pursuant
to the Placing Agreement

“CREST”

the system for the paperless settlement of trades and the holding
of uncertificated securities operated electronically by CRESTCo in
accordance with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001
(SI No. 2001/3755)

“CRESTCo”

CRESTCo Limited, the operator of CREST

“CREST Excess Application
Form”

the excess CREST application form relating to excess applications
for Open Offer Shares issued to Qualifying CREST Holders and
enclosed, where applicable, with this document

“Crest Manual”

the rules governing the operation of CREST, consisting of the
CREST Reference Manual, CREST International Manual, CREST
Central Counterparty Service Manual, CREST Rules, Registrars
Service Standards, Settlement Discipline Rules, CCSS Operations
Manual, Daily Timetable, CREST Application Procedure and CREST
Glossary of Terms (all as defined in the CREST Glossary of Terms
promulgated by CRESTCo on 15 July 1996 and as amended since)

“Deposit Account”

an account in the name of Lupus Capital designated by HSBC into
which the proceeds of the Placing and Open Offer will be
deposited pending completion of the Acquisition

“Enlarged Group”

the Lupus Capital Group as enlarged by Laird Security Systems

“Enlarged Share Capital”

the issued ordinary share capital of Lupus Capital immediately
following completion of the Placing and Open Offer including the
Existing Ordinary Shares and the New Ordinary Shares

“Ernst & Young”

Ernst & Young LLP, a limited liability partnership registered in
England and Wales with registered number OC300001

“Excess Application Facility”

the arrangement pursuant to which Qualifying Holders may apply
for additional Open Offer Shares in excess of their Basic
Entitlement in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Open Offer

“Excess Shares”

Open Offer Shares applied for by Qualifying Holders under the
Excess Application Facility

“Existing Ordinary Shares”

the Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this document

“Existing Shareholders”

the holders of the Existing Ordinary Shares

“Extraordinary General
Meeting” or “EGM”

the extraordinary general meeting to be held at the offices of
Slaughter and May, One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY at
10.30 a.m. on 19 April 2007, notice of which is set out at the end
of this document

“Firm Placing Shares”

the 534,285,915 New Ordinary Shares being placed firm pursuant
to the Placing Agreement including the Open Offer Entitlements of
the LESOT being place by HSBC
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“Form of Proxy”

the form of proxy accompanying this document to be used by the
Shareholders in respect of the EGM

“FSA”

Financial Services Authority

“FSMA”

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

“Gall Thomson”

Gall Thomson Environmental Limited, incorporated in England and
Wales under the Act with registered number 2852924

“Grant Thornton”

Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership registered in
England and Wales with registered number OC307742

“US Hart-Scott-Rodino AntiTrust Improvements Act”

The US Hart-Scott-Rodino Anti-Trust Improvements Act of 1976, as
amended

“HSBC”

HSBC Bank plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales
under the Act with registered number 14259

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards

“Issue Price”

18 pence per New Ordinary Share

“Jasper Acquisition Holdings
Limited”

Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under
the Act with registered number 6078798

“KLAW”

KLAW Products Limited, a company incorporated in England and
Wales under the Act with registered number 316007

“Laird Group” or “Laird”
or “Laird PLC”

The Laird Group PLC and its subsidiaries, or any one or more of
them as the context requires

“Laird Inc.”

a company incorporated in the state of Delaware

“Laird Inc. Subsidiaries”

Amesbury Group Inc; Amesbury Group – Plastic Profilers Inc;
Bandlock Corp; Balance Systems Inc; Advanced Metals Technology
Inc; BSI Omega Canada Inc.; Fastex Products Inc; Amesbury Door
Hardware Inc (incorporated in California); and Amesbury Door
Hardware Inc (incorporated in Delaware)

“Laird Security Systems”

the entire issued share capital of the Transferred Subsidiaries

“LESOT”

the Lupus Capital Employee Share Ownership Trust

“Listing Rules”

the Listing Rules of the FSA

“London Stock Exchange”

London Stock Exchange plc

“Lupus Capital”

Lupus Capital plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales
under the Act and domiciled in the UK with registered number
2806007

“Lupus Group” or
“the Group”

Lupus Capital and its subsidiaries, or any one or more of them as
the context requires

“LSSD UK Limited”

LSSD UK Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales
under the Act with registered number 2838541

“LSSD UK Limited
Subsidiaries”

Balance UK Limited; Designgarden Limited; ERA Products Limited;
Crompton Limited; Intron Limited; Homesafe Doors Limited; Laird
Lifestyle Products Limited; Laird Security Hardware Limited; Omega
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Spring Technology Limited; LSS Trading (Ningbo) Limited;
J.K. Furnex Limited; Laird (Ningbo) Limited; Amesbury Springs
Limited; Feneseal Limited; Hardware Engineering Limited; Euromond
Limited; Linear Limited; Lindman Group Limited; Lindman Limited;
Securidor (Holdings) Limited; Securidor Limited; Ventrolla Limited;
EWS (Manufacturing) Limited and LSSD UK (No.1) Limited
“Newco”

Lupus Capital (Jersey)(2) Limited

“New Debt Facility”

an agreement dated 19 March 2007 for a multicurrency term loan
facility of £120,000,000 and a multi-currency revolving loan facility
of £20,000,000

“New Ordinary Shares”

the new ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each to be issued by Lupus
Capital under the Open Offer and Placing

“Non-CREST Application Form” the application form relating to applications for Open Offer Shares
issued to Qualifying non-CREST Holders and enclosed, where
applicable, with this document
“Notice”

the notice of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Lupus Capital
to be held for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit,
passing the Resolutions

“Official List”

the Official List of the UK Listing Authority

“Open Offer”

the conditional invitation made to Qualifying Shareholders to apply
to acquire the Open Offer Shares, as described in Part 6 of this
document and in the Application Forms

“Open Offer Entitlements”

an entitlement to apply to acquire Open Offer Shares, allocated to
a Qualifying Holder pursuant to the Open Offer

“Open Offer Shares”

up to 221,269,641 New Ordinary Shares being made available to
Qualifying Shareholders under the Open Offer excluding the Open
Offer Entitlements of the LESOT which are to be placed by HSBC

“Ordinary Shares”

ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each in the capital of Lupus Capital

“Overseas Shareholders” or
“Overseas Holders”

shareholders with registered addresses in, or who are citizens,
residents or nationals of, jurisdictions outside the UK

“Placing”

the proposed placing of shares in Lupus Capital described in
further detail in Part 6 of this document

“Placing Agreement”

the conditional agreement between Lupus Capital and HSBC dated
26 March 2007 in connection with the Placing and Open Offer,
further details of which are set out in paragraph 11 of Part 12 of
this document

“Placing Shares”

the Firm Placing Shares and the Conditional Placing Shares

“Prospectus” or “this
document”

this prospectus, prepared in accordance with the AIM Rules and
the Prospectus Rules

“Prospectus Rules”

the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Services Authority

“Purchasing Subsidiaries”

Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited and Amesbury Acquisition
Holdings Inc.
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“Qualifying CREST
Shareholders”

Qualifying Shareholders holding Shares in uncertificated form

“Qualifying non-CREST
Shareholders”

Qualifying Shareholders holding Shares in certificated form

“Qualifying Holders” or
“Qualifying Shareholders”

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
Lupus Capital on the Record Date

“Record Date”

21 March 2007

“Registrars”

Capita Registrars, the registrars of Lupus Capital

“Regulations” or
“CREST Regulations”

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755)

“Relevant System”

the computer-based system and procedures which enable title to
units of a security to be evidenced and transferred without a
written instrument and which facilitate supplementary and
incidental matters in accordance with the Regulations

“Resolutions”

the ordinary resolutions and special resolutions to be proposed at
the EGM

“Resolution 1”

the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the EGM to approve the
implementation by Lupus Capital of the Acquisition as set out in
the Notice

“Resolution 2”

the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the EGM to increase the
authorised share capital of Lupus Capital as set out in the Notice

“Resolution 3”

the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the EGM to authorise
the Directors to exercise the powers of Lupus Capital to allot
relevant securities as set out in the Notice

“Resolution 4”

the special resolution to be proposed at the EGM to empower the
Directors to allot equity securities as if section 89(1) of the
Companies Act did not apply to any such allotment as set out in
the Notice

“Resolution 5”

the special resolution to be proposed at the EGM to approve
Lupus Capital applying for cancellation to trading of the Existing
Ordinary Shares on AIM and for the Enlarged Share Capital to be
admitted to trading on AIM

“RNS”

the Regulatory News Service of the London Stock Exchange

“Schlegel Building Products”

the business and the entire issued share capital of Schlegel UK
(2006) Ltd and Schlegel, Inc. and their respective subsidiaries

“Secretary”

the secretary of Lupus Capital

“Securities Act”

the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended

“Shareholders”

the holders of Ordinary Shares in Lupus Capital

“Share Incentive Arrangements” the LESOT and the EMI Scheme (including the option agreement
between Lupus Capital and Greg Hutchings granted under the EMI
Scheme) and the subscription agreement between the Trustees and
Lupus Capital
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“Shares”

shares in the capital of Lupus Capital

“Special Interim Dividend”

the special interim dividend announced on 26 March 2007 of
0.15 pence per Ordinary Share payable to Shareholders on the
register as at 18 April 2007

“Statutes”

the Companies Act and every other Act or statutory instrument
concerning limited companies and affecting Lupus Capital

“The Laird Group plc”

The Laird Group plc, a company incorporated in England and
Wales with registered number 00055513

“Transaction”

the Acquisition, the Placing and Open Offer and the Resolutions

“Transferred Subsidiaries”

LSSD UK Limited, the LSSD UK Limited Subsidiaries, Laird Inc. and
the Laird Inc. Subsidiaries, or any one or more of them as the
context requires

“Trustee”

Walbrook Trustees (Guernsey) Limited

“UK” or “United Kingdom”

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

“UK GAAP”

generally accepted accounting principles in the UK

“UK Listing Authority” or
“UKLA”

the Financial Services Authority acting in its capacity as the
competent authority for the purpose of Part VI of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000

“Uncertificated Share” or
“uncertificated share”

a share or other security which is in an uncertificated form

“US”, “USA” or “United States”

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any
state of the United States and the District of Columbia and all
other areas subject to its jurisdiction

“USE”

unmatched stock event

“US GAAP”

generally accepted accounting principles in the US
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NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Lupus Capital plc
(“Lupus Capital” or the “Company”)
(Registered in England and Wales – No. 02806007)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING of Lupus Capital will
be held at the offices of Slaughter and May, One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY at 10.30 a.m. on
19 April 2007 for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions,
of which Resolutions 1 to 3 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions 4 and 5 will
be proposed as special resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon Resolutions 2, 3, 4 and 5 set out in the notice
convening this Extraordinary General Meeting having been passed and subject to and
conditional upon Admission (as such term is defined in the prospectus of Lupus Capital
dated 23 April 2007 (the “Prospectus”)) becoming effective, the implementation by Lupus
Capital of the Acquisition (as defined in the Prospectus) be approved.

2.

THAT the authorised share capital of Lupus Capital be and is hereby increased from
£4,125,000 to £9,000,000 by the creation of 975,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 0.5 pence each
in the capital of Lupus Capital.

3.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon Resolutions 2, 4 and 5 set out in the notice
convening this Extraordinary General Meeting having been passed and subject to and
conditional upon Admission becoming effective, the Board be and it is hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised in substitution for all subsisting authorities, to exercise all powers
of Lupus Capital to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the
Companies Act 1985):
(i)

up to an aggregate amount of 755,555,556 New Ordinary Shares (£3,777,777.78
nominal value) in connection with the Placing and Open Offer (as such term is
defined in the Prospectus);

(ii)

otherwise than pursuant to section (i) above up to an aggregate of 427,884,666
Ordinary Shares (£2,139,423.33 nominal value),

which authority shall expire on 19 April 2012 (unless previously revoked or varied by Lupus
Capital in general meeting) save that Lupus Capital may before such expiry make any offer
or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such
expiry and the Board may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer or
agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
4.

THAT subject to and conditional upon Resolutions 2, 3 and 5 set out in the notice
convening this Extraordinary General Meeting having been passed and subject to and
conditional upon Admission becoming effective, the Board be and it is hereby empowered
pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 to allot equity securities (within the
meaning of Section 94 of the Companies Act 1985) for cash pursuant to the authority
conferred by Resolution 3 above and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of
equity securities by virtue of Section 94(3A) of the Companies Act 1985, as if sub-section
(1) of Section 89 of the Companies Act 1985 did not apply to any such allotment,
PROVIDED THAT this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities:
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(i)

in connection with a rights issue, open offer or any other pre-emptive offer in favour
of ordinary shareholders (excluding any shareholder holding shares as treasury shares)
and in favour of holders (excluding any holder holding shares as treasury shares) of
any other class of equity security in accordance with the rights attached to such class
where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interests of such persons
on a fixed record date are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective
numbers of equity securities held by them or are otherwise allotted in accordance
with the rights attaching to such equity securities (subject in either case to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the Board may deem necessary or expedient to
deal with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems arising in any overseas
territory, the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange or any other
matter whatsoever);

(ii)

in connection with the Placing and the Open Offer of 755,555,556 New Ordinary
Shares; and

(iii)

the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sections (i) and (ii) above) of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £343,028.83;

and shall expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of Lupus Capital to be
held in 2008, save that Lupus Capital may before such expiry make an offer or agreement
which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the
Board may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power
conferred hereby had not expired.
5.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon Resolutions 2, 3 and 4 set out in the notice
convening this Extraordinary General Meeting having been passed, and subject to the
Acquisition becoming unconditional (save only for Admission), the Company be authorised
to apply for the cancellation of the admission to trading of all of its ordinary share capital
on the Alternative Investment Market and application be made to the London Stock
Exchange for the entire share capital of Lupus Capital to be re-admitted to trading on the
Alternative Investment Market.
By Order of the Board

Registered office:
Crusader House
145-157 St John Street
London
EC1V 4RU

Cavendish Administration Limited
Company Secretary

Dated 26 March 2007
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Notes:
(1)
A member entitled to attend and vote at the above-mentioned Extraordinary General Meeting may appoint one or
more proxies to attend and, on a poll, to vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of Lupus Capital.
(2)

A pre-paid form of proxy is enclosed. To be valid, the Form of Proxy (together with the power of attorney or other
authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of such authority) must be deposited at the
offices of Lupus Capital’ registrars, Capita Registrars at The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU
by not later than 10.30 a.m. on 17 April 2007.

(3)

Completing and returning the Form of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending in person at the meeting
and voting should he wish to do so.

(4)

In the case of a corporation, the Form of Proxy must be executed under its common seal or the hand of an officer
or attorney duly appointed.

(5)

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST proxy voting service may do so
for the Extraordinary General Meeting to be held on 19 April 2007 and any adjournment(s) thereof by utilising the
procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those
CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider, should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST
Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications and must contain
the information required for such Instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted
so as to be received by our Registrars, Capita Registrars, by not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for
holding the Meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the
timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the Registrars are able to retrieve
the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.
CREST Members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo
does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and
limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the
CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or
has appointed a voting service provider(s) to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s))
such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any
particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service
providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the
CREST system and timings.
Lupus Capital may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of
the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.
Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those shareholders registered in the
register of members of Lupus Capital at 11 a.m. on 18 April 2007 (or, in the event that this meeting is adjourned,
in the register of members 48 hours before the time of any adjourned Meeting), shall be entitled to attend or to
vote at this Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their names at that time. Changes to entries
on the register of members after 11 a.m. on 18 April 2007 on 22 March 2007 (or, in the event that this Meeting is
adjourned, 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting), shall be disregarded in determining the rights of
any person to attend or vote at the Meeting.
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